## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

6-10-2013 12:00 AM

# Regulation of Imprinted Genes in the brain by the ATRX Chromatin Remodeling Protein

Kristin D. Kernohan The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Dr. Nathalie Bérubé *The University of Western Ontario* 

Graduate Program in Developmental Biology A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Doctor of Philosophy © Kristin D. Kernohan 2013

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Genetics and Genomics Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Kernohan, Kristin D., "Regulation of Imprinted Genes in the brain by the ATRX Chromatin Remodeling Protein" (2013). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 1378. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/1378

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

## REGULATION OF IMPRINTED GENES IN THE BRAIN BY THE ATRX CHROMATIN REMODELING PROTEIN

(Thesis format: Integrated Article)

by

Kristin Denise Kernohan

Graduate Program in Biochemistry

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Kristin D. Kernohan 2013

## Abstract

Alpha-thalassemia mental retardation, X-linked (ATRX) is a SWI/SNF-like chromatin remodeling protein, enriched at heterochromatic regions of the genome. Disruption of ATRX in humans causes a neurodevelopmental disorder known as ATR-X Syndrome, and has been linked to paediatric neuronal cancers, suggesting an important role for ATRX in the regulation of chromatin structure in the developing brain. At the outset of this study direct ATRX target genes had not yet been identified. This thesis identifies imprinted genes as targets of ATRX in the developing brain, and explores the mechanism of ATRX regulation at these sites, using the *H19/Igf2* imprinted domain as a model. My findings indicate that in the forebrain ATRX localizes to the maternal allele of the H19 imprinting control region (H19 ICR) with methyl CpG binding protein 2 (MeCP2), CCCTC-binding factor (CTCF) and Cohesin, three important regulators of chromatin structure. ATRX is recruited by MeCP2 to the H19 ICR, where it then governs the profile of post-translational histone modifications and nucleosome occupancy to maintain CTCF and Cohesin binding. CTCF and Cohesin are essential constituents of the *cis* and *trans* chromatin interactions that regulate the expression of imprinted genes. Loss of either ATRX or MeCP2 disrupts cis chromosomal interactions across H19/Igf2. A role for ATRX in *cis* at several imprinted genes is supported by its ability to bind directly to many imprinted domains. Taken together, these findings indicate that ATRX can regulate the expression of target genes in the brain by altering nucleosome positioning to control local chromatin interactions.

# Keywords

ATRX, MeCP2, CTCF, Cohesin, higher-order chromatin structure, chromatin remodeling, imprinted gene network, brain development

## **Co-Authorship Statement**

I participated in the design and execution of all experiments presented in this thesis with the following exceptions:

In chapter two, co-immunoprecipitation experiments in Figure 2-1 and Supplementary Figure 2-7, as well as the identification of the ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin bound region in Figure 2-2B, and allelic histone ChIP in Supplementary Figure 2-10 were conducted by Yan Jiang. For statistical purposes some chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) reactions in Figure 2-6B,C were also conducted by Yan Jiang (6 of 16). Methylation analysis in Figure 2-3A, and Supplementary Figure 2-9, as well as semi-quantitative expression in Figure 2-4A was conducted by Deanna Tremblay. Figure 2-4D-F allelic expression analysis was conducted by Anne Bonvisutto. Statistical analysis on ChIP data was conducted by Dr. Andrew Fernandez. Some mouse husbandry was conducted by Yan Jiang. Portions of chapter two were written by Dr. Nathalie Bérubé.

In chapter three, 4C bioinformatics analysis was conducted by Dr. Gregory Gloor, embryonic stem cell ChIP sequencing analysis was conducted by Michael Levy and mouse husbandry was conducted by Yan Jiang.

## Acknowledgments

This thesis would not have been possible without the help and support of the many people who surround and support me every day.

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Nathalie Bérubé. Your continued support, guidance, patience, enthusiasm, and knowledge have been invaluable to me over the years. You have taught me how to think as a scientist, challenged me to pursue cutting edge research, and given me the freedom to experiment and learn independently. Thank you for being an inspiring mentor.

Second, I would like to thank my supervisory committee, Dr. Mellissa Mann and Dr. Caroline Schild-Poulter for their valuable perspectives, guidance, and thought provoking discussion. Your expertise was a great asset throughout my graduate studies.

I would also like to thank the collaborators I have had over the years. Dr. Gregory Gloor, thank you for teaching me about bioinformatics and for conducting my 4C analysis. Dr. Mellissa Mann, your expertise in genomic imprinting has been a tremendous asset to my studies. Dr. Douglas Vernimmen, thank you for teaching me the ins and outs of 3C.

I am grateful for all of the people who have made my graduate experience one that I will cherish forever. To my fellow lab mates and trainees at the VRL, thank you for the years of wonderful memories. Each of you contributed to my graduate experience, and I will never forget the many laughs, stories, challenges and successes we have shared. To my circle of friends both in and out of the lab, thank you for always standing by me, for listening, offering advice, understanding when I would disappear for weeks, and above all for your continued love and support. I greatly value your friendship and deeply appreciate each and every one of you. To the London Synchro family, thank you for always being a bright end to my day. Your enthusiasm and love of swimming and life never fail to bring a smile to my face and erase the stresses of the day.

Last but certainly not least, I would like to thank my family. To my incredible parents, you made me who I am today; none of this would be possible without your endless support, encouragement and unconditional love. To my immediate and extended family. I am very

fortunate to have such a large support system, you are always my biggest champions, and each and every one of you holds a special place in my heart.

# Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning
μL:	Microliter
°C:	Degrees Celsius
3C:	Chromosome conformation capture
3D:	Three dimensional
4C:	Circular chromosome conformation capture
5C:	Chromosome conformation capture carbon copy
6C:	Combined chromosome conformation capture ChIP cloning
ADD:	ATRX-DNMT3-DNMT3L
ALT:	Alternative lengthening of telomeres
ANOVA:	Analysis of variance
ATP:	Adenosine tri-phosphate
ATRX:	Alpha-thalassemia mental retardation, X-linked
ATR-X:	Alpha-thalassemia mental retardation, X-linked Syndrome
BAC:	Bacterial artificial chromosome
BDNF:	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
bp:	Base pairs
BRG1:	Brahma-related gene 1
Calcr:	Calcitonin receptor

CAST:	Mus musculus castaneus
CCD:	Centrally conserved domain
cDNA:	Complementary DNA
Cdkn1c:	Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1C
CdLS:	Cornelia de Lange Syndrome
ChIA-PET:	Chromatin interaction analysis by paired-end tag sequencing
ChIP:	Chromatin immunoprecipitation
Copg2:	Coatomer subunit gamma-2
CTCF:	CCCTC-binding factor
DAPI:	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DAXX:	Death associated protein 6
DIG:	Digoxigenin
Dlk1:	Delta-like homolog 1
DMEM:	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMR:	Differentially methylated region
DNA:	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNAse:	Deoxyribonuclease
DNMT:	DNA Methyltransferase
DTT:	Dithiothreitol
E13.5:	Embryonic day 13.5

EKLF:	Erythroid kruppel-like factor
Ercc3:	Excision repair cross-complementing rodent repair deficiency, complementation group 3
ES:	Embryonic stem
EZH2:	Enhancer of zeste homolog 2
FBS:	Fetal bovine serum
FISH:	Fluorescent in-situ hybridization
FOG1:	Friend of GATA protein 1
FoxG1:	Forkhead box G1
Gabrb3:	Gamma-aminobutyric acid A receptor, beta 3
GATA1:	GATA binding protein 1
Gnas:	Guanine nucleotide binding protein, alpha stimulating
Gtl2:	Gene trap locus 2
H3Ac:	Acetylated histone H3
H3K9MTase:	Histone 3 lysine 9 methyltransferase
H4Ac:	Acetylated histone H4
HDAC:	Histone deacetylase
Hi-C:	Global 3C interactions
IAP:	Intracisternal A-particle

ICF:	Roberts, Rubinstein-Taybi and Immunodeficiency, Chromosome
	instability and Facial anomalies Syndrome
ICR:	Imprinting control region
Igf2:	Insulin-like growth factor 2
IgG:	Immunoglobulin G
IgH:	Immunoglobulin heavy chain
IGN:	Imprinted gene network
IgY:	Immunoglobulin Y
Ins:	Insulin
kb:	Kilobase
KCl:	Potassium chloride
kDa:	Kilodalton
M:	Molar
mM:	Millimolar
MAR:	Matrix-attachment region
Mash2:	Mammalian achaete scute homologue 2
MBD:	Methyl binding domain
MeCP2:	Methyl CpG binding protein 2
meH3K9:	Methylated histone 3 lysine 9
meH3K37:	Methylated histone 3 lysine 27
meH4K20:	Methylated histone 4 lysine 20

MgCl <sub>2</sub> :	Magnesium chloride
MHC:	Major histocompatibility complex
mL:	Milliliter
mRNA:	Messenger RNA
mSin3a:	Mammalian saccharomyces cerevisiae general transcriptional
	repressor 3a
NaCl:	Sodium chloride
ncRNA:	Non-coding RNA
Ndn:	Non-synaptic diffusion neurotransmission
NIPBL:	Nipped-B-like protein
NL1:	Nuclear LIM interactor
NP40:	Nonyl phenoxypolyethoxylethanol
P0.5:	Postnatal day 0.5
P17:	Postnatal day 17
PAGE:	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS:	Phosphate buffered saline
PCH:	Pericentromeric heterochromatin
PCR:	Polymerase chain reaction
PDS5:	Precocious dissociation of sisters 5
Peg3:	Paternally expressed gene 3

Peg10:	Paternally expressed gene 10
PHD:	Plant homeo domain
PK:	Proteinase K
Rad21:	Radiation mutant 21
Rad54:	Radiation mutant 54
RasGrf1:	Ras protein-specific guanine nucleotide-releasing factor 1
rDNA:	Ribosomal DNA
RNA:	Ribonucleic acid
RNAi:	Ribonucleic acid interference
RNase:	Ribonuclease
RSC:	Chromatin structure remodeling
RTT:	Rett Syndrome
SA1:	Stromal antigen 1
SA2:	Stromal antigen 2
SDS:	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
Ski:	Sloan-Kettering Institute
SMC:	Structural maintenance of chromosome
SNF2:	Sucrose non-fermenting 2
Snrpn:	Small nuclear ribonucleoprotein polypeptide N
SSC:	Saline-sodium citrate

SWI/SNF:	Switch/sucrose non-fermenting
TH2:	T helper type 2
TRD:	Transcriptional repression domain
Tris:	Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
Tris-HCl:	Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane-hydrogen chloride
TX-100:	TritonX-100
U:	Units
UV:	Ultraviolet
Ubea3:	Ubiquitin-protein ligase E3A
Usp29:	Ubiquitin specific peptidase 29
Walpl:	Wings apart-like 1
XPB:	Xeroderma pigmentosum B
YY1:	Yin Yang 1
Zac1:	Zinc finger associated 1

Abst	ract		ii
Co-A	uthorshi	p Statement	iv
Ackr	lowledgn	nents	v
Abbr	eviations	SV	<i>ii</i>
Table	e of Cont	tentsx	iv
List o	of Figure	S	ίX
List o	of Appen	dices	ii
Chap	ter 1		1
1 G	eneral In	troduction	1
1.	1 The A	TRX Gene and Protein	1
	1.1.1	The ATRX Gene and Protein	1
	1.1.2	Mutations in the ATRX Gene Cause X-linked Mental Retardation	5
	1.1.3	ATRX is Required for Mouse Brain Development	6
	1.1.4	ATRX in Replication and Mitosis	7
1.	2 The M	IeCP2 Gene and Protein	7
	1.2.1	MeCP2	7
	1.2.2	MeCP2 Mutations in Humans and Mice Cause Rett Syndrome	0
	1.2.3	MeCP2 and Gene Regulation	1
1.	3 Genor	nic Imprinting	1
	1.3.1	Imprinted Genes	1
	1.3.2	Imprinting Mechanisms	2
	1.3.3	Imprinted Gene Networks	4
	1.3.4	The <i>H19/Igf2</i> Imprinted Domain	17
	1.3.5	Imprinted Genes in the Brain	20

# Table of Contents

	1.4	Chron	natin Structure and Protein Regulators	20
		1.4.1	Chromatin Structure and Remodeling Proteins	20
		1.4.2	Higher-Order Chromatin Architecture	21
		1.4.3	Cohesin and CTCF	22
	1.5	Chron	nosome Conformation Capture Technology	26
	1.6	Thesis	Overview	29
		1.6.1	Rationale and Hypothesis	29
		1.6.2	Chapter Two: ATRX Partners with Cohesin and MeCP2 and Contribut to Developmental Silencing of Imprinted Genes in the Brain	es 29
		1.6.3	Chapter Three: ATRX is Recruited by MeCP2 to Alter Nucleosome Positioning, CTCF Occupancy, and Long-Range Chromosomal Interactions	30
	1.7	Refere	nces	30
C	hapte	er 2		61
2	AT	RX Par	tners with Cohesin and MeCP2 and Contributes to Developmental	
-	Sile	encing c	of Imprinted Genes in the Brain	61
	2.1	Introd	uction	61
	2.2	Materi	als and Methods	63
		2.2.1	Animal Husbandry	63
		2.2.2	Co-Immunoprecipitation	63
		2.2.3	ChIP Analysis	64
		2.2.4	Quantitative ChIP	65
		2.2.5	Semi-Quantitative and Quantitative RT-PCR	65
		2.2.6	Allele-Specific Expression Analysis	66
		2.2.7	Bisulfite Mutagenesis	66
	2.3	Result	s	67
		2.3.1	Interaction of ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin in the Mouse Brain in vivo	67
		2.3.2	Co-Occupancy of ATRX, Cohesin and MeCP2 at the Maternal H19 IC	R70

	2.3.3	Loss of ATRX Does Not Affect DNA Methylation at the <i>H19</i> ICR but Results in an Altered Profile of Histone Tail Modifications	. 74
	2.3.4	Allele-Specific Regulation of <i>H19</i> by ATRX	. 77
	2.3.5	Co-Occupancy of ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin at the <i>Gtl2/Dlk1</i> Imprint Cluster	ted . 81
	2.3.6	ATRX is Required for Chromatin Occupancy of Cohesin, CTCF and MeCP2	. 84
	2.3.7	Regulation of an Imprinted Gene Network (IGN) by ATRX in the Mous Brain	se . 86
2.4	Discus	sion	. 88
2.5	Supple	ementary Figures	. 91
2.6	Supple	ementary Methods	. 97
	2.6.1	Cell Culture	. 97
	2.6.2	Co-Immunoprecipitations	. 97
	2.6.3	Western Blot Analysis	. 97
	2.6.4	ChIP Analysis	. 97
	2.6.5	Methylation-Sensitive Southern Blot Analysis	. 97
	2.6.6	McrPCR Methylation Analysis	. 98
	2.6.7	Semi-Quantitative RT-PCR	. 98
2.7	Refere	nces	. 99
AT Chr	RX Reg omosor	gulates Nucleosome Positioning, CTCF Occupancy and Long-Range nal Interactions	107
3.1	Introdu	uction	107
3.2	Materi	als and Methods	109
	3.2.1	Animal Husbandry	109
	3.2.2	Circular Chromosome Conformation Capture (4C)	110
	3.2.3	4C Analysis	110
	3.2.4	Chromosome Conformation Capture (3C)	111

3

		3.2.5	Quantitative 3C Analysis	112
		3.2.6	DNA FISH and Immunofluorescence	113
		3.2.7	ChIP-Sequencing Analysis	114
		3.2.8	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation	114
		3.2.9	Nucleosome Density Analysis	114
	3.3	Result	S	115
		3.3.1	ATRX Mediates Higher-Order Chromatin Structure of the <i>H19/Igf2</i> Imprinted Domain	115
		3.3.2	ATRX Acts in <i>Cis</i> to Regulate the Expression of Imprinted Genes	120
		3.3.3	ATRX is Recruited to the <i>H19</i> ICR to Regulate Nucleosome Positionin and Maintain CTCF Occupancy	ıg 124
		3.3.4	MeCP2 Recruits ATRX to the <i>H19</i> ICR in the Neonatal Brain to Gove <i>intra</i> chromosomal Interactions	rn 127
	3.4	Discus	sion	130
	3.5	Supple	ementary Figures	135
	3.6	Refere	nces	138
Cl	napte	er 4		151
4	Dis	cussion	and Future Directions	151
	4.1	The A	TRX-MeCP2-Cohesin Complex	152
	4.2	Allele-	Specific Binding of ATRX at Intergenic Regulatory Regions	154
	4.3	ATRX	Regulates Nucleosome Positioning and CTCF Binding	156
	4.4	A Nov	el Role for ATRX in the Regulation of Higher-Order Chromatin Structu	ıre 158
	4.5	Chrom	atin Looping and Gene Expression	160
	4.6	MeCP	2 Regulation of Imprinted Genes and Chromatin Architecture	162
	4.7	Trans-	Chromosomal Interactions of the Imprinted Gene Network	164
	4.8	Implic	ations of Aberrant Imprinted Gene Expression to Brain Development	165
	4.9	Propos	ed Model and Remaining Questions	169

4.10References	
Appendices	
Curriculum Vitae	

# List of Tables

Table 1.	Imprinted	gene expression	in the ATRX KO forebrain	87
----------	-----------	-----------------	--------------------------	----

# List of Figures

Figure 1-1. The ATRX gene and protein	4
Figure 1-2. MeCP2 function and interaction with ATRX	9
Figure 1-3. Context-dependent imprinted gene networks	6
Figure 1-4. Genomic organization and regulation of the <i>H19/Igf2</i> imprinted domain	9
Figure 1-5. Structure of the Cohesin complex	4
Figure 1-6. Schematic of the 3C and 4C protocols	8
Figure 2-1. ATRX, MeCP2, and Cohesin interact <i>in vivo</i> in the mouse forebrain	9
Figure 2-2. ATRX, MeCP2, and Cohesin are preferentially bound to the maternal <i>H19</i> ICR is mouse forebrain	n 2
Figure 2-3. Effects of ATRX loss of function on the epigenetic state of the <i>H19</i> ICR	6
Figure 2-4. Allele-specific control of <i>H19</i> gene transcription by ATRX	9
Figure 2-5. ATRX, MeCP2, and Cohesin bind within the <i>Gtl2/Dlk1</i> imprinted domain 8	3
Figure 2-6. Occupancy of SMC1, MeCP2, and CTCF at the <i>H19</i> ICR and <i>Gtl2</i> DMR 8	5
Figure 2-7. Co-immunoprecipitation of ATRX and SMC1 in SH-SY5Y cells, forebrain tissue and HeLa cells and effects of DNAse I treatment on interactions between ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin subunits	e
Figure 2-8. ChIP controls demonstrate specificity of protein enrichment at the <i>H19</i> ICR and <i>Gtl2</i> DMR	3
Figure 2-9. DNA methylation analysis of <i>Igf2</i> DMR1, <i>Igf2</i> DMR2, rDNA and repetitive	Λ
elements in the ATKA null loreorain	4

Figure 2-10. Temporal profile of <i>H19</i> , <i>Dlk1</i> and <i>Gtl2</i> expression and accumulation of	
suppressive histone marks at the maternal H19 ICR in the postnatal brain	96
Figure 3-1 ATRX is required for <i>intra</i> chromosomal interactions across the H19/Igf2	
imprinted domain 1	18
Figure 3-2 The H19/Igf2 imprinted domain forms ATRX-independent interchromosomal	
interactions with specific IGN members	122
Figure 3-3 ATRX binds DMRs and ICRs throughout the IGN 1	23
Figure 3-4 ATRX is recruited to the H19 ICR to govern nucleosome occupancy and CTCF	ı
binding in the neonatal brain 1	26
Figure 3-5 MeCP2 is required for ATRX binding and <i>intra</i> chromosomal interactions of the	Э
<i>H19/Igf2</i> domain	128
Figure 3-6 Proposed model 1	34
Figure 3-7 Liver and forebrain 3C analysis 1	135
Figure 3-8 ATRX does not target G-quadruplexes or insert histone H3.3 at the H19 ICR. 1	136
Figure 3-9 Analysis of nucleosome density in the ATRX-null forebrain 1	137

# List of Appendices

Appendix A. Statement of permission for the reproduction of copyrighted material from
Expert Review Ltd
Appendix B. Statement of permission for the reproduction of copyrighted material from John
Wiley and Sons Ltd
Appendix C. Statement of permission for the reproduction of copyrighted material from
Elsevier
Appendix D. Preliminary 4C data supporting a role for ATRX and MeCP2 in the control
chromatin looping at the <i>Gtl2/Dlk1</i> imprinted domain194
Appendix E. Statement of permission for the use of animals for experimental research195

## Chapter 1

Portions of Chapter 1 are reproduced with permission from (Kernohan and Bérubé, 2010) (Appendix A)

## 1 General Introduction

As our understanding of the genome evolves, we are continually discovering the complex and dynamic nature of its regulation. In addition to the encoded DNA sequence, we now know that epigenetic regulatory mechanisms can dictate and refine gene expression. Imprinted genes are a distinct class of epigenetically regulated genes that are preferentially expressed from one parental allele. A number of these genes are crucial for placental function and embryonic growth in mice and humans(Lefebvre, 2012; Piedrahita, 2011). Disruption of imprinted genes is also associated with several neurodevelopmental disorders, although the role and regulation of genomic imprinting in the brain remains largely unresolved (Kernohan and Bérubé, 2010). Mutations in alphathalassemia mental retardation, X-linked (ATRX), encoding the ATRX chromatin remodeling protein, cause a neurological syndrome known as ATR-X Syndrome(Gibbons et al., 1995b). Studies in mice have confirmed a requirement for ATRX in brain development(Bérubé et al., 2005); however, direct gene expression targets of ATRX in the brain have not yet been identified. The work presented herein reveals that ATRX regulates the expression of imprinted genes during the developmental switch from a highly proliferative to a post-mitotic state occurring in the neonatal brain. The H19/Igf2 imprinted domain was used as a model to elucidate the mechanisms by which ATRX regulates gene expression.

## 1.1 The ATRX Gene and Protein

## 1.1.1 The ATRX Gene and Protein

The <u>Alpha-Thalassemia mental Retardation X</u>-linked (*ATRX*) gene contains 36 exons and spans over 300 kb of genomic DNA on the X chromosome(Picketts et al., 1996). *ATRX* is translated into two protein isoforms, the full length 280 kDa ATRX protein, and a truncated 200 kDa protein known as ATRXt(Garrick et al., 2004) (Figure 1-1). ATRXt is

generated from the alternative splicing of exon 11, which results in the use of an alternative polyA signal(Garrick et al., 2004). ATRX and ATRXt are highly conserved between mouse and human and their abundance differs throughout development, suggesting each may have important biological functions(Garrick et al., 2004; Gecz et al., 1994; Picketts et al., 1998).

The ATRX protein has two main conserved domains: an ADD domain and a SWI/SNF domain, joined by a large flexible linker region(Picketts et al., 1998) (Figure 1-1). The ATRX-DNMT3-DNMT3L (ADD) domain, named for its homology to the DNMT3 family of DNA methyltransferases, is located at the N-terminus and is comprised of a plant homeo domain (PHD)-like zinc-finger, a GATA-like zinc finger, and an alphahelical region(Aapola et al., 2000; Argentaro et al., 2007; Xie et al., 1999). Together these motifs are responsible for ATRX's ability to associate with DNA and other proteins (Argentaro et al., 2007; Cardoso et al., 2000; Dhayalan et al., 2011; Wong et al., 2010). The switch/sucrose non-fermenting (SWI/SNF) domain is located at the C-terminus and contains seven highly conserved collinear helicase motifs(Flaus et al., 2006), which confer ATRX's ATPase activity(Tang et al., 2004). Amino acid sequence alignment has shown that ATRX's SWI/SNF domain is similar to Rad54, a DNA translocase, and to other SWI/SNF proteins that function in complexes utilizing the energy of ATP to translocate along the chromatin fiber(Flaus et al., 2006). SWI/SNF protein translocation modifies the histone-DNA interface in a process known as chromatin remodeling, which functions to regulate chromatin structure and gene expression(Reviewed in (Clapier and Cairns, 2009; Euskirchen et al., 2012; Hargreaves and Crabtree, 2011; Kasten et al., 2011)) (discussed in section 1.4.1). In vitro biochemical studies have confirmed that ATRX is a DNA translocase(Mitson et al., 2011; Xue et al., 2003), and that its ATPase activity is dependent on the presence of nucleosomes (Tang et al., 2004). Importantly, ATRXt lacks the SWI/SNF domain and therefore likely does not function as an ATPase or chromatin remodeler(Garrick et al., 2004). Aside from this, little is known about the structure or function of ATRXt.

Early immunofluorescence studies demonstrated that ATRX is a nuclear protein that localizes largely to pericentromeric heterochromatin (PCH) and ribosomal DNA, both of which are repetitive heterochromatic regions(McDowell et al., 1999). More recently, genome-wide chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) studies have shown that in addition to these sites, ATRX is also enriched at GC-rich regions and telomeric repeats(Law et al., 2010). ATRX may target heterochromatin by recognizing specific post-translational histone modifications, including the presence of H3K9me3 and absence of H3K4me2 and H3K4me3(Dhayalan et al., 2011; Eustermann et al., 2011; Lewis et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2010). Additionally, ATRX can be recruited to these sites by other proteins. For example, it was found that ATRX functions with the death domain associated protein DAXX at telomeres(Lewis et al., 2010). When the G-rich telomeric repeat sequences are single stranded, as occurs during DNA replication or transcription, they are predicted to form physical DNA structures called G-quadruplexes(Bifi et al., 2013). It was proposed that DAXX recruits ATRX to G-quadruplex-DNA where it translocates along the chromatin fibre to help insert H3.3 and resolve these DNA structures(Goldberg et al. 2010; Law et al., 2010; Lewis et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2010). This relationship with DAXX is likely one of many partnerships ATRX forms throughout the genome, as interactions have already been described with a number of other proteins, including the heterochromatin associated protein HP1 $\alpha$ (Lechner et al., 2005), the polycomb group protein EZH2(Cardoso et al., 1998), and the methyl CpG-binding protein MeCP2(Nan et al., 2007). The function and dynamics of these partnerships throughout the genome are not yet known.



#### Figure 1-1. The ATRX gene and protein

(A) Schematic of the ATRX gene. Boxes mark exons, while horizontal lines represent introns. Marks above the gene symbolize ATR-X Syndrome mutation sites: filled circles represent truncating mutations, open circles signify missense mutations or small deletions which maintain the open reading frame, horizontal lines indicate deletion mutations, and recurrent mutations are illustrated by larger circles with the number of families indicated. Overall, the spectrum of ATR-X mutations highlights the ADD and SWI/SNF helicase domains as chiefly affected. (B) Schematic of the ATRX and ATRXt proteins displays the organization of the ADD and SWI/SNF domains and the truncation site for ATRXt.

Reproduced with permission from: Gibbons et al. (2008) Human Mutation 29(6):796-802. (Appendix B)

## 1.1.2 Mutations in the ATRX Gene Cause X-linked Mental Retardation

ATR-X Syndrome is a neurodevelopmental disorder associated with moderate-to-severe cognitive deficits, lack of speech development, microcephaly (reduced brain size), seizures, facial dysmorphisms, and genital, skeletal, and urogenital abnormalities(Gibbons et al., 1995a; Gibbons et al., 1995b; Gibbons et al., 1992). Patients are also commonly afflicted with alpha-thalassemia, a type of anaemia resulting from reduced alpha-globin expression in red blood cells(Gibbons et al., 1995a; Gibbons et al., 1995b; Gibbons et al., 1992). Signs of ATR-X Syndrome are evident at birth and affect multiple organ systems, but most notably the central nervous system(Gibbons et al., 1995a; Gibbons et al., 1995b; Gibbons et al., 1992). This rare syndrome predominantly affects males and is a consequence of inherited mutations in the ATRX gene(Gibbons et al., 1995b; Gibbons et al., 1992). Females who inherit ATRX mutations are unaffected due to a skewed pattern of X-inactivation(Gibbons et al., 1992). Currently approximately 200 ATR-X patients have been identified, carrying a total of 113 different ATRX mutations, all of which lie within the ADD domain (49%), the SWI/SNF domain (30%), or are truncating (21%)(Gibbons et al., 2008) (Figure 1-1). A number of mutations within the SWI/SNF domain have been demonstrated to compromise ATPase and DNA translocase activity(Mitson et al., 2011), while those in the ADD domain impair ATRX's DNA and/or protein binding capacity(Cardoso et al., 2000). The distribution of disease mutations indicate that alterations in other regions of the protein are either undisruptive or lethal. To date all ATR-X mutations studied function as hypomorphic alleles, and no patients have been documented with a complete lack of ATRX protein, suggesting that ATRX-null mutations are not compatible with life(Gibbons et al., 2008). While the limited cohort of ATR-X patients largely precludes studies employing patient samples, analysis of erythroid cells have highlighted a link between ATRX and DNA methylation(Gibbons et al., 2000). It was found that ribosomal DNA repeats, Y chromosome repeats, and subtelomeric repeats were abnormally methylated in erythroid cells from ATR-X patients(Gibbons et al., 2000). Whether this phenomenon occurs elsewhere in the genome and contributes to the ATR-X phenotype remains unknown.

#### 1.1.3 ATRX is Required for Mouse Brain Development

Several mouse models have been created in an effort to understand the developmental role of ATRX and the various pathologies seen in ATR-X Syndrome patients(Bagheri-Fam et al., 2011; Bérubé et al., 2002; Bérubé et al., 2005; Garrick et al., 2006; Medina et al., 2009; Nogami et al., 2011; Seah et al., 2008; Shioda et al., 2011; Solomon et al., 2009). However, these do not necessarily replicate the human syndrome, which results from hypomorphic mutations rather than complete loss of ATRX(Gibbons and Higgs, 2000). To date, only one mouse model has been created which recapitulates patient mutations; this model lacks exon 2 as seen in patients with more mild forms of mental retardation(Nogami et al., 2011). Brain morphology in the ATRX-exon2 mutant model was largely normal; however, dendritic spine formation was abnormal in the medial prefrontal cortex, and hippocampal functioning was altered (Nogami et al., 2011). Other models have focused on effects of removing the entire ATRX protein. Ablation of fulllength ATRX starting at the 8–16 cell stage (using GATA1- driven expression of Cre Recombinase) causes embryonic lethality due to defective formation of the extraembryonic trophoblast and abnormal imprinted X-inactivation in the placenta(Garrick et al., 2006). To circumvent this lethality and study the effects of ATRX loss of function during the development of the central nervous system, a system was utilized where Cre recombinase is conditionally expressed under the control of the forkhead box G1 (*Foxg1*) promoter(Hebert and McConnell, 2000). Mating the  $Foxg1Cre^{+/-}$  males to  $Atrx^{loxP}$ heterozygous females generates male mice with a conditional loss of the full length ATRX protein in the forebrain beginning at embryonic day 8.5 (E8.5) (referred to as ATRX-null and ATRX-KO hereafter)(Bérubé et al., 2005). ATRXt protein levels are unaffected due to the placement of loxP sites following the alternatively spliced exon(Bérubé et al., 2005). ATRX-null mice are smaller than littermate controls, display reduced forebrain size, and most die in the neonatal period of unknown causes(Bérubé et al., 2005). Overall, ATRX-null mice provide a valuable tool to study the effects of ATRX on various processes throughout neuronal development, including gene transcription.

#### 1.1.4 ATRX in Replication and Mitosis

While ATRX's classification as a chromatin remodeling protein and its effect on alphaglobin expression has led to a focus on gene regulation, a second role for ATRX has also emerged. ATRX is highly enriched at PCH of condensed mitotic chromosomes and becomes hyperphosphorylated during mitosis, suggesting it may also play a role during this phase of the cell cycle(Bérubé et al., 2000; McDowell et al., 1999). RNAi depletion of ATRX in cultured human cells followed by live video analysis uncovered many mitotic abnormalities, including defects in chromosome congression and cohesion, abnormal spindle morphology, and binucleated cells(Ritchie et al., 2008). Similar effects were also reported during meiosis in ATRX-deficient mouse oocytes(Baumann et al., 2010; De La Fuente et al., 2004). Moreover, analysis of the ATRX-null developing forebrain revealed evidence of mitotic defects and highlighted a concomitant increase in DNA damage foci(Ritchie et al., 2008; Watson et al., 2013). It was found that DNA damage occurred mainly at the replication fork, and resulted in increased p53-dependent cell death(Bérubé et al., 2005; Seah et al., 2008; Watson et al., 2013). Interestingly, the combined loss of ATRX and p53 provided only a partial recovery in postnatal brain size, suggesting there are multiple ATRX-dependent pathways necessary to achieve proper neuronal development. The identification and characterization of ATRX functions and potential transcriptional targets will likely provide insight into the neurodevelopmental roles of the ATRX protein.

## 1.2 The MeCP2 Gene and Protein

### 1.2.1 MeCP2

The methyl CpG binding protein 2 (*MeCP2*) gene encodes a nuclear methyl CpG binding protein that can bind directly to chromatin(Lewis et al., 1992; Meehan et al., 1992). This 53 kDa protein has three main functional domains: a methyl binding domain(Nan et al., 1993), nuclear localization signal(Kudo, 1998; Nan et al., 1996) and a transcriptional repression domain(Jones et al., 1998; Nan et al., 1998) (Figure 1-2A). Identification of these domains led to the hypothesis that MeCP2 functions as a global transcriptional repressor by binding methylated DNA and recruiting histone deacetylases (HDACs)(Nan et al., 1998). However, expression profiling studies have shown that the loss of MeCP2

results in only subtle changes in gene expression and do not support a role as a classical transcriptional repressor(Jordan et al., 2007; Nuber et al., 2005; Tudor et al., 2002; Urdinguio et al., 2008). Emerging studies have shown that MeCP2 can associate with both methylated and unmethylated DNA(Hansen et al., 2010; Yasui et al., 2007), and is frequently found within both active and inactive genes(Yasui et al., 2007), further complicating the questions surrounding the function of MeCP2. ChIP profiles have demonstrated that MeCP2 is enriched at specific sites(Yasui et al., 2007; Yasui et al., 2013), where it may play a role in regulating higher-order chromatin structure and organization(Horike et al., 2005; Yasui et al., 2007). However, it also appears to coat large regions of chromosomes where it competes with histone H1 to bind internucleosomal regions and may compact nucleosomal arrays(Nikitina et al., 2007; Skene et al., 2010). Further studies are needed before any conclusions can be drawn on the localization patterns and functions of MeCP2 throughout the genome. It is plausible that MeCP2 has multiple binding patterns and functions, depending on its genomic environment and/or interaction partners.

MeCP2 has been shown to interact with a number of other proteins, including the corepressors mSin3a and cSki(Kokura et al., 2001; Nan et al., 1998), heterochromatin associated proteins HP1(Agarwal et al., 2007), DNMT1(Kokura et al., 2001) and H3K9MTase(Fuks et al., 2003b), as well as a number of transcriptional regulators including YY1(Forlani et al., 2010), and ATRX(Nan et al., 2007). The MeCP2-ATRX interaction was first reported in an *in vitro* yeast-two-hybrid screen for MeCP2- interactors, and it was subsequently demonstrated that these proteins co-localize at PCH(Baker et al., 2013; Nan et al., 2007). Importantly, loss of ATRX had no effect on MeCP2 enrichment, while mutation or loss of MeCP2 abrogated ATRX localization to PCH(Baker et al., 2013; Nan et al., 2007). The interaction domains between ATRX and MeCP2 were also mapped, demonstrating that a region overlapping the methyl binding domain of MeCP2 interacts with the SWI/SNF domain of ATRX(Baker et al., 2013; Nan et al., 2007) (Figure 1-2B). Whether ATRX and MeCP2 co-localize elsewhere in the cell, and the dynamics and function of this partnership have not yet been investigated.



Figure 1-2. MeCP2 function and interaction with ATRX

(A) The canonical role of MeCP2 in gene regulation. MeCP2 binds to methylated DNA, along with HDACs and corepressor proteins to repress target genes. (B) Protein structure and interaction of ATRX and MeCP2. Deletion analysis has shown that the helicase domain of ATRX binds within the methyl binding domain of MeCP2. MBD, methyl binding domain; TRD, transcriptional repression domain

## 1.2.2 MeCP2 Mutations in Humans and Mice Cause Rett Syndrome

Rett Syndrome (RTT) is an autism-spectrum disorder associated with severe and progressive neurological abnormalities(Hagberg et al., 1983). Over 95% of RTT cases are due to spontaneous mutations in *MeCP2*, a gene located on the X chromosome at Xq28(Amir et al., 1999). In males, MeCP2 mutations on the single X chromosome lead to neonatal encephalopathy and infant mortality(Kankirawatana et al., 2006; Schule et al., 2008). In RTT females, X chromosome inactivation results in only half the cells expressing the mutant MeCP2, while the other half express the normal protein. Girls affected with RTT develop apparently normal until the emergence of overt phenotypes at 6–18 months of age(Armstrong, 2002; Shahbazian and Zoghbi, 2001). RTT phenotypes include postnatal microcephaly, ataxia, gait apraxia, loss of language, seizures, and respiratory dysfunction(Armstrong, 2002; Shahbazian and Zoghbi, 2001). The MeCP2 protein is ubiquitously expressed, though it is most abundant in the mature brain(Balmer et al., 2003; Kishi and Macklis, 2004). This expression profile is likely responsible for the predominantly postnatal neurological RTT phenotype, though few reports have analyzed a role for MeCP2 prior to the onset of symptoms.

A number of mouse models of RTT have been generated utilizing global Cre-mediated *Mecp2* deletions or truncations(Chen et al., 2001; Guy et al., 2001; Shahbazian et al., 2002). These mutant mice exhibit many aspects of the disorder, including a postnatal onset of symptoms such as motor impairment, tremors, breathing abnormalities, and limb stereotypies(Chen et al., 2001; Guy et al., 2001; Shahbazian et al., 2002). Interestingly, several groups have been able to partially rescue these murine RTT phenotypes by re-expressing MeCP2 through various means(Giacometti et al., 2007; Guy et al., 2007; Luikenhuis et al., 2004; Tropea et al., 2009). These studies demonstrated that neuronal defects induced by MeCP2 deficiency might be reversible. In addition to aiding in the development of RTT treatments, RTT mouse models provide a system to study the role(s) of MeCP2 throughout development.

#### 1.2.3 MeCP2 and Gene Regulation

Expression profiling studies conducted in RTT humans and mice have uncovered many MeCP2 regulated genes, including several involved in brain development (e.g. brain derived neurotrophic factor (Bdnf)(Zhou et al., 2006b), and the GABRB3 receptor (*Gabrb3*)(Samaco et al., 2005)), and a number of imprinted genes(Horike et al., 2005; Samaco et al., 2005). The links between MeCP2 and imprinted gene expression are numerous, but have been the subject of controversy(LaSalle, 2007). Some features of RTT are reminiscent of Angelman Syndrome, an imprinting disorder affecting genes within human 15q11–13, including UBE3A(Jedele, 2007). While two independent studies found MeCP2 deficiency in humans and mice decreased UBE3A/Ube3a expression(Makedonski et al., 2005; Samaco et al., 2005), these outcomes could not be reproduced by others(Jordan and Francke, 2006). Second, MeCP2 was found to bind within the 6qA1 imprinted domain and govern the expression of the four imprinted genes: Dlx5, Sgce, Peg10 and Calcr(Horike et al., 2005). It was suggested that loss of MeCP2 altered 6qA1 chromatin structure, at least in the region surrounding *Dlx5*(Horike et al., 2005); however, MeCP2 regulation of *Dlx5* has also been disputed(Miyano et al., 2008). Finally, *in vitro* studies have shown that MeCP2 can bind to the imprinting control region (ICR) within the H19/Igf2 domain and repress transcription(Drewell et al., 2002), but allele-specific or in vivo binding has not yet been analyzed. Overall, these lines of evidence suggest a complex link between MeCP2 and imprinted genes that requires further study.

## 1.3 Genomic Imprinting

#### 1.3.1 Imprinted Genes

Epigenetic regulation encompasses different mechanisms that modify gene expression in a heritable manner without affecting the DNA sequence. The major types of epigenetic modifications include DNA methylation, post-translational histone modifications, noncoding RNAs (ncRNAs), and higher-order chromatin structure. Collectively, these marks alter the environment of the chromatin fiber and the relative accessibility of chromatin remodeling proteins, transcription factors and transcriptional machinery to the DNA. Genomic imprinting is a distinctive form of epigenetic regulation resulting in monoallelic, parent-of-origin-dependent gene expression. For example, the *H19* imprinted gene is maternally expressed, while the paternal allele is silent(Bartolomei et al., 1991). At present, there are approximately 150 confirmed imprinted genes identified in the mouse genome(MRC Harwell, 2013). These genes are generally conserved among mammals, and often cluster in large domains which are dispersed throughout the genome(MRC Harwell, 2013).

In the 1980's a number of groups used pronuclear transfer experiments in mice to demonstrate that imprinted genes are essential for growth and development(Cattanach and Kirk, 1985; McGrath and Solter, 1984a; b; Surani et al., 1984). These experiments included the transfer of pronuclei between one-cell stage embryos to create diploid parthenogenetic embryos possessing two oocyte-derived genomes and androgenetic embryos with two sperm-derived genomes(Cattanach and Kirk, 1985; McGrath and Solter, 1984a; b; Surani et al., 1984). Both the parthenogenetic and androgenetic embryos failed to survive beyond early postimplantation development(Cattanach and Kirk, 1985; McGrath and Solter, 1984a; b; Surani et al., 1984). These pre-eminent experiments established that the maternal and paternal genetic contributions are not equivalent, and that both are necessary for the mouse to develop normally(Cattanach and Kirk, 1985; McGrath and Solter, 1984a; b; Surani et al., 1984). We now know that the expression of several imprinted genes begins as early as preimplantation embryogenesis and persists throughout development in a range of tissues(Huntriss et al., 1998; MRC Harwell, 2013; Ohlsson et al., 1994; Tremblay et al., 1997; 2013a; Wu et al., 2013b), although it is markedly higher in the placenta and brain(Wu et al., 2013b). The mechanisms that govern imprinted gene expression are multifaceted and remain a subject of intense investigation.

### 1.3.2 Imprinting Mechanisms

While each imprinted domain may possess unique regulatory features, imprinted gene expression is generally controlled by DNA methylation, post-translational histone modifications, ncRNAs, and higher-order chromatin structures(Ideraabdullah et al., 2008). A hallmark of imprinted domains is the presence of differentially methylated regions (DMRs), which are CpG-rich regulatory sequences methylated on one parental

allele(Smith and Meissner, 2013). In this context, DNA methylation blocks the binding of activating proteins and transcriptional machinery, and functions as a recognition site for repressive factors(Smith and Meissner, 2013). A subset of DMRs act as imprinting control regions (ICRs) based on evidence that deletion of these sequences ablates imprinting across their respective domains(Spahn and Barlow, 2003). DNA methylation at these sites originates in the germline and is maintained throughout development(Spahn and Barlow, 2003). DMRs are also marked by post-translational histone modifications that track DNA methylation; repressive marks (e.g., meH3K9, meH3K27 and meH4K20) are associated with the silent methylated allele while active marks (e.g., AcH3 and AcH4) are found on the active unmethylated allele(Fournier et al., 2002; Henckel et al., 2009; Umlauf et al., 2004). Histone modifications can alter the biochemical nature of the chromatin fibre and provide a code that is recognized by regulatory proteins(Fischle et al., 2003). The combination of DNA methylation and histone modifications at DMRs is essential to direct proper imprinted gene expression.

Perhaps the least understood feature that governs imprinting involves ncRNAs. Every imprinted cluster discovered to date includes at least one ncRNA, but the mechanisms by which they influence imprinted gene expression are not well understood. Imprinted mRNAs and ncRNAs are always oppositely expressed, suggesting that ncRNAs could repress mRNA genes. Three theories have been put forward to explain the mechanics of this repression: transcript degradation through the RNAi pathway; repression via heterochromatin spreading; and transcriptional effects(reviewed in (Koerner et al., 2009; Royo and Cavaille, 2008; Wan and Bartolomei, 2008)). While the mechanisms are unclear and may be specific to each transcript, accumulating studies show that ncRNAs likely play a vital role in imprint regulation(Koerner et al., 2009; Royo and Cavaille, 2008).

The development of chromosome conformation capture (3C) and its derivatives have enabled the analysis of three dimensional (3D) chromatin interactions within imprinted domains(Dekker et al., 2002; Dostie et al., 2006; Fullwood and Ruan, 2009; Lieberman-Aiden et al., 2009; Simonis et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2006b) (discussed in Section 1.4.2).
These chromatin loop structures alter gene proximity to regulatory sites, such as enhancers, DMRs and matrix-attachment regions (MARs). To date, loop structures have been studied at three imprinted domains: H19/Igf2(Burke et al., 2005; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008; Murrell et al., 2004; Nativio et al., 2009; Qiu et al., 2008; Vu et al. 2010), Dlx5/Dlx6(Horike et al., 2005), and Gtl2/Dlk1(Braem et al., 2008). While we are just beginning to understand the significance and regulation of these configurations, it is clear that they require the presence of specific proteins, including the CCCTC-binding factor (CTCF) insulator protein and the Cohesin complex(Han et al., 2008; Ishihara et al., 2006; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Nativio et al., 2009) (discussed in Section 1.4.3). As technologies improve we can anticipate that a complex array of interactions between chromatin and related proteins will be uncovered at many imprinted domains.

### 1.3.3 Imprinted Gene Networks

Recently, several independent studies have described co-regulation of a number of imprinted genes during cellular differentiation(Andrade et al.2009; Lui et al., 2008; Varrault et al., 2006). Together, these papers suggest that many imprinted genes are involved in an epigenetically regulated gene network essential for embryonic growth and development(Andrade et al. 2010; Berg et al., 2011; Lui et al., 2008; Varrault et al., 2006) (Figure 1-3). It was proposed that during development, expression of these genes is coordinated in a context-dependent manner to facilitate adaptation to genetic and environmental changes(Andrade et al. 2010; Kernohan and Bérubé, 2010; Lui et al., 2008; Varrault et al., 2006). Within the brain, these genes are highly expressed in embryogenesis and repressed in the mature brain (e.g., H19, Igf2, Dlk1, Zim1 and Grb10 (Bartolomei et al., 1991; Kernohan et al., 2010; Kim et al., 1999; Liu et al., 2009; Svensson et al., 1995; Weber et al., 2001)). For many of these genes, this expression pattern matches their functions. For example, the growth factor *Igf2* and the apoptosis inhibitor Grb10 are highly expressed during neurogenesis when cells are rapidly dividing, but are unnecessary and silenced in post-mitotic cells of the mature brain(DeChiara et al., 1990; Hu et al. 2010). However, for several other genes the function is not yet known (e.g., H19) and the purpose of postnatal suppression remains elusive. In line with the suggestion that many imprinted genes are linked and co-regulated, studies surveying

genome-wide interactions of the *H19* ICR revealed that it can interact with a number of imprinted domains on multiple chromosomes, and that these connections are cell-type specific(Ling et al., 2006; Sandhu et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2006b). Furthermore, they demonstrated that the *H19* ICR could promote transvection of epigenetic states to other imprinted genes(Sandhu et al., 2009). From these studies, it was proposed that the *H19* ICR might function as a master regulator controlling the expression of all imprinted gene network (IGN) domains(Sandhu et al., 2009) (Figure 1-3). While we are just beginning to understand this IGN, stringent control of all its components is likely essential for proper development, and perturbations of this equilibrium could have deleterious effects.



Figure 1-3. Context-dependent imprinted gene networks

A number of recent studies provide evidence for the existence of an imprinted gene network (IGN). The IGN theory posits that as cells differentiate from embryonic tissues into terminal lineages there is coordinate regulation of imprinted genes in each tissue and developmental time point(Ling et al., 2006; Sandhu et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2006b). Furthermore, it has been proposed that the *H19* ICR may function as a master regulator of this network, as it associates with a number of imprinted domains on multiple chromosomes, and is required for trans interactions amongst imprinted genes in some cell types.

Reproduced with permission from Kernohan and Bérubé (2010) Epigenomics 2:743-763. (Appendix A)

### 1.3.4 The *H19/lgf*2 Imprinted Domain

The *H19/Igf2* imprinted domain is the most well characterized imprinted region in the mouse genome, and its regulation has been studied in depth in mouse embryonic fibroblasts, embryonic stem cells, and the liver. The H19 gene product is a 2.3 kb maternally expressed ncRNA(Brannan et al., 1990). Loss of H19 causes a slight overgrowth phenotype in mice(Leighton et al., 1995), while ectopic expression leads to late embryonic lethality(Brunkow and Tilghman, 1991). It was suggested this lethality might be due to exogenous expression in the brain, though the exact cause of death was never determined (Brunkow and Tilghman, 1991). The H19 gene locus also produces a microRNA, miR-675(Cai and Cullen, 2007). miR-675 is thought to be involved in cellular proliferation and growth regulation(Keniry et al., 2012). Insulin-like growth factor 2 (Igf2), encodes a potent growth factor expressed from the paternal allele, except in the brain where its expression is bi-allelic(DeChiara et al., 1991). IGF2 deficiency leads to growth retardation(DeChiara et al., 1990), and its overexpression causes an overgrowth phenotype(Morison et al., 1996). Both H19 and Igf2 are highly expressed prenatally and downregulated postnatally in many tissues, including the brain(Svensson et al., 1995; Weber et al., 2001). The regulation of this expression pattern remains elusive.

Genomic imprinting of the 90 kb *H19/Igf2* region is primarily accomplished by four paternally methylated DMRs, including the ICR that lies 2 kb upstream of the *H19* gene(Bartolomei et al., 1993; Brandeis et al., 1993; Feil et al., 1994; Ferguson-Smith et al., 1993; Frevel et al., 1999; Moore et al., 1997; Thorvaldsen et al., 1998; Tremblay et al., 1997; Tremblay et al., 1995) (Figure 1-4A). DNA methylation from the paternal *H19* ICR has also been reported to spread to the *H19* promoter and aid in silencing of the paternal *H19* gene(Bartolomei et al., 1993; Ferguson-Smith et al., 1993; Sivastava et al., 2000; Tremblay et al., 1995). In addition to DNA methylation, the *H19* ICR is enriched for several active post-translational histone modifications on the unmethylated maternal allele, including acetylation of histone H3 and H4, while the silent paternal allele is marked with repressive histone modifications and variants, including H3K27, H3K9 and H4K20 methylation and the variant macroH2a(Choo et al., 2006;

Choo et al., 2007; Grandjean et al., 2001; Kacem and Feil, 2009). Together, the epigenetic marks within the ICR likely serve as recognition sites for numerous proteins, including CTCF and Cohesin. The *H19* ICR contains four maternal CTCF binding sites which are responsible for imprinted *H19/Igf2* expression and the maintenance of an unmethylated state on the maternal allele(Bell and Felsenfeld, 2000; Choo et al., 2006; Choo et al., 2007; Hark et al., 2000; Schoenherr et al., 2003) (Figure 1-4A). Finally, the *H19* ICR produces a number of small ncRNAs, though these transcripts do not affect imprinting and are of unknown function(Takahashi et al., 2012).

In addition to the H19 ICR the H19/Igf2 domain contains several other regulatory sequences, including a MAR(Greally et al., 1997), and three enhancers specific for mesoderm, endoderm, and the brain (brain enhancer known as centrally conserved domain (CCD))(Ainscough et al., 2000; Ainscough et al., 1997; Charalambous et al., 2004; Ishihara et al., 2000; Jones et al., 2001; Leighton et al., 1995; Yoo-Warren et al., 1988) (Figure 1-4A). These regulatory sequences are brought together within the nucleus to cooperate in regulating proper H19 and Igf2 expression(Burke et al., 2005; Guibert et al., 2012; Han et al., 2008; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008). As a result of differential methylation, the H19 ICR interacts with the other DMRs and regulatory elements to form disparate looping structures of the maternal and paternal alleles, positioning H19 and Igf2 into active and silent chromatin domains(Burke et al., 2005; Guibert et al., 2012; Han et al., 2008; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008) (Figure 1-4B). These interactions require the presence of CTCF and Cohesin at the maternal H19 ICR(Han et al., 2008; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Nativio et al., 2009). Studies have also reported that MeCP2 binds within the H19 ICR and can repress H19 transcription in vitro(Drewell et al., 2002), however in vivo or allele-specific binding of MeCP2 has not yet been demonstrated.



Figure 1-4. Genomic organization and regulation of the H19/Igf2 imprinted domain

(A) Schematic of the *H19/Igf2* domain. Genes are depicted in black and regulatory elements in grey. Numbers indicate the relative position from the start of the *H19* ICR. Methylated DNA is represented as black circles, and unmethylated DNA as grey circles. The enlarged image of the *H19* ICR displays the four CTCF binding sites as grey boxes with CTCF and Cohesin enrichment demonstrated. (B) Simplified diagram representing chromatin interactions of the *H19* ICR. The unmethylated maternal ICR interacts with the unmethylated DMR1, while the methylated paternal ICR interacts with the methylated DMR2(Burke et al., 2005; Guibert et al., 2012; Han et al., 2008; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008).

### 1.3.5 Imprinted Genes in the Brain

The majority of imprinted genes are expressed at at least one developmental stage in the brain; however, most of their functions remain to be determined (Davies et al., 2005). From the genes characterized thus far, it is evident that many are essential for neurological processes(Davies et al., 2005). Davies et al. categorized these functions, which include intracellular signaling (Gnas and RasGrf1), protein trafficking and processing (*Copg2*, *Ube3a* and *Usp29*), transcriptional regulation (*Peg3* and *Mash2*), RNA processing (Snrpn), and growth and cell cycle control (Cdkn1c, Ndn, and Zac1)(Davies et al., 2005). Additionally, some imprinted genes have an obvious biochemical function in neuronal cells. For example, Dlx5 is required for the migration of neural progenitor cells and for the differentiation of immature precursors into GABAergic neurons(Anderson et al., 1997; Stuhmer et al., 2002). Given the multitude of roles imprinted genes play in the brain, it is not surprising that the disruption of genomic imprinting in humans has been linked to a number of neurodevelopmental syndromes, including Angelman Syndrome(Kishino et al., 1997; Matsuura et al., 1997), Prader-Willi Syndrome(Ledbetter et al., 1981; Miller et al., 2009; Muscatelli et al., 2000; Ren et al., 2003), and Turner Syndrome(Kesler et al., 2003; McCauley et al., 1987; Skuse et al., 1997)(reviewed in (Kernohan and Bérubé, 2010)). Together, the human and mouse data underscore the importance of imprinted gene expression in development and implicate the nervous system as primarily affected.

# 1.4 Chromatin Structure and Protein Regulators

### 1.4.1 Chromatin Structure and Remodeling Proteins

DNA in the nucleus is wrapped around an octamer of histone proteins in 147 base pair increments to form nucleosomes, which are then organized into a condensed fiber and folded into chromosomes. This composite of DNA and proteins is known as chromatin, and plays multiple roles within the cell, including packaging the DNA into a small volume, regulating gene expression, and facilitating mitosis. Chromatin from inactive regions of the genome is densely packaged into heterochromatin, effectively maintaining gene silencing. In transcriptionally active regions, DNA is in an open highly accessible state known as euchromatin. Post-translational histone modifications and DNA methylation contribute to the formation and maintenance of both euchromatin and heterochromatin. Additionally, a number of chromatin remodeling proteins can alter or maintain chromatin states. In general, chromatin remodelers are a diverse group of proteins that utilize the energy of ATP to disrupt or remodel protein-DNA complexes, often to govern gene transcription. Transcriptional effects are accomplished through either facilitating or blocking polymerase binding and regulating nucleosomes. Nucleosome remodeling processes includes nucleosome removal, destabilization, repositioning or replacement with histone variants. In general, the combination of activities by chromatin remodelers is essential for proper chromatin structure and thus gene regulation. (reviewed in (Quina et al., 2006))

### 1.4.2 Higher-Order Chromatin Architecture

Within the interphase nucleus, chromosomes occupy a defined space, termed chromosome territories, where loops are formed in *cis* to strategically fold subregions of a chromosome(reviewed in (Cremer and Cremer, 2001; Cremer and Cremer, 2010; Cremer et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2009)). These *cis* loops facilitate interactions between genes, and local and long-range regulatory sequences. In addition, chromosome loops can sometimes extend beyond the confines of these territories and bring genomic regions from different chromosomes into close proximity. These short- and long-range chromosomal interactions can enhance or inhibit gene expression and thus are highly relevant to genomic regulation, including the mono-allelic and coordinated expression of imprinted genes.

To date, chromatin looping has been studied at a number of regions, including alphaglobin(Bau et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2009a; Vernimmen et al., 2007), beta-globin(Junier et al., 2012; Kim and Dean, 2004; Noordermeer and de Laat, 2008; Splinter et al., 2006),  $T_H 2$ (Yao et al., 2012), *IFNG*(Hadjur et al., 2009; Sekimata et al., 2009), *MHC class II*(Majumder and Boss, 2010; Ribeiro de Almeida et al., 2012), *IgH*(Ju et al., 2011), *H19/Igf2*(Burke et al., 2005; Guibert et al., 2012; Han et al., 2008; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008), *Dlx5/Dlx6*(Horike et al., 2005), and *Gtl2/Dlk1*(Braem et al., 2008). With the increasing number of chromatin architecture studies, it is clear that we are only beginning to understand the complex network of chromosomal interactions that exists throughout the genome. Furthermore, very little is known about the proteins and mechanisms that form and maintain these structures, or the consequences of disrupting these systems. Recently, the CTCF and Cohesin proteins have emerged as major players in chromatin structure and are proposed to act as global architectural regulators, though their effects have only been investigated at a limited number of sites(Gause et al., 2008; Wendt and Peters, 2009) (discussed in Section 1.4.3). Additionally, a few site-specific regulatory proteins have been identified, including BRG1 within the alpha-globin domain(Kim et al., 2009a), and GATA-1, FOG-1, EKLF, NLI, and BRG1 at the beta-globin locus(Drissen et al., 2004; Kiefer et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2009b; Song et al., 2007; Vakoc et al., 2005), though little is known about the mechanism of many of these proteins. Overall, as we advance our understanding of this new and exciting field of 3D genome architecture, we will likely uncover many novel protein functions and mechanisms.

### 1.4.3 Cohesin and CTCF

The Cohesin complex consists of four subunits: structural maintenance of chromosome (SMC)1, SMC3, radiation mutant 21 (Rad21) and stromal antigen 1/2 (SA1/SA2). Cohesin was initially discovered and characterized for its role in maintaining sister chromatid cohesion during mitosis(Barbero, 2011; Michaelis et al., 1997; Moser and Swedlow, 2011; Uhlmann and Nasmyth, 1998). The Cohesin complex is proposed to function as a ring, encircling DNA strands to tether them together(Anderson et al., 2002; Gruber et al., 2003; Guacci et al., 1997; Losada et al., 1998; Michaelis et al., 1997; Toth et al., 1999). The protein interactions within the ring have been mapped: the N and C terminal domains of each SMC protein, called the head region, fold together to form an ATPase domain, while the connecting coiled-coil region forms a hinge. To form the ring, both the head and hinge regions of SMC1 and SMC3 interact, though the interaction of the head domains is mediated by Rad21 and stabilized by SA1/SA2(reviewed in (Remeseiro and Losada, 2013; Seitan and Merkenschlager, 2012)) (Figure 1-5). In addition to the Cohesin proteins, several accessory factors are involved in loading and maintaining Cohesin on DNA, including precocious dissociation of sisters 5 (PDS5), nipped- B-like protein (NIPBL) and wings apart-like (WAPL)(Gause et al., 2010; Kueng

et al., 2006; Panizza et al., 2000; Seitan et al., 2006; Vaur et al., 2012). Cohesin is loaded onto chromatin in telophase and released with sister chromatid separation in prophase/anaphase(Shamu and Murray, 1992; Shintomi and Hirano, 2010; Sumara et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2008; Watrin et al., 2006). The dynamics of loading and unloading of Cohesin onto chromatin throughout the cell cycle are complex and are being resolved, though will not be discussed here((reviewed in (Mehta et al., 2012; Remeseiro and Losada, 2013; Seitan and Merkenschlager, 2012)). Interestingly, human mutation in the genes encoding Cohesin proteins (SMC1A and SMC3) as well as the NIPBL loading factor causes Cornelia de Lange Syndrome (CdLS), which is characterized by numerous developmental and neurological defects(Ben-Asher and Lancet, 2004; Krantz et al., 2004; Revenkova et al., 2009).



### Figure 1-5. Structure of the Cohesin complex

Cohesin contains four subunits, SMC1, SMC3, Rad21 and SA1/SA2. These subunits interact to form a ring that can encircle DNA.

Emerging studies suggest that in addition to Cohesin's canonical role in sister chromatid cohesion and cell division, it may also function in DNA damage repair and transcriptional regulation(Remeseiro and Losada, 2013). It is predicted that the CdLS phenotype results from transcriptional effects as Cohesin mutants defective for chromosome cohesion are not viable(Dorsett, 2007; Nasmyth and Haering, 2009; Revenkova et al., 2009). Cohesin is proposed to govern gene transcription by tethering DNA loops together to regulate chromatin architecture(Gause et al., 2008; Rubio et al., 2008; Stedman et al., 2008). This effect has been reported at multiple genomic sites, including the T cell receptor alpha locus(Seitan et al., 2011) and the *H19/Igf2* imprinted domain(Nativio et al., 2009). Furthermore, genome-wide ChIP studies have demonstrated that Cohesin co-localizes with the insulator protein CTCF at more than 8,000 genomic locations(Rubio et al., 2008). CTCF is required for Cohesin enrichment at these sites, and it is predicted that together CTCF and Cohesin establish DNA-DNA interactions throughout the genome(Rubio et al., 2008).

CTCF is a sequence-specific DNA binding protein that functions in both transcriptional regulation and higher-order genomic organization. Genome-wide studies have shown a staggering 14,000-20,000 CTCF binding sites throughout the genome, including a disproportionately large number within gene-enriched regions(Kim et al., 2007). The sequence specificity of CTCF is thought to be conferred by its zinc finger domain, which contacts particular genomic sites using different combinations of its 11 zinc fingers(Filippova et al., 1996). Intriguingly, it has also been shown that on average 10 nucleosomes are precisely positioned surrounding each CTCF binding site, with CTCF located in a larger than normal linker region(Fu et al., 2008; Kanduri et al., 2002; Zhao et al., 2006a). As a transcriptional regulator, CTCF is recognized as a vertebrate insulator protein and can function to block enhancer promoter interactions, or as a boundary between chromatin states(Bell et al., 1999). Regarding chromatin architecture, CTCF recruits the Cohesin complex throughout the genome to facilitate 3D genomic organization, earning it the title "master weaver of the genome" (Phillips and Corces, 2009; Rubio et al., 2008). Overall, it is clear that CTCF is important throughout the genome, though we still lack a complete understanding of its regulation and specific functions.

## 1.5 Chromosome Conformation Capture Technology

With the development of chromosome conformation capture (3C)(Dekker et al., 2002) our understanding of the genome evolved from a linear organization to a complex three dimensional one. 3C is a cutting-edge molecular technique used to study chromatin interactions *in vivo*. It accomplishes this through first cross-linking interacting chromatin within the cell. Following DNA isolation and restriction enzyme digest, an enzyme is used to ligate the cross-linked fragments together. The cross-link is reversed, leaving a library of DNA fragments containing the once distant binding regions joined together. The analysis of 3C libraries involves choosing a region of interest contained within one restriction fragment (termed bait sequence), and surveying its interactions. Interactions are quantified by Taqman qRT-PCR using a primer and probe to the bait sequence, and a series of primers that amplify restriction fragments of interest (Figure 1-6). As 3C is a technically complex protocol, establishing reliable controls for data analysis is essential. These include evaluating digestion, PCR primer, and fixation efficiencies, and DNA concentrations(Dekker, 2006). Studies utilizing 3C have already uncovered many genomic sites involved in higher-order interactions and it is anticipated that this number will continue to grow substantially.

While very informative, 3C studies are limited to a candidate approach that is biased and not appropriate to survey larger genomic regions. To facilitate a large scale approach, a number of groups have developed 3C variants. These include circular chromosome conformation capture and chromosome conformation capture on chip (4C)(Gheldof et al., 2012; Simonis et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2006b), chromosome conformation capture carbon copy (5C)(Dostie et al., 2006), combined chromosome conformation capture ChIP cloning (6C)(Tiwari and Baylin, 2009), Global 3C interactions (Hi-C)(van Berkum et al., 2010), and chromatin interaction analysis by paired-end tag sequencing (ChIA-PET)(Li et al., 2010)(techniques reviewed in (de Wit and de Laat, 2012)). While each technique has its advantages and disadvantages, I utilized 4C in the present study because it provides an unbiased genome-wide screen of interaction sites from a bait sequence of interest (Figure 1-6). Briefly, following 3C library production, the samples are digested with a secondary restriction enzyme and self-ligated to form circular 3C recombined

molecules. The samples are then PCR amplified with primers directed from the bait across the unknown interacting sequence. Traditionally, these 4C products were analyzed by custom tiled microarrays. Recently a few groups, including ours, have utilized next generation sequencing to establish an unbiased interactome(Gheldof et al., 2012; Papantonis et al., 2012; Splinter et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2011) (Figure 1-6). Overall, 3C and 3C derivatives shed light on how chromatin is organized within the cell.



Figure 1-6. Schematic of the 3C and 4C protocols

Interacting chromatin is first cross-linked within the cell, then digested with a restriction enzyme and ligated. The cross-link is then reversed, leaving a library of 3C recombined DNA fragments. 3C studies are quantified by Taqman real-time PCR. For 4C, this library of interacting fragments is then digested with a secondary enzyme and self-ligated to form circular DNA molecules. PCR is conducted with primers extending away from the bait fragment, creating a library of unknown interacting sequences. This 4C library is then analyzed by high-throughput sequencing or microarray. UI, unknown interactor.

## 1.6 Thesis Overview

The overarching objective of this study was to identify genes regulated by the ATRX chromatin remodeling protein, and to define the underlying mechanisms for gene regulation by ATRX.

### 1.6.1 Rationale and Hypothesis

Disruption of ATRX function in humans causes ATR-X Syndrome, a severe mental retardation disorder; however, we currently do not fully understand the role of ATRX in the brain. While ATRX has been classified and characterized as a chromatin remodeling protein, no direct gene targets had been identified at the onset of the present study. Transcriptional profiling of a forebrain specific ATRX-null mutant mouse suggested that imprinted genes, a class of genes regulated by chromatin structure and epigenetic modifications, might be affected by the loss of ATRX. The misregulation of imprinted genes in humans has also been linked to neurological disorders. I therefore hypothesized that ATRX regulates the expression of imprinted genes in the brain, by binding to regulatory sites within imprinted domains and modifying the epigenetic environment and chromatin structure.

## 1.6.2 Chapter Two: ATRX Partners with Cohesin and MeCP2 and Contributes to Developmental Silencing of Imprinted Genes in the Brain

This initial study describes a requirement for ATRX in the postnatal silencing of a neuronal IGN. The loss of ATRX causes an increase in IGN transcripts, including *H19* and *Igf2*, in the postnatal brain. Using the *H19/Igf2* domain as a model, the mechanism of ATRX regulation at imprinted genes was examined. In the wild-type forebrain, we could show that ATRX forms a complex with MeCP2 and Cohesin and that this complex is enriched on the maternal allele of the *H19* ICR. Loss of ATRX results in diminished binding of Cohesin to this region and altered enrichment of post-translational histone modifications. Similar effects were detected at a DMR within a second imprinted domain, *Gtl2/Dlk1*. I concluded that ATRX, along with its binding partners MeCP2 and Cohesin,

regulates the neuronal IGN, and propose that this regulation is accomplished by controlling *cis* and *trans* chromatin interactions of imprinted domains.

# 1.6.3 Chapter Three: ATRX is Recruited by MeCP2 to Alter Nucleosome Positioning, CTCF Occupancy, and Long-Range Chromosomal Interactions

Higher-order chromatin structure is essential for the regulation of imprinted genes, though the proteins and mechanisms responsible are largely unknown. To expand our understanding of the role of ATRX at imprinted domains, I examined the effects of ATRX loss on chromatin structure. Again, I used the H19/Igf2 domain as a model. In other cell types, *cis* and *trans* interactions involving the *H19* ICR are thought to regulate H19/Igf2 and IGN expression, respectively(Burke et al., 2005; Guibert et al., 2012; Han et al., 2008; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008; Ling et al., 2006; Sandhu et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2006b). I utilized 3C and 4C techniques to analyze chromatin structure. The results show that the H19 ICR forms numerous cis and trans chromosomal interactions in the mouse brain. Loss of ATRX affects cis interactions throughout H19/Igf2 and these structural deficits are accompanied by an altered nucleosome distribution within the ICR and a failure to maintain CTCF binding. I demonstrate that ATRX is recruited to the H19 ICR by MeCP2. Predictably, MeCP2 deficiency also resulted in loss of chromatin interactions. Finally, I show ATRX binding within many IGN domains and propose a model where MeCP2 targets ATRX to each imprinted gene of the IGN in a temporally regulated manner. ATRX then enacts a transcriptional switch through the control of nucleosome positioning, CTCF binding, and chromatin looping to repress imprinted genes in the postnatal brain. Overall, this thesis identifies a novel mechanism of ATRX in the control of gene expression by altering nucleosome positioning in an allele-specific manner, thus enabling CTCF occupancy and chromatin looping.

# 1.7 References

Aapola U, Kawasaki K, Scott HS, Ollila J, Vihinen M, Heino M, Shintani A, Minoshima S, Krohn K, Antonarakis SE, Shimizu N, Kudoh J and Peterson P (2000) Isolation and

initial characterization of a novel zinc finger gene, DNMT3L, on 21q22.3, related to the cytosine-5-methyltransferase 3 gene family. *Genomics* **65**:293-298.

Agarwal N, Hardt T, Brero A, Nowak D, Rothbauer U, Becker A, Leonhardt H and Cardoso MC (2007) MeCP2 interacts with HP1 and modulates its heterochromatin association during myogenic differentiation. *Nucleic acids research* **35**:5402-5408.

Ainscough JF, Dandolo L and Surani MA (2000) Appropriate expression of the mouse H19 gene utilises three or more distinct enhancer regions spread over more than 130 kb. *Mechanisms of development* **91**:365-368.

Ainscough JF, Koide T, Tada M, Barton S and Surani MA (1997) Imprinting of Igf2 and H19 from a 130 kb YAC transgene. *Development* **124**:3621-3632.

Amir RE, Van den Veyver IB, Wan M, Tran CQ, Francke U and Zoghbi HY (1999) Rett syndrome is caused by mutations in X-linked MECP2, encoding methyl CpG-binding protein 2. *Nature genetics* **23**:185-188.

Anderson DE, Losada A, Erickson HP and Hirano T (2002) Condensin and Cohesin display different arm conformations with characteristic hinge angles. *The Journal of cell biology* **156**:419-424.

Anderson SA, Eisenstat DD, Shi L and Rubenstein JL (1997) Interneuron migration from basal forebrain to neocortex: dependence on Dlx genes. *Science* **278**:474-476.

Andrade AC, Lui JC and Nilsson O Temporal and spatial expression of a growthregulated network of imprinted genes in growth plate. *Pediatr Nephrol* **25**:617-623.

Argentaro A, Yang JC, Chapman L, Kowalczyk MS, Gibbons RJ, Higgs DR, Neuhaus D and Rhodes D (2007) Structural consequences of disease-causing mutations in the ATRX-DNMT3-DNMT3L (ADD) domain of the chromatin-associated protein ATRX. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**:11939-11944. Armstrong DD (2002) Neuropathology of Rett syndrome. *Mental retardation and developmental disabilities research reviews* **8**:72-76.

Bagheri-Fam S, Argentaro A, Svingen T, Combes AN, Sinclair AH, Koopman P and Harley VR (2011) Defective survival of proliferating Sertoli cells and androgen receptor function in a mouse model of the ATR-X syndrome. *Human molecular genetics* **20**:2213-2224.

Baker SA, Chen L, Wilkins AD, Yu P, Lichtarge O and Zoghbi HY (2013) An AT-Hook Domain in MeCP2 Determines the Clinical Course of Rett Syndrome and Related Disorders. *Cell* **152**:984-996.

Balmer D, Goldstine J, Rao YM and LaSalle JM (2003) Elevated methyl CpG-binding protein 2 expression is acquired during postnatal human brain development and is correlated with alternative polyadenylation. *J Mol Med* **81**:61-68.

Barbero JL (2011) Sister chromatid cohesion control and aneuploidy. *Cytogenetic and genome research* **133**:223-233.

Bartolomei MS, Webber AL, Brunkow ME and Tilghman SM (1993) Epigenetic mechanisms underlying the imprinting of the mouse H19 gene. *Genes & development* 7:1663-1673.

Bartolomei MS, Zemel S and Tilghman SM (1991) Parental imprinting of the mouse H19 gene. *Nature* **351**:153-155.

Bau D, Sanyal A, Lajoie BR, Capriotti E, Byron M, Lawrence JB, Dekker J and Marti-Renom MA (2011) The three-dimensional folding of the alpha-globin gene domain reveals formation of chromatin globules. *Nature structural & molecular biology* **18**:107-114.

Baumann C, Viveiros MM and De La Fuente R (2010) Loss of maternal ATRX results in centromere instability and aneuploidy in the mammalian oocyte and pre-implantation embryo. *PLoS genetics* **6**.

Bell AC and Felsenfeld G (2000) Methylation of a CTCF-dependent boundary controls imprinted expression of the Igf2 gene. *Nature* **405**:482-485.

Bell AC, West AG and Felsenfeld G (1999) The protein CTCF is required for the enhancer blocking activity of vertebrate insulators. *Cell* **98**:387-396.

Ben-Asher E and Lancet D (2004) NIPBL gene responsible for Cornelia de Lange syndrome, a severe developmental disorder. *The Israel Medical Association journal : IMAJ* **6**:571-572.

Berg JS, Lin KK, Sonnet C, Boles NC, Weksberg DC, Nguyen H, Holt LJ, Rickwood D, Daly RJ and Goodell MA (2011) Imprinted genes that regulate early mammalian growth are coexpressed in somatic stem cells. *PloS one* **6**:e26410.

Bérubé NG, Jagla M, Smeenk C, De Repentigny Y, Kothary R and Picketts DJ (2002) Neurodevelopmental defects resulting from ATRX overexpression in transgenic mice. *Human molecular genetics* **11**:253-261.

Bérubé NG, Mangelsdorf M, Jagla M, Vanderluit J, Garrick D, Gibbons RJ, Higgs DR, Slack RS and Picketts DJ (2005) The chromatin-remodeling protein ATRX is critical for neuronal survival during corticogenesis. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **115**:258-267.

Bérubé NG, Smeenk CA and Picketts DJ (2000) Cell cycle-dependent phosphorylation of the ATRX protein correlates with changes in nuclear matrix and chromatin association. *Human molecular genetics* **9**:539-547.

Braem C, Recolin B, Rancourt RC, Angiolini C, Barthes P, Branchu P, Court F, Cathala G, Ferguson-Smith AC and Forne T (2008) Genomic matrix-attachment region and chromosome conformation capture quantitative real time PCR assays identify novel putative regulatory elements at the imprinted Dlk1/Gtl2 locus. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **283**:18612-18620.

Brandeis M, Kafri T, Ariel M, Chaillet JR, McCarrey J, Razin A and Cedar H (1993) The ontogeny of allele-specific methylation associated with imprinted genes in the mouse. *The EMBO journal* **12**:3669-3677.

Brannan CI, Dees EC, Ingram RS and Tilghman SM (1990) The product of the H19 gene may function as an RNA. *Molecular and cellular biology* **10**:28-36.

Brunkow ME and Tilghman SM (1991) Ectopic expression of the H19 gene in mice causes prenatal lethality. *Genes & development* **5**:1092-1101.

Burke LJ, Zhang R, Bartkuhn M, Tiwari VK, Tavoosidana G, Kurukuti S, Weth C, Leers J, Galjart N, Ohlsson R and Renkawitz R (2005) CTCF binding and higher order chromatin structure of the H19 locus are maintained in mitotic chromatin. *The EMBO journal* **24**:3291-3300.

Cardoso C, Lutz Y, Mignon C, Compe E, Depetris D, Mattei MG, Fontes M and Colleaux L (2000) ATR-X mutations cause impaired nuclear location and altered DNA binding properties of the XNP/ATR-X protein. *Journal of medical genetics* **37**:746-751.

Cardoso C, Timsit S, Villard L, Khrestchatisky M, Fontes M and Colleaux L (1998) Specific interaction between the XNP/ATR-X gene product and the SET domain of the human EZH2 protein. *Human molecular genetics* **7**:679-684.

Cattanach BM and Kirk M (1985) Differential activity of maternally and paternally derived chromosome regions in mice. *Nature* **315**:496-498.

Charalambous M, Menheniott TR, Bennett WR, Kelly SM, Dell G, Dandolo L and Ward A (2004) An enhancer element at the Igf2/H19 locus drives gene expression in both imprinted and non-imprinted tissues. *Developmental biology* **271**:488-497.

Chen RZ, Akbarian S, Tudor M and Jaenisch R (2001) Deficiency of methyl CpG binding protein-2 in CNS neurons results in a Rett-like phenotype in mice. *Nature genetics* **27**:327-331.

Choo JH, Kim JD, Chung JH, Stubbs L and Kim J (2006) Allele-specific deposition of macroH2A1 in imprinting control regions. *Human molecular genetics* **15**:717-724.

Choo JH, Kim JD and Kim J (2007) MacroH2A1 knockdown effects on the Peg3 imprinted domain. *BMC genomics* **8**:479.

Clapier CR and Cairns BR (2009) The biology of chromatin remodeling complexes. *Annual review of biochemistry* **78**:273-304.

Cremer T and Cremer C (2001) Chromosome territories, nuclear architecture and gene regulation in mammalian cells. *Nature reviews Genetics* **2**:292-301.

Cremer T and Cremer M (2010) Chromosome territories. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* **2**:a003889.

Cremer T, Cremer M, Dietzel S, Muller S, Solovei I and Fakan S (2006) Chromosome territories--a functional nuclear landscape. *Current opinion in cell biology* **18**:307-316.

Davies W, Isles AR and Wilkinson LS (2005) Imprinted gene expression in the brain. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* **29**:421-430.

De La Fuente R, Viveiros MM, Wigglesworth K and Eppig JJ (2004) ATRX, a member of the SNF2 family of helicase/ATPases, is required for chromosome alignment and meiotic spindle organization in metaphase II stage mouse oocytes. *Developmental biology* **272**:1-14.

de Wit E and de Laat W (2012) A decade of 3C technologies: insights into nuclear organization. *Genes & development* **26**:11-24.

DeChiara TM, Efstratiadis A and Robertson EJ (1990) A growth-deficiency phenotype in heterozygous mice carrying an insulin-like growth factor II gene disrupted by targeting. *Nature* **345**:78-80.

DeChiara TM, Robertson EJ and Efstratiadis A (1991) Parental imprinting of the mouse insulin-like growth factor II gene. *Cell* **64**:849-859.

Dekker J (2006) The three 'C' s of chromosome conformation capture: controls, controls, controls. *Nature methods* **3**:17-21.

Dekker J, Rippe K, Dekker M and Kleckner N (2002) Capturing chromosome conformation. *Science* **295**:1306-1311.

Dhayalan A, Tamas R, Bock I, Tattermusch A, Dimitrova E, Kudithipudi S, Ragozin S and Jeltsch A (2011) The ATRX-ADD domain binds to H3 tail peptides and reads the combined methylation state of K4 and K9. *Human molecular genetics* **20**:2195-2203.

Dorsett D (2007) Roles of the sister chromatid cohesion apparatus in gene expression, development, and human syndromes. *Chromosoma* **116**:1-13.

Dostie J, Richmond TA, Arnaout RA, Selzer RR, Lee WL, Honan TA, Rubio ED, Krumm A, Lamb J, Nusbaum C, Green RD and Dekker J (2006) Chromosome Conformation Capture Carbon Copy (5C): a massively parallel solution for mapping interactions between genomic elements. *Genome research* **16**:1299-1309.

Drewell RA, Goddard CJ, Thomas JO and Surani MA (2002) Methylation-dependent silencing at the H19 imprinting control region by MeCP2. *Nucleic acids research* **30**:1139-1144.

Drissen R, Palstra RJ, Gillemans N, Splinter E, Grosveld F, Philipsen S and de Laat W (2004) The active spatial organization of the beta-globin locus requires the transcription factor EKLF. *Genes & development* **18**:2485-2490.

Euskirchen G, Auerbach RK and Snyder M (2012) SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling factors: multiscale analyses and diverse functions. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **287**:30897-30905.

Eustermann S, Yang JC, Law MJ, Amos R, Chapman LM, Jelinska C, Garrick D, Clynes D, Gibbons RJ, Rhodes D, Higgs DR and Neuhaus D (2011) Combinatorial readout of histone H3 modifications specifies localization of ATRX to heterochromatin. *Nature structural & molecular biology* **18**:777-782.

Feil R, Walter J, Allen ND and Reik W (1994) Developmental control of allelic methylation in the imprinted mouse Igf2 and H19 genes. *Development* **120**:2933-2943.

Ferguson-Smith AC, Sasaki H, Cattanach BM and Surani MA (1993) Parental-originspecific epigenetic modification of the mouse H19 gene. *Nature* **362**:751-755.

Filippova GN, Fagerlie S, Klenova EM, Myers C, Dehner Y, Goodwin G, Neiman PE, Collins SJ and Lobanenkov VV (1996) An exceptionally conserved transcriptional repressor, CTCF, employs different combinations of zinc fingers to bind diverged promoter sequences of avian and mammalian c-myc oncogenes. *Molecular and cellular biology* **16**:2802-2813.

Fischle W, Wang Y and Allis CD (2003) Histone and chromatin cross-talk. *Current opinion in cell biology* **15**:172-183.

Flaus A, Martin DM, Barton GJ and Owen-Hughes T (2006) Identification of multiple distinct Snf2 subfamilies with conserved structural motifs. *Nucleic acids research* **34**:2887-2905.

Forlani G, Giarda E, Ala U, Di Cunto F, Salani M, Tupler R, Kilstrup-Nielsen C and Landsberger N (2010) The MeCP2/YY1 interaction regulates ANT1 expression at 4q35: novel hints for Rett syndrome pathogenesis. *Human molecular genetics* **19**:3114-3123.

Fournier C, Goto Y, Ballestar E, Delaval K, Hever AM, Esteller M and Feil R (2002) Allele-specific histone lysine methylation marks regulatory regions at imprinted mouse genes. *The EMBO journal* **21**:6560-6570.

Frevel MA, Hornberg JJ and Reeve AE (1999) A potential imprint control element: identification of a conserved 42 bp sequence upstream of H19. *Trends in genetics : TIG* **15**:216-218.

Fu Y, Sinha M, Peterson CL and Weng Z (2008) The insulator binding protein CTCF positions 20 nucleosomes around its binding sites across the human genome. *PLoS genetics* **4**:e1000138.

Fuks F, Hurd PJ, Wolf D, Nan X, Bird AP and Kouzarides T (2003) The methyl CpGbinding protein MeCP2 links DNA methylation to histone methylation. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **278**:4035-4040.

Fullwood MJ and Ruan Y (2009) ChIP-based methods for the identification of long-range chromatin interactions. *Journal of cellular biochemistry* **107**:30-39.

Garrick D, Samara V, McDowell TL, Smith AJ, Dobbie L, Higgs DR and Gibbons RJ (2004) A conserved truncated isoform of the ATR-X syndrome protein lacking the SWI/SNF-homology domain. *Gene* **326**:23-34.

Garrick D, Sharpe JA, Arkell R, Dobbie L, Smith AJ, Wood WG, Higgs DR and Gibbons RJ (2006) Loss of Atrx affects trophoblast development and the pattern of X-inactivation in extraembryonic tissues. *PLoS genetics* **2**:e58.

Gause M, Misulovin Z, Bilyeu A and Dorsett D (2010) Dosage-sensitive regulation of Cohesin chromosome binding and dynamics by Nipped-B, Pds5, and Wapl. *Molecular and cellular biology* **30**:4940-4951.

Gause M, Schaaf CA and Dorsett D (2008) Cohesin and CTCF: cooperating to control chromosome conformation? *BioEssays : news and reviews in molecular, cellular and developmental biology* **30**:715-718.

Gecz J, Pollard H, Consalez G, Villard L, Stayton C, Millasseau P, Khrestchatisky M and Fontes M (1994) Cloning and expression of the murine homologue of a putative human X-linked nuclear protein gene closely linked to PGK1 in Xq13.3. *Human molecular genetics* **3**:39-44.

Gheldof N, Leleu M, Noordermeer D, Rougemont J and Reymond A (2012) Detecting long-range chromatin interactions using the chromosome conformation capture sequencing (4C-seq) method. *Methods Mol Biol* **786**:211-225.

Giacometti E, Luikenhuis S, Beard C and Jaenisch R (2007) Partial rescue of MeCP2 deficiency by postnatal activation of MeCP2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**:1931-1936.

Gibbons RJ and Higgs DR (2000) Molecular-clinical spectrum of the ATR-X syndrome. *American journal of medical genetics* **97**:204-212.

Gibbons RJ, McDowell TL, Raman S, O'Rourke DM, Garrick D, Ayyub H and Higgs DR (2000) Mutations in ATRX, encoding a SWI/SNF-like protein, cause diverse changes in the pattern of DNA methylation. *Nature genetics* **24**:368-371.

Gibbons RJ, Picketts DJ and Higgs DR (1995a) Syndromal mental retardation due to mutations in a regulator of gene expression. *Human molecular genetics* **4 Spec No**:1705-1709.

Gibbons RJ, Picketts DJ, Villard L and Higgs DR (1995b) Mutations in a putative global transcriptional regulator cause X-linked mental retardation with alpha-thalassemia (ATR-X syndrome). *Cell* **80**:837-845.

Gibbons RJ, Suthers GK, Wilkie AO, Buckle VJ and Higgs DR (1992) X-linked alphathalassemia/mental retardation (ATR-X) syndrome: localization to Xq12-q21.31 by X inactivation and linkage analysis. *American journal of human genetics* **51**:1136-1149.

Gibbons RJ, Wada T, Fisher CA, Malik N, Mitson MJ, Steensma DP, Fryer A, Goudie DR, Krantz ID and Traeger-Synodinos J (2008) Mutations in the chromatin-associated protein ATRX. *Human mutation* **29**:796-802.

Goldberg AD, Banaszynski LA, Noh KM, Lewis PW, Elsaesser SJ, Stadler S, Dewell S, Law M, Guo X, Li X, Wen D, Chapgier A, DeKelver RC, Miller JC, Lee YL, Boydston EA, Holmes MC, Gregory PD, Greally JM, Rafii S, Yang C, Scambler PJ, Garrick D, Gibbons RJ, Higgs DR, Cristea IM, Urnov FD, Zheng D and Allis CD (2010) Distinct factors control histone variant H3.3 localization at specific genomic regions. *Cell* **140**:678-691.

Grandjean V, O'Neill L, Sado T, Turner B and Ferguson-Smith A (2001) Relationship between DNA methylation, histone H4 acetylation and gene expression in the mouse imprinted Igf2-H19 domain. *FEBS letters* **488**:165-169.

Greally JM, Guinness ME, McGrath J and Zemel S (1997) Matrix-attachment regions in the mouse chromosome 7F imprinted domain. *Mammalian genome : official journal of the International Mammalian Genome Society* **8**:805-810.

Gruber S, Haering CH and Nasmyth K (2003) Chromosomal Cohesin forms a ring. *Cell* **112**:765-777.

Guacci V, Koshland D and Strunnikov A (1997) A direct link between sister chromatid cohesion and chromosome condensation revealed through the analysis of MCD1 in S. cerevisiae. *Cell* **91**:47-57.

Guibert S, Zhao Z, Sjolinder M, Gondor A, Fernandez A, Pant V and Ohlsson R (2012) CTCF-binding sites within the H19 ICR differentially regulate local chromatin structures and cis-acting functions. *Epigenetics : official journal of the DNA Methylation Society* **7**:361-369.

Guy J, Gan J, Selfridge J, Cobb S and Bird A (2007) Reversal of neurological defects in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. *Science* **315**:1143-1147.

Guy J, Hendrich B, Holmes M, Martin JE and Bird A (2001) A mouse Mecp2-null mutation causes neurological symptoms that mimic Rett syndrome. *Nature genetics* **27**:322-326.

Hadjur S, Williams LM, Ryan NK, Cobb BS, Sexton T, Fraser P, Fisher AG and Merkenschlager M (2009) Cohesins form chromosomal cis-interactions at the developmentally regulated IFNG locus. *Nature* **460**:410-413.

Han L, Lee DH and Szabo PE (2008) CTCF is the master organizer of domain-wide allele-specific chromatin at the H19/Igf2 imprinted region. *Molecular and cellular biology* **28**:1124-1135.

Hansen JC, Ghosh RP and Woodcock CL (2010) Binding of the Rett syndrome protein, MeCP2, to methylated and unmethylated DNA and chromatin. *IUBMB life* **62**:732-738.

Hargreaves DC and Crabtree GR (2011) ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling: genetics, genomics and mechanisms. *Cell research* **21**:396-420.

Hark AT, Schoenherr CJ, Katz DJ, Ingram RS, Levorse JM and Tilghman SM (2000) CTCF mediates methylation-sensitive enhancer-blocking activity at the H19/Igf2 locus. *Nature* **405**:486-489.

Hebert JM and McConnell SK (2000) Targeting of cre to the Foxg1 (BF-1) locus mediates loxP recombination in the telencephalon and other developing head structures. *Developmental biology* **222**:296-306.

Henckel A, Nakabayashi K, Sanz LA, Feil R, Hata K and Arnaud P (2009) Histone methylation is mechanistically linked to DNA methylation at imprinting control regions in mammals. *Human molecular genetics* **18**:3375-3383.

Horike S, Cai S, Miyano M, Cheng JF and Kohwi-Shigematsu T (2005) Loss of silentchromatin looping and impaired imprinting of DLX5 in Rett syndrome. *Nature genetics* **37**:31-40.

Hu ZQ, Zhang JY, Ji CN, Xie Y, Chen JZ and Mao YM (2010) Grb10 interacts with Bim L and inhibits apoptosis. *Mol Biol Rep*.

Huntriss J, Daniels R, Bolton V and Monk M (1998) Imprinted expression of SNRPN in human preimplantation embryos. *American journal of human genetics* **63**:1009-1014.

Ideraabdullah FY, Vigneau S and Bartolomei MS (2008) Genomic imprinting mechanisms in mammals. *Mutation research* **647**:77-85.

Ishihara K, Hatano N, Furuumi H, Kato R, Iwaki T, Miura K, Jinno Y and Sasaki H (2000) Comparative genomic sequencing identifies novel tissue-specific enhancers and sequence elements for methylation-sensitive factors implicated in Igf2/H19 imprinting. *Genome research* **10**:664-671.

Ishihara K, Oshimura M and Nakao M (2006) CTCF-dependent chromatin insulator is linked to epigenetic remodeling. *Molecular cell* **23**:733-742.

Jedele KB (2007) The overlapping spectrum of rett and angelman syndromes: a clinical review. *Semin Pediatr Neurol* **14**:108-117.

Jones BK, Levorse J and Tilghman SM (2001) Deletion of a nuclease-sensitive region between the Igf2 and H19 genes leads to Igf2 misregulation and increased adiposity. *Human molecular genetics* **10**:807-814.

Jones PL, Veenstra GJ, Wade PA, Vermaak D, Kass SU, Landsberger N, Strouboulis J and Wolffe AP (1998) Methylated DNA and MeCP2 recruit histone deacetylase to repress transcription. *Nature genetics* **19**:187-191.

Jordan C and Francke U (2006) Ube3a expression is not altered in Mecp2 mutant mice. *Human molecular genetics* **15**:2210-2215.

Jordan C, Li HH, Kwan HC and Francke U (2007) Cerebellar gene expression profiles of mouse models for Rett syndrome reveal novel MeCP2 targets. *BMC medical genetics* **8**:36.

Ju Z, Chatterjee S and Birshtein BK (2011) Interaction between the immunoglobulin heavy chain 3' regulatory region and the IgH transcription unit during B cell differentiation. *Molecular immunology* **49**:297-303.

Junier I, Dale RK, Hou C, Kepes F and Dean A (2012) CTCF-mediated transcriptional regulation through cell type-specific chromosome organization in the beta-globin locus. *Nucleic acids research* **40**:7718-7727.

Kacem S and Feil R (2009) Chromatin mechanisms in genomic imprinting. *Mammalian* genome : official journal of the International Mammalian Genome Society **20**:544-556.

Kanduri M, Kanduri C, Mariano P, Vostrov AA, Quitschke W, Lobanenkov V and Ohlsson R (2002) Multiple nucleosome positioning sites regulate the CTCF-mediated insulator function of the H19 imprinting control region. *Molecular and cellular biology* **22**:3339-3344. Kankirawatana P, Leonard H, Ellaway C, Scurlock J, Mansour A, Makris CM, Dure LSt, Friez M, Lane J, Kiraly-Borri C, Fabian V, Davis M, Jackson J, Christodoulou J, Kaufmann WE, Ravine D and Percy AK (2006) Early progressive encephalopathy in boys and MECP2 mutations. *Neurology* **67**:164-166.

Kasten MM, Clapier CR and Cairns BR (2011) SnapShot: Chromatin remodeling: SWI/SNF. *Cell* **144**:310 e311.

Kernohan KD and Bérubé NG (2010) Genetic and epigenetic dysregulation of imprinted genes in the brain. *Epigenomics* **2**:743-763.

Kernohan KD, Jiang Y, Tremblay DC, Bonvissuto AC, Eubanks JH, Mann MR and Bérubé NG (2010) ATRX partners with Cohesin and MeCP2 and contributes to developmental silencing of imprinted genes in the brain. *Developmental cell* **18**:191-202.

Kesler SR, Blasey CM, Brown WE, Yankowitz J, Zeng SM, Bender BG and Reiss AL (2003) Effects of X-monosomy and X-linked imprinting on superior temporal gyrus morphology in Turner syndrome. *Biological psychiatry* **54**:636-646.

Kiefer CM, Lee J, Hou C, Dale RK, Lee YT, Meier ER, Miller JL and Dean A (2011) Distinct Ldb1/NLI complexes orchestrate gamma-globin repression and reactivation through ETO2 in human adult erythroid cells. *Blood* **118**:6200-6208.

Kim A and Dean A (2004) Developmental stage differences in chromatin subdomains of the beta-globin locus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **101**:7028-7033.

Kim J, Lu X and Stubbs L (1999) Zim1, a maternally expressed mouse Kruppel-type zinc-finger gene located in proximal chromosome 7. *Human molecular genetics* **8**:847-854.

Kim SI, Bresnick EH and Bultman SJ (2009a) BRG1 directly regulates nucleosome structure and chromatin looping of the alpha globin locus to activate transcription. *Nucleic acids research* **37**:6019-6027.

Kim SI, Bultman SJ, Kiefer CM, Dean A and Bresnick EH (2009b) BRG1 requirement for long-range interaction of a locus control region with a downstream promoter. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**:2259-2264.

Kim TH, Abdullaev ZK, Smith AD, Ching KA, Loukinov DI, Green RD, Zhang MQ, Lobanenkov VV and Ren B (2007) Analysis of the vertebrate insulator protein CTCFbinding sites in the human genome. *Cell* **128**:1231-1245.

Kishi N and Macklis JD (2004) MECP2 is progressively expressed in post-migratory neurons and is involved in neuronal maturation rather than cell fate decisions. *Molecular and cellular neurosciences* **27**:306-321.

Kishino T, Lalande M and Wagstaff J (1997) UBE3A/E6-AP mutations cause Angelman syndrome. *Nature genetics* **15**:70-73.

Koerner MV, Pauler FM, Huang R and Barlow DP (2009) The function of non-coding RNAs in genomic imprinting. *Development* **136**:1771-1783.

Kokura K, Kaul SC, Wadhwa R, Nomura T, Khan MM, Shinagawa T, Yasukawa T, Colmenares C and Ishii S (2001) The Ski protein family is required for MeCP2-mediated transcriptional repression. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **276**:34115-34121.

Krantz ID, McCallum J, DeScipio C, Kaur M, Gillis LA, Yaeger D, Jukofsky L, Wasserman N, Bottani A, Morris CA, Nowaczyk MJ, Toriello H, Bamshad MJ, Carey JC, Rappaport E, Kawauchi S, Lander AD, Calof AL, Li HH, Devoto M and Jackson LG (2004) Cornelia de Lange syndrome is caused by mutations in NIPBL, the human homolog of Drosophila melanogaster Nipped-B. *Nature genetics* **36**:631-635.

Kudo S (1998) Methyl CpG-binding protein MeCP2 represses Sp1-activated transcription of the human leukosialin gene when the promoter is methylated. *Molecular and cellular biology* **18**:5492-5499.

Kueng S, Hegemann B, Peters BH, Lipp JJ, Schleiffer A, Mechtler K and Peters JM (2006) Wapl controls the dynamic association of Cohesin with chromatin. *Cell* **127**:955-967.

Kurukuti S, Tiwari VK, Tavoosidana G, Pugacheva E, Murrell A, Zhao Z, Lobanenkov V, Reik W and Ohlsson R (2006) CTCF binding at the H19 imprinting control region mediates maternally inherited higher-order chromatin conformation to restrict enhancer access to Igf2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **103**:10684-10689.

LaSalle JM (2007) The odyssey of MeCP2 and parental imprinting. *Epigenetics : official journal of the DNA Methylation Society* **2**:5-10.

Law MJ, Lower KM, Voon HP, Hughes JR, Garrick D, Viprakasit V, Mitson M, De Gobbi M, Marra M, Morris A, Abbott A, Wilder SP, Taylor S, Santos GM, Cross J, Ayyub H, Jones S, Ragoussis J, Rhodes D, Dunham I, Higgs DR and Gibbons RJ (2010) ATR-X syndrome protein targets tandem repeats and influences allele-specific expression in a size-dependent manner. *Cell* **143**:367-378.

Lechner MS, Schultz DC, Negorev D, Maul GG and Rauscher FJ, 3rd (2005) The mammalian heterochromatin protein 1 binds diverse nuclear proteins through a common motif that targets the chromoshadow domain. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **331**:929-937.

Ledbetter DH, Riccardi VM, Airhart SD, Strobel RJ, Keenan BS and Crawford JD (1981) Deletions of chromosome 15 as a cause of the Prader-Willi syndrome. *The New England journal of medicine* **304**:325-329.

Lefebvre L (2012) The placental imprintome and imprinted gene function in the trophoblast glycogen cell lineage. *Reproductive biomedicine online* **25**:44-57.

Leighton PA, Saam JR, Ingram RS, Stewart CL and Tilghman SM (1995) An enhancer deletion affects both H19 and Igf2 expression. *Genes & development* **9**:2079-2089.

Lewis JD, Meehan RR, Henzel WJ, Maurer-Fogy I, Jeppesen P, Klein F and Bird A (1992) Purification, sequence, and cellular localization of a novel chromosomal protein that binds to methylated DNA. *Cell* **69**:905-914.

Lewis PW, Elsaesser SJ, Noh KM, Stadler SC and Allis CD (2010) Daxx is an H3.3specific histone chaperone and cooperates with ATRX in replication-independent chromatin assembly at telomeres. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**:14075-14080.

Li G, Fullwood MJ, Xu H, Mulawadi FH, Velkov S, Vega V, Ariyaratne PN, Mohamed YB, Ooi HS, Tennakoon C, Wei CL, Ruan Y and Sung WK (2010) ChIA-PET tool for comprehensive chromatin interaction analysis with paired-end tag sequencing. *Genome biology* **11**:R22.

Li T, Hu JF, Qiu X, Ling J, Chen H, Wang S, Hou A, Vu TH and Hoffman AR (2008) CTCF regulates allelic expression of Igf2 by orchestrating a promoter-polycomb repressive complex 2 intrachromosomal loop. *Molecular and cellular biology* **28**:6473-6482.

Lieberman-Aiden E, van Berkum NL, Williams L, Imakaev M, Ragoczy T, Telling A, Amit I, Lajoie BR, Sabo PJ, Dorschner MO, Sandstrom R, Bernstein B, Bender MA, Groudine M, Gnirke A, Stamatoyannopoulos J, Mirny LA, Lander ES and Dekker J (2009) Comprehensive mapping of long-range interactions reveals folding principles of the human genome. *Science* **326**:289-293.

Ling JQ, Li T, Hu JF, Vu TH, Chen HL, Qiu XW, Cherry AM and Hoffman AR (2006) CTCF mediates interchromosomal colocalization between Igf2/H19 and Wsb1/Nf1. *Science* **312**:269-272.

Liu Q, Wang Y, Chen Y, Zhang FW, Gu TT, Qu YP, Yue L and Wu Q (2009) [The expression analysis of Grb10 during mouse embryonic development]. *Yi chuan* = *Hereditas / Zhongguo yi chuan xue hui bian ji* **31**:732-740.

Losada A, Hirano M and Hirano T (1998) Identification of Xenopus SMC protein complexes required for sister chromatid cohesion. *Genes & development* **12**:1986-1997.

Lui JC, Finkielstain GP, Barnes KM and Baron J (2008) An imprinted gene network that controls mammalian somatic growth is downregulated during postnatal growth deceleration in multiple organs. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **295**:R189-196.

Luikenhuis S, Giacometti E, Beard CF and Jaenisch R (2004) Expression of MeCP2 in postmitotic neurons rescues Rett syndrome in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **101**:6033-6038.

Majumder P and Boss JM (2010) CTCF controls expression and chromatin architecture of the human major histocompatibility complex class II locus. *Molecular and cellular biology* **30**:4211-4223.

Makedonski K, Abuhatzira L, Kaufman Y, Razin A and Shemer R (2005) MeCP2 deficiency in Rett syndrome causes epigenetic aberrations at the PWS/AS imprinting center that affects UBE3A expression. *Human molecular genetics* **14**:1049-1058.

Matsuura T, Sutcliffe JS, Fang P, Galjaard RJ, Jiang YH, Benton CS, Rommens JM and Beaudet AL (1997) De novo truncating mutations in E6-AP ubiquitin-protein ligase gene (UBE3A) in Angelman syndrome. *Nature genetics* **15**:74-77.

McCauley E, Kay T, Ito J and Treder R (1987) The Turner syndrome: cognitive deficits, affective discrimination, and behavior problems. *Child Dev* **58**:464-473.

McDowell TL, Gibbons RJ, Sutherland H, O'Rourke DM, Bickmore WA, Pombo A, Turley H, Gatter K, Picketts DJ, Buckle VJ, Chapman L, Rhodes D and Higgs DR (1999) Localization of a putative transcriptional regulator (ATRX) at pericentromeric heterochromatin and the short arms of acrocentric chromosomes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **96**:13983-13988.

McGrath J and Solter D (1984a) Completion of mouse embryogenesis requires both the maternal and paternal genomes. *Cell* **37**:179-183.

McGrath J and Solter D (1984b) Inability of mouse blastomere nuclei transferred to enucleated zygotes to support development in vitro. *Science* **226**:1317-1319.

Medina CF, Mazerolle C, Wang Y, Bérubé NG, Coupland S, Gibbons RJ, Wallace VA and Picketts DJ (2009) Altered visual function and interneuron survival in Atrx knockout mice: inference for the human syndrome. *Human molecular genetics* **18**:966-977.

Meehan RR, Lewis JD and Bird AP (1992) Characterization of MeCP2, a vertebrate DNA binding protein with affinity for methylated DNA. *Nucleic acids research* **20**:5085-5092.

Mehta GD, Rizvi SM and Ghosh SK (2012) Cohesin: a guardian of genome integrity. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* **1823**:1324-1342.

Michaelis C, Ciosk R and Nasmyth K (1997) Cohesins: chromosomal proteins that prevent premature separation of sister chromatids. *Cell* **91**:35-45.

Miller NL, Wevrick R and Mellon PL (2009) Necdin, a Prader-Willi syndrome candidate gene, regulates gonadotropin-releasing hormone neurons during development. *Human molecular genetics* **18**:248-260.

Mitson M, Kelley LA, Sternberg MJ, Higgs DR and Gibbons RJ (2011) Functional significance of mutations in the Snf2 domain of ATRX. *Human molecular genetics* **20**:2603-2610.

Miyano M, Horike S, Cai S, Oshimura M and Kohwi-Shigematsu T (2008) DLX5 expression is monoallelic and Dlx5 is up-regulated in the Mecp2-null frontal cortex. *Journal of cellular and molecular medicine* **12**:1188-1191.

Moore T, Constancia M, Zubair M, Bailleul B, Feil R, Sasaki H and Reik W (1997) Multiple imprinted sense and antisense transcripts, differential methylation and tandem repeats in a putative imprinting control region upstream of mouse Igf2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **94**:12509-12514. Morison IM, Becroft DM, Taniguchi T, Woods CG and Reeve AE (1996) Somatic overgrowth associated with overexpression of insulin-like growth factor II. *Nature medicine* **2**:311-316.

Moser SC and Swedlow JR (2011) How to be a mitotic chromosome. *Chromosome* research : an international journal on the molecular, supramolecular and evolutionary aspects of chromosome biology **19**:307-319.

MRC Harwell (2013) MRC Harwell: an international centre for mouse genetics.

Murrell A, Heeson S and Reik W (2004) Interaction between differentially methylated regions partitions the imprinted genes Igf2 and H19 into parent-specific chromatin loops. *Nature genetics* **36**:889-893.

Muscatelli F, Abrous DN, Massacrier A, Boccaccio I, Le Moal M, Cau P and Cremer H (2000) Disruption of the mouse Necdin gene results in hypothalamic and behavioral alterations reminiscent of the human Prader-Willi syndrome. *Human molecular genetics* **9**:3101-3110.

Nan X, Hou J, Maclean A, Nasir J, Lafuente MJ, Shu X, Kriaucionis S and Bird A (2007) Interaction between chromatin proteins MECP2 and ATRX is disrupted by mutations that cause inherited mental retardation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**:2709-2714.

Nan X, Meehan RR and Bird A (1993) Dissection of the methyl CpG binding domain from the chromosomal protein MeCP2. *Nucleic acids research* **21**:4886-4892.

Nan X, Ng HH, Johnson CA, Laherty CD, Turner BM, Eisenman RN and Bird A (1998) Transcriptional repression by the methyl CpG-binding protein MeCP2 involves a histone deacetylase complex. *Nature* **393**:386-389.

Nan X, Tate P, Li E and Bird A (1996) DNA methylation specifies chromosomal localization of MeCP2. *Molecular and cellular biology* **16**:414-421.
Nasmyth K and Haering CH (2009) Cohesin: its roles and mechanisms. *Annual review of genetics* **43**:525-558.

Nativio R, Wendt KS, Ito Y, Huddleston JE, Uribe-Lewis S, Woodfine K, Krueger C, Reik W, Peters JM and Murrell A (2009) Cohesin is required for higher-order chromatin conformation at the imprinted IGF2-H19 locus. *PLoS genetics* **5**:e1000739.

Nikitina T, Ghosh RP, Horowitz-Scherer RA, Hansen JC, Grigoryev SA and Woodcock CL (2007) MeCP2-chromatin interactions include the formation of chromatosome-like structures and are altered in mutations causing Rett syndrome. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **282**:28237-28245.

Nogami T, Beppu H, Tokoro T, Moriguchi S, Shioda N, Fukunaga K, Ohtsuka T, Ishii Y, Sasahara M, Shimada Y, Nishijo H, Li E and Kitajima I (2011) Reduced expression of the ATRX gene, a chromatin-remodeling factor, causes hippocampal dysfunction in mice. *Hippocampus* **21**:678-687.

Noordermeer D and de Laat W (2008) Joining the loops: beta-globin gene regulation. *IUBMB life* **60**:824-833.

Nuber UA, Kriaucionis S, Roloff TC, Guy J, Selfridge J, Steinhoff C, Schulz R, Lipkowitz B, Ropers HH, Holmes MC and Bird A (2005) Up-regulation of glucocorticoid-regulated genes in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. *Human molecular genetics* 14:2247-2256.

Ohlsson R, Hedborg F, Holmgren L, Walsh C and Ekstrom TJ (1994) Overlapping patterns of IGF2 and H19 expression during human development: biallelic IGF2 expression correlates with a lack of H19 expression. *Development* **120**:361-368.

Panizza S, Tanaka T, Hochwagen A, Eisenhaber F and Nasmyth K (2000) Pds5 cooperates with Cohesin in maintaining sister chromatid cohesion. *Current biology : CB* **10**:1557-1564.

Papantonis A, Kohro T, Baboo S, Larkin JD, Deng B, Short P, Tsutsumi S, Taylor S, Kanki Y, Kobayashi M, Li G, Poh HM, Ruan X, Aburatani H, Ruan Y, Kodama T, Wada

Y and Cook PR (2012) TNFalpha signals through specialized factories where responsive coding and miRNA genes are transcribed. *The EMBO journal* **31**:4404-4414.

Phillips JE and Corces VG (2009) CTCF: master weaver of the genome. *Cell* **137**:1194-1211.

Picketts DJ, Higgs DR, Bachoo S, Blake DJ, Quarrell OW and Gibbons RJ (1996) ATRX encodes a novel member of the SNF2 family of proteins: mutations point to a common mechanism underlying the ATR-X syndrome. *Human molecular genetics* **5**:1899-1907.

Picketts DJ, Tastan AO, Higgs DR and Gibbons RJ (1998) Comparison of the human and murine ATRX gene identifies highly conserved, functionally important domains. *Mammalian genome : official journal of the International Mammalian Genome Society* 9:400-403.

Piedrahita JA (2011) The role of imprinted genes in fetal growth abnormalities. *Birth defects research Part A, Clinical and molecular teratology* **91**:682-692.

Qiu X, Vu TH, Lu Q, Ling JQ, Li T, Hou A, Wang SK, Chen HL, Hu JF and Hoffman AR (2008) A complex deoxyribonucleic acid looping configuration associated with the silencing of the maternal Igf2 allele. *Mol Endocrinol* **22**:1476-1488.

Quina AS, Buschbeck M and Di Croce L (2006) Chromatin structure and epigenetics. *Biochemical pharmacology* **72**:1563-1569.

Remeseiro S and Losada A (2013) Cohesin, a chromatin engagement ring. *Current* opinion in cell biology **25**:63-71.

Ren J, Lee S, Pagliardini S, Gerard M, Stewart CL, Greer JJ and Wevrick R (2003) Absence of Ndn, encoding the Prader-Willi syndrome-deleted gene necdin, results in congenital deficiency of central respiratory drive in neonatal mice. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* **23**:1569-1573.

Revenkova E, Focarelli ML, Susani L, Paulis M, Bassi MT, Mannini L, Frattini A, Delia D, Krantz I, Vezzoni P, Jessberger R and Musio A (2009) Cornelia de Lange syndrome

mutations in SMC1A or SMC3 affect binding to DNA. *Human molecular genetics* **18**:418-427.

Ribeiro de Almeida C, Stadhouders R, Thongjuea S, Soler E and Hendriks RW (2012) DNA-binding factor CTCF and long-range gene interactions in V(D)J recombination and oncogene activation. *Blood* **119**:6209-6218.

Ritchie K, Seah C, Moulin J, Isaac C, Dick F and Bérubé NG (2008) Loss of ATRX leads to chromosome cohesion and congression defects. *The Journal of cell biology* **180**:315-324.

Royo H and Cavaille J (2008) Non-coding RNAs in imprinted gene clusters. *Biol Cell* **100**:149-166.

Rubio ED, Reiss DJ, Welcsh PL, Disteche CM, Filippova GN, Baliga NS, Aebersold R, Ranish JA and Krumm A (2008) CTCF physically links Cohesin to chromatin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**:8309-8314.

Samaco RC, Hogart A and LaSalle JM (2005) Epigenetic overlap in autism-spectrum neurodevelopmental disorders: MECP2 deficiency causes reduced expression of UBE3A and GABRB3. *Human molecular genetics* **14**:483-492.

Sandhu KS, Shi C, Sjolinder M, Zhao Z, Gondor A, Liu L, Tiwari VK, Guibert S, Emilsson L, Imreh MP and Ohlsson R (2009) Nonallelic transvection of multiple imprinted loci is organized by the H19 imprinting control region during germline development. *Genes & development* **23**:2598-2603.

Sasaki H, Ferguson-Smith AC, Shum AS, Barton SC and Surani MA (1995) Temporal and spatial regulation of H19 imprinting in normal and uniparental mouse embryos. *Development* **121**:4195-4202.

Schoenherr CJ, Levorse JM and Tilghman SM (2003) CTCF maintains differential methylation at the Igf2/H19 locus. *Nature genetics* **33**:66-69.

Schule B, Armstrong DD, Vogel H, Oviedo A and Francke U (2008) Severe congenital encephalopathy caused by MECP2 null mutations in males: central hypoxia and reduced neuronal dendritic structure. *Clinical genetics* **74**:116-126.

Seah C, Levy MA, Jiang Y, Mokhtarzada S, Higgs DR, Gibbons RJ and Bérubé NG (2008) Neuronal death resulting from targeted disruption of the Snf2 protein ATRX is mediated by p53. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* **28**:12570-12580.

Seitan VC, Banks P, Laval S, Majid NA, Dorsett D, Rana A, Smith J, Bateman A, Krpic S, Hostert A, Rollins RA, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Benard CY, Hekimi S, Newbury SF and Strachan T (2006) Metazoan Scc4 homologs link sister chromatid cohesion to cell and axon migration guidance. *PLoS biology* **4**:e242.

Seitan VC, Hao B, Tachibana-Konwalski K, Lavagnolli T, Mira-Bontenbal H, Brown KE, Teng G, Carroll T, Terry A, Horan K, Marks H, Adams DJ, Schatz DG, Aragon L, Fisher AG, Krangel MS, Nasmyth K and Merkenschlager M (2011) A role for Cohesin in T-cell-receptor rearrangement and thymocyte differentiation. *Nature* **476**:467-471.

Seitan VC and Merkenschlager M (2012) Cohesin and chromatin organisation. *Current* opinion in genetics & development **22**:93-100.

Sekimata M, Perez-Melgosa M, Miller SA, Weinmann AS, Sabo PJ, Sandstrom R, Dorschner MO, Stamatoyannopoulos JA and Wilson CB (2009) CCCTC-binding factor and the transcription factor T-bet orchestrate T helper 1 cell-specific structure and function at the interferon-gamma locus. *Immunity* **31**:551-564.

Shahbazian M, Young J, Yuva-Paylor L, Spencer C, Antalffy B, Noebels J, Armstrong D, Paylor R and Zoghbi H (2002) Mice with truncated MeCP2 recapitulate many Rett syndrome features and display hyperacetylation of histone H3. *Neuron* **35**:243-254.

Shahbazian MD and Zoghbi HY (2001) Molecular genetics of Rett syndrome and clinical spectrum of MECP2 mutations. *Current opinion in neurology* **14**:171-176.

Shamu CE and Murray AW (1992) Sister chromatid separation in frog egg extracts requires DNA topoisomerase II activity during anaphase. *The Journal of cell biology* **117**:921-934.

Shintomi K and Hirano T (2010) Sister chromatid resolution: a Cohesin releasing network and beyond. *Chromosoma* **119**:459-467.

Shioda N, Beppu H, Fukuda T, Li E, Kitajima I and Fukunaga K (2011) Aberrant calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) activity is associated with abnormal dendritic spine morphology in the ATRX mutant mouse brain. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* **31**:346-358.

Simonis M, Klous P, Splinter E, Moshkin Y, Willemsen R, de Wit E, van Steensel B and de Laat W (2006) Nuclear organization of active and inactive chromatin domains uncovered by chromosome conformation capture-on-chip (4C). *Nature genetics* **38**:1348-1354.

Skene PJ, Illingworth RS, Webb S, Kerr AR, James KD, Turner DJ, Andrews R and Bird AP (2010) Neuronal MeCP2 is expressed at near histone-octamer levels and globally alters the chromatin state. *Molecular cell* **37**:457-468.

Skuse DH, James RS, Bishop DV, Coppin B, Dalton P, Aamodt-Leeper G, Bacarese-Hamilton M, Creswell C, McGurk R and Jacobs PA (1997) Evidence from Turner's syndrome of an imprinted X-linked locus affecting cognitive function. *Nature* **387**:705-708.

Smith ZD and Meissner A (2013) DNA methylation: roles in mammalian development. *Nature reviews Genetics* **14**:204-220.

Solomon LA, Li JR, Bérubé NG and Beier F (2009) Loss of ATRX in chondrocytes has minimal effects on skeletal development. *PloS one* **4**:e7106.

Song SH, Hou C and Dean A (2007) A positive role for NLI/Ldb1 in long-range betaglobin locus control region function. *Molecular cell* **28**:810-822. Spahn L and Barlow DP (2003) An ICE pattern crystallizes. *Nature genetics* 35:11-12.

Splinter E, de Wit E, van de Werken HJ, Klous P and de Laat W (2012) Determining long-range chromatin interactions for selected genomic sites using 4C-seq technology: from fixation to computation. *Methods* **58**:221-230.

Splinter E, Heath H, Kooren J, Palstra RJ, Klous P, Grosveld F, Galjart N and de Laat W (2006) CTCF mediates long-range chromatin looping and local histone modification in the beta-globin locus. *Genes & development* **20**:2349-2354.

Srivastava M, Hsieh S, Grinberg A, Williams-Simons L, Huang SP and Pfeifer K (2000) H19 and Igf2 monoallelic expression is regulated in two distinct ways by a shared cis acting regulatory region upstream of H19. *Genes & development* **14**:1186-1195.

Stedman W, Kang H, Lin S, Kissil JL, Bartolomei MS and Lieberman PM (2008) Cohesins localize with CTCF at the KSHV latency control region and at cellular c-myc and H19/Igf2 insulators. *The EMBO journal* **27**:654-666.

Stuhmer T, Anderson SA, Ekker M and Rubenstein JL (2002) Ectopic expression of the Dlx genes induces glutamic acid decarboxylase and Dlx expression. *Development* **129**:245-252.

Sumara I, Vorlaufer E, Gieffers C, Peters BH and Peters JM (2000) Characterization of vertebrate Cohesin complexes and their regulation in prophase. *The Journal of cell biology* **151**:749-762.

Surani MA, Barton SC and Norris ML (1984) Development of reconstituted mouse eggs suggests imprinting of the genome during gametogenesis. *Nature* **308**:548-550.

Svensson K, Walsh C, Fundele R and Ohlsson R (1995) H19 is imprinted in the choroid plexus and leptomeninges of the mouse foetus. *Mechanisms of development* **51**:31-37.

Takahashi T, Matsuzaki H, Tomizawa S, Okamura E, Ichiyanagi T, Fukamizu A, Sasaki H and Tanimoto K (2012) Sequences in the H19 ICR that are transcribed as small RNA

in oocytes are dispensable for methylation imprinting in YAC transgenic mice. *Gene* **508**:26-34.

Tang J, Wu S, Liu H, Stratt R, Barak OG, Shiekhattar R, Picketts DJ and Yang X (2004) A novel transcription regulatory complex containing death domain-associated protein and the ATR-X syndrome protein. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **279**:20369-20377.

Thorvaldsen JL, Duran KL and Bartolomei MS (1998) Deletion of the H19 differentially methylated domain results in loss of imprinted expression of H19 and Igf2. *Genes & development* **12**:3693-3702.

Tiwari VK and Baylin SB (2009) Combined 3C-ChIP-cloning (6C) assay: a tool to unravel protein-mediated genome architecture. *Cold Spring Harbor protocols* **2009**:pdb prot5168.

Toth A, Ciosk R, Uhlmann F, Galova M, Schleiffer A and Nasmyth K (1999) Yeast Cohesin complex requires a conserved protein, Eco1p(Ctf7), to establish cohesion between sister chromatids during DNA replication. *Genes & development* **13**:320-333.

Tremblay KD, Duran KL and Bartolomei MS (1997) A 5' 2-kilobase-pair region of the imprinted mouse H19 gene exhibits exclusive paternal methylation throughout development. *Molecular and cellular biology* **17**:4322-4329.

Tremblay KD, Saam JR, Ingram RS, Tilghman SM and Bartolomei MS (1995) A paternal-specific methylation imprint marks the alleles of the mouse H19 gene. *Nature genetics* **9**:407-413.

Tropea D, Giacometti E, Wilson NR, Beard C, McCurry C, Fu DD, Flannery R, Jaenisch R and Sur M (2009) Partial reversal of Rett Syndrome-like symptoms in MeCP2 mutant mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**:2029-2034.

Tudor M, Akbarian S, Chen RZ and Jaenisch R (2002) Transcriptional profiling of a mouse model for Rett syndrome reveals subtle transcriptional changes in the brain.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **99**:15536-15541.

Uhlmann F and Nasmyth K (1998) Cohesion between sister chromatids must be established during DNA replication. *Current biology* : *CB* **8**:1095-1101.

Umlauf D, Goto Y, Cao R, Cerqueira F, Wagschal A, Zhang Y and Feil R (2004) Imprinting along the Kcnq1 domain on mouse chromosome 7 involves repressive histone methylation and recruitment of Polycomb group complexes. *Nature genetics* **36**:1296-1300.

Urdinguio RG, Lopez-Serra L, Lopez-Nieva P, Alaminos M, Diaz-Uriarte R, Fernandez AF and Esteller M (2008) Mecp2-null mice provide new neuronal targets for Rett syndrome. *PloS one* **3**:e3669.

Vakoc CR, Letting DL, Gheldof N, Sawado T, Bender MA, Groudine M, Weiss MJ, Dekker J and Blobel GA (2005) Proximity among distant regulatory elements at the betaglobin locus requires GATA-1 and FOG-1. *Molecular cell* **17**:453-462.

van Berkum NL, Lieberman-Aiden E, Williams L, Imakaev M, Gnirke A, Mirny LA, Dekker J and Lander ES (2010) Hi-C: a method to study the three-dimensional architecture of genomes. *Journal of visualized experiments : JoVE*.

Varrault A, Gueydan C, Delalbre A, Bellmann A, Houssami S, Aknin C, Severac D, Chotard L, Kahli M, Le Digarcher A, Pavlidis P and Journot L (2006) Zac1 regulates an imprinted gene network critically involved in the control of embryonic growth. *Developmental cell* **11**:711-722.

Vaur S, Feytout A, Vazquez S and Javerzat JP (2012) Pds5 promotes Cohesin acetylation and stable Cohesin-chromosome interaction. *EMBO reports* **13**:645-652.

Vernimmen D, De Gobbi M, Sloane-Stanley JA, Wood WG and Higgs DR (2007) Longrange chromosomal interactions regulate the timing of the transition between poised and active gene expression. *The EMBO journal* **26**:2041-2051. Vu TH, Nguyen AH and Hoffman AR (2010) Loss of IGF2 imprinting is associated with abrogation of long-range intrachromosomal interactions in human cancer cells. *Human molecular genetics* **19**:901-919.

Wan LB and Bartolomei MS (2008) Regulation of imprinting in clusters: noncoding RNAs versus insulators. *Advances in genetics* **61**:207-223.

Wang LH, Schwarzbraun T, Speicher MR and Nigg EA (2008) Persistence of DNA threads in human anaphase cells suggests late completion of sister chromatid decatenation. *Chromosoma* **117**:123-135.

Watrin E, Schleiffer A, Tanaka K, Eisenhaber F, Nasmyth K and Peters JM (2006) Human Scc4 is required for Cohesin binding to chromatin, sister-chromatid cohesion, and mitotic progression. *Current biology : CB* **16**:863-874.

Watson LA, Solomon LA, Li JR, Jiang Y, Edwards M, Shin-Ya K, Beier F and Bérubé NG (2013) Atrx deficiency induces telomere dysfunction, endocrine defects, and reduced life span. *The Journal of clinical investigation*.

Weber M, Milligan L, Delalbre A, Antoine E, Brunel C, Cathala G and Forne T (2001) Extensive tissue-specific variation of allelic methylation in the Igf2 gene during mouse fetal development: relation to expression and imprinting. *Mechanisms of development* **101**:133-141.

Wendt KS and Peters JM (2009) How Cohesin and CTCF cooperate in regulating gene expression. *Chromosome research : an international journal on the molecular, supramolecular and evolutionary aspects of chromosome biology* **17**:201-214.

Wong LH, McGhie JD, Sim M, Anderson MA, Ahn S, Hannan RD, George AJ, Morgan KA, Mann JR and Choo KH (2010) ATRX interacts with H3.3 in maintaining telomere structural integrity in pluripotent embryonic stem cells. *Genome research* **20**:351-360.

Wu C, MacLeod I and Su A (2013a) BioGPS and MyGene.info: organizing online, geneentric information. Wu C, Macleod I and Su AI (2013b) BioGPS and MyGene.info: organizing online, genecentric information. *Nucleic acids research* **41**:D561-565.

Xie S, Wang Z, Okano M, Nogami M, Li Y, He WW, Okumura K and Li E (1999) Cloning, expression and chromosome locations of the human DNMT3 gene family. *Gene* **236**:87-95.

Xu Z, Wei G, Chepelev I, Zhao K and Felsenfeld G (2011) Mapping of INS promoter interactions reveals its role in long-range regulation of SYT8 transcription. *Nature structural & molecular biology* **18**:372-378.

Xue Y, Gibbons R, Yan Z, Yang D, McDowell TL, Sechi S, Qin J, Zhou S, Higgs D and Wang W (2003) The ATRX syndrome protein forms a chromatin-remodeling complex with Daxx and localizes in promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **100**:10635-10640.

Yao X, Zha W, Song W, He H, Huang M, Jazrawi E, Lavender P, Barnes PJ, Adcock IM and Durham AL (2012) Coordinated regulation of IL-4 and IL-13 expression in human T cells: 3C analysis for DNA looping. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **417**:996-1001.

Yasui DH, Peddada S, Bieda MC, Vallero RO, Hogart A, Nagarajan RP, Thatcher KN, Farnham PJ and Lasalle JM (2007) Integrated epigenomic analyses of neuronal MeCP2 reveal a role for long-range interaction with active genes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**:19416-19421.

Yasui DH, Xu H, Dunaway KW, Lasalle JM, Jin LW and Maezawa I (2013) MeCP2 modulates gene expression pathways in astrocytes. *Molecular autism* **4**:3.

Yoo-Warren H, Pachnis V, Ingram RS and Tilghman SM (1988) Two regulatory domains flank the mouse H19 gene. *Molecular and cellular biology* **8**:4707-4715.

Zhao H, Kim A, Song SH and Dean A (2006a) Enhancer blocking by chicken beta-globin 5'-HS4: role of enhancer strength and insulator nucleosome depletion. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **281**:30573-30580.

Zhao R, Bodnar MS and Spector DL (2009) Nuclear neighborhoods and gene expression. *Current opinion in genetics & development* **19**:172-179.

Zhao Z, Tavoosidana G, Sjolinder M, Gondor A, Mariano P, Wang S, Kanduri C, Lezcano M, Sandhu KS, Singh U, Pant V, Tiwari V, Kurukuti S and Ohlsson R (2006b) Circular chromosome conformation capture (4C) uncovers extensive networks of epigenetically regulated intra- and interchromosomal interactions. *Nature genetics* **38**:1341-1347.

Zhou Z, Hong EJ, Cohen S, Zhao WN, Ho HY, Schmidt L, Chen WG, Lin Y, Savner E, Griffith EC, Hu L, Steen JA, Weitz CJ and Greenberg ME (2006) Brain-specific phosphorylation of MeCP2 regulates activity-dependent Bdnf transcription, dendritic growth, and spine maturation. *Neuron* **52**:255-269.

# Chapter 2

# 2 ATRX Partners with Cohesin and MeCP2 and Contributes to Developmental Silencing of Imprinted Genes in the Brain

Prior to the research presented in this chapter, no direct gene expression targets of the ATRX protein had been identified. A previous study from our laboratory reported a series of microarray experiments in control and ATRX-null forebrains at E13.5 and P0.5(Levy et al., 2008). Further analysis of these microarrays revealed that the expression of several imprinted genes, including *H19*, *Igf2*, *Sgce*, *Peg10* and *Dlx5* were upregulated at P0.5, but not at E13.5. In this chapter I sought to investigate whether ATRX was required for the direct regulation of imprinted gene expression in the mouse forebrain and began to investigating a mechanism for this regulation.

This chapter was previously published as (Kernohan et al., 2010). Permission for reproduction is found in Appendix C.

# 2.1 Introduction

Mounting evidence indicates that the maintenance of chromatin architecture is essential for normal human development and cognitive function. Several human disorders, such as Alpha-Thalassemia mental Retardation, X linked (ATR-X), Rett (RTT), Cornelia de Lange (CdLS), Roberts, Rubinstein-Taybi and Immunodeficiency, Chromosome instability and Facial anomalies (ICF) Syndromes, are caused by mutations in key regulators of chromatin structure and function(Amir et al., 1999; Deardorff et al., 2007; Gibbons et al., 1995; Hansen et al., 1999; Krantz et al., 2004; Musio et al., 2006; Petrij et al., 1995; Vega et al., 2005). Although clearly distinct from one another, many of these disorders share similar clinical features. Whether common symptoms are due to underlying interlinked molecular mechanisms is still poorly understood.

ATR-X Syndrome, caused by mutations in the *ATRX* gene, is one of the prototypical disorders of chromatin dysfunction(Gibbons et al., 2008). ATRX belongs to the sucrose

non-fermenting 2 (SNF2) family of chromatin remodeling proteins, a class of enzymes that utilize the energy of adenosine tri-phosphate (ATP) hydrolysis to disrupt nucleosome stability(Eisen et al., 1995; Picketts et al., 1996). ATR-X patients typically exhibit severe mental retardation, lack of speech development, seizures, microcephaly, alphathalassaemia and other developmental defects(Gibbons and Higgs, 2000). Atrx loss-offunction studies in mice have revealed its requirement for the normal development of the extra-embryonic trophoblast(Garrick et al., 2006) and of the cerebral cortex and hippocampus(Bérubé et al., 2005; Seah et al., 2008). At the molecular level, epigenetic alterations have been detected, including abnormal levels of DNA methylation at repetitive elements(Gibbons et al., 2000). Recently, it was reported that ATRX and methyl CpG binding protein 2 (MeCP2) interact in vitro, and that they co-localize at pericentromeric heterochromatin(Nan et al., 2007). MeCP2, like ATRX, is essential for normal brain function, and females with heterozygous mutations develop Rett syndrome, an autism-spectrum neurodevelopmental disorder(Amir et al., 1999). Importantly, MeCP2 is required for the proper localization of ATRX at pericentromeric heterochromatin in mature neurons of the mouse brain as determined by immunofluorescence studies(Nan et al., 2007).

We previously reported that loss of ATRX results in altered expression of certain genes in the mouse forebrain, including the ancestral pseudoautosomal genes(Levy et al., 2008). However, we also found that depletion of ATRX in human somatic cells resulted in chromosome misalignment and sister chromatid cohesion defects during mitosis(De La Fuente et al., 2004; Ritchie et al., 2008). Thus, it appears that ATRX plays a dual role in the regulation of cohesion during mitosis and the control of gene expression in interphase. This is reminiscent of the Cohesin complex, which has well-established functions in both mitotic chromosome cohesion and gene expression. The regulation of gene expression by Cohesin and its regulatory factors is thought to underlie developmental defects seen in patients with CdLS(Borck et al., 2007; Deardorff et al., 2007; Kawauchi et al., 2009; Krantz et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2009; Musio et al., 2006).

We now demonstrate that ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin interact in the mouse brain *in vivo* and co-localize at the *H19/Igf2* and *Gtl2/Dlk1* imprinted regions. At the *H19/Igf2* 

domain, this interaction is maternally-biased at the *H19* ICR. We further show that ATRX is required for normal recruitment of MeCP2, Cohesin and the insulator protein CTCF and alters the expression of a connected network of imprinted genes in the postnatal brain. We speculate that ATRX, along with its binding partners Cohesin and MeCP2, regulates the expression of this imprinted gene network (IGN) by controlling higher-order chromatin structure.

## 2.2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.1 Animal Husbandry

Conditional deletion of *Atrx* in the mouse forebrain was achieved by crossing *Atrx<sup>loxP</sup>* females with heterozygous *Foxg1Cre* knock-in males, as previously described(Bérubé et al., 2005). The *Atrx<sup>loxP</sup>* line was kindly provided by D. Higgs (Weatherall Institute of Molecular Medicine, John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford, United Kingdom). For the developmental studies, midday of vaginal plug discovery was considered E0.5. For allele-specific expression studies, pups were obtained by mating 129Sv female mice with *Mus musculus castaneus* male mice (CAST; The Jackson Laboratory). To generate polymorphic ATRX-deficient animals, heterozygous *Atrx<sup>loxP/wt</sup> Foxg1Cre<sup>+/-</sup>* females (129Sv) were mated with CAST males. *Mecp2<sup>tm2Bird</sup>* mice were generated by crossing B6;129P2-*Mecp2<sup>tm2Bird</sup>* heterozygous females (The Jackson Laboratory) with wild-type males (C57BL6, The Jackson Laboratory). All animal studies were conducted in compliance with the regulations of The Animals for Research Act of the province of Ontario, the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care, and the policies and procedures approved by the University of Western Ontario Council on Animal Care.

#### 2.2.2 Co-Immunoprecipitation

Nuclear lysates, obtained from forebrain tissue using the Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Extraction kit (NE-PER, Thermo Scientific) were incubated with anti-ATRX antibody (Fxnp5, gift of Richard Gibbons), anti-SMC3 antibody (Bethyl Laboratories) or anti-MeCP2 (gift of Janine M. LaSalle) for 2 hours at 4 °C. Normal sheep and rabbit IgG (Santa Cruz), and chicken IgY (Santa Cruz) were used as negative controls. Samples were then incubated with Dynabeads protein G (Invitrogen) for one hour at 4 °C. The supernatant was then re-incubated 1 hour with Dynabeads protein G for one hour. The two aliquots were then combined. Immunoprecipitates were washed 5 times with 1ml of 0.1% Tween-20 in phosphate buffered saline (PBS), eluted, and resolved on 8% SDS-PAGE. Western blot analysis was carried out using an anti-ATRX antibody (H300, Santa Cruz), anti-MeCP2 (gift of Janine M. LaSalle), anti-SMC1, anti-SMC3, and anti-Rad21 (Bethyl Laboratories).

## 2.2.3 ChIP Analysis

Mouse forebrain tissue was rinsed in cold PBS, cut and homogenized. Minced tissue was diluted with DMEM (Sigma-Aldrich) and passed through a 70 µm cell strainer (BD Falcon) to ensure single cell suspension. For chromatin immunoprecipitation, an EZ-ChIP (Upstate) kit was used according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, cells were cross-linked in 1% formaldehyde, lysed in SDS buffer and sonicated. Immunoprecipitation was performed using the following antibodies: anti-ATRX (Fxnp5, gift of Richard Gibbons), anti-ATRX (Bethyl laboratories), anti-SMC1 (Bethyl laboratories), anti-SMC3 (Bethyl laboratories), anti-CTCF (Upstate) and antibodies to MeCP2, H3Ac, H4Ac, H3K9me2, H3K9me3 and H4K20me3 (Upstate). Rabbit (Upstate), sheep (Santa Cruz), and goat (Santa Cruz) IgGs were used as controls. Input samples represent 1/25 of total chromatin input. Conditions for amplification were as follows: 95 °C for 5 minutes followed by 30 cycles of 95 °C for 30 seconds, 55.5 °C for 30 seconds, and 72 °C for 30 seconds. A final extension was performed at 72 °C for 5 minutes. Real-time PCR experiments were conducted with 95 °C for 5 minutes followed by 35 cycles of 95 °C for 10 seconds, 55.5 °C for 20 seconds, and 72 °C for 30 seconds. ChIP re-ChIP experiments were performed as described above, with the following exceptions: subsequent to incubation with the first antibody, samples were washed with low and high salt buffers (Upstate) and eluted in 10 mM DTT (Invitrogen) for 40 minutes. Eluted samples were diluted with re-ChIP buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 2 mM EDTA, 150 mM NaCl, and 0.1% Triton X-100) and immunoprecipitated overnight with the second antibody. This procedure was repeated for the sequential triple ChIP experiment. Allele-specific ChIP analysis was performed as described on 129Sv/CAST  $F_1$  forebrain tissue. PCR amplification was performed for the H19 ICR region 5' and the

resulting product digested with SacI and MfeI (NEB) for 2 to 4 hours at 37 °C and resolved on a 7% polyacrylamide gel. The gel was stained with ethidium bromide and visualized via a UV trans-illuminator (BioRad). Primer sequences are available upon request.

### 2.2.4 Quantitative ChIP

ChIP products obtained from P17  $Atrx^{Foxg1Cre}$  and littermate control forebrain tissue were amplified in duplicate or triplicate with iQ<sup>TM</sup> SYBR<sup>®</sup> Green master mix (BioRad) on a Chromo-4 thermocycler using the following conditions: 95 °C for 5 minutes followed by 40 cycles of 95 °C for 10 seconds, 55 °C for 20 seconds, 72 °C for 30 seconds, and a final melting curve generated from 55 to 95 °C in increments of 1°C per plate read. Fold change and % input formulas were adapted from (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2008) as follows: Fold change = 2^( $\Delta Ct_{Control}$ - $\Delta Ct_{Control}$ )-( $\Delta Ct_{Control}$ - $\Delta Ct_{KO}$ );  $\Delta Ct$ = ( $Ct_{target}$  –  $Ct_{Gapdh}$  promoter). % Input = 100\*[2^( $\Delta Ct_{Input}$ - $\Delta Ct_{Input}$ )-( $\Delta Ct_{Input}$ - $\Delta Ct_{Ab}$ ]]/25. Error bars represent the standard error of the mean. The significance of non-uniform relative enrichment was determined via repeated-measure ANOVA across target binding sites. Primer sequences for all regions are available upon request.

## 2.2.5 Semi-Quantitative and Quantitative RT-PCR

Total RNA was obtained from *Atrx<sup>Foxg1Cre</sup>* and littermate control forebrains using the RNeasy mini kit (QIAGEN) and reverse-transcribed into complementary DNA (cDNA) as described(Ritchie et al., 2008). Control reactions without reverse transcriptase were prepared in parallel. cDNA was amplified using gene-specific primers using the following conditions: 25-35 cycles of 95 °C for 30 seconds, 55 °C for 30 seconds, and 72 °C for 1 minute. For quantitative RT-PCR, cDNA was amplified with iQ<sup>TM</sup> SYBR<sup>®</sup> Green master mix (BioRad) using the standard curve Ct method of quantification. Experiments were performed on a Chromo-4 thermocycler (MJ Research) and analyzed with Opticon Monitor 3 and GeneX (BioRad Laboratories) software. Gene expression analysis was repeated in triplicate for each sample. Conditions for amplification were as follows: 35 cycles of 95 °C for 10 seconds, 55 °C for 20 seconds, 72 °C for 30 seconds, and a final melting curve generated in increments of 0.5 °C per plate read. Standard

curves were generated for each primer pair using three-fold serial dilutions of control cDNA. Primer efficiency was calculated as  $E = [10^{(-1/slope)} - 1] * 100\%$ , where a desirable slope is -3.32 and  $r^2 > 0.990$ . All data was corrected against *beta-actin* or *Gapdh* as an internal control. Unless otherwise indicated, the error bars represent the standard error of the mean.

## 2.2.6 Allele-Specific Expression Analysis

*H19* and *Snrpn* allelic expression assays were performed on cDNA obtained from P0.5 129Sv/CAST F<sub>1</sub> forebrains using the LightCycler Real Time PCR System (Roche Molecular Biochemicals). *H19* analysis was conducted as described previously(Mann et al., 2003; Thorvaldsen et al., 2002). Briefly, 0.3 µm primers (Sigma Genosys), 0.15 µm labeled probes (TIB Molbiol), and 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> were added to Ready-to-Go PCR beads (Invitrogen). Following amplification, a melting curve analysis was conducted at 95 °C 0 sec, 50 °C 1 min, and then the temperature was raised in increments of 0.2°C from 50 to 85°C with continuous fluorescence acquisition. For *Snrpn* analysis, 0.5 µm primers (Sigma Genosys), 0.3 µm labeled probes (TIB Molbiol), and 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>were added to Ready-to-Go PCR bead, and PCR amplification was performed(Mann et al., 2003). The melting curve analysis was performed at 95 °C for 2 minutes, 45 °C for 2 minutes, and fluorescence acquisition occurred continuously as the temperature was increased from 45 to 85 °C in 0.2 °C increments. The data was analyzed using the LightCycler Software Data Analysis function.

#### 2.2.7 Bisulfite Mutagenesis

Genomic DNA isolated from the forebrain of two pairs of *Atrx<sup>Foxg1Cre</sup>* and littermate control mice was mutagenized with sodium bisulfite using an EpiTect Bisulfite Conversion Kit (QIAGEN) according to the manufacturer's instructions. PCR amplification was carried out with primers specific for bisulfite-treated DNA. All DMRs were amplified by the nested or semi-nested PCR approach using previously described conditions(Lopes et al., 2003; Lucifero et al., 2002; Olek et al., 1996; Takada et al., 2002). The resulting nested PCR products were ligated into the pCR2.1 vector using a TOPO-TA cloning kit (Invitrogen), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Positive clones were sequenced (DNA Sequencing Facility at the Robarts Research Institute) using an ABI GeneAmp Thermocycler and analyzed using an Applied Biosystems 3730 Analyzer. Clones were only accepted at  $\geq$ 95% cytosine conversion. Non-converted cytosine residues and mismatched base pairs were used to ensure that accepted clones originated from a unique template DNA.

#### 2.3 Results

# 2.3.1 Interaction of ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin in the Mouse Brain *in vivo*

We previously demonstrated that depletion of ATRX resulted in reduced sister chromatid cohesion(Ritchie et al., 2008) and aberrant expression of specific genes in the mouse brain(Levy et al., 2008), suggesting similar modes of action for ATRX and Cohesin. Based on the observed effects on chromosomal cohesion, we examined whether Cohesin was associated with ATRX in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cell extracts. Coimmunoprecipitation experiments showed that a portion of nuclear SMC1, one of the components of the Cohesin ring complex, interacts with ATRX in these cells (Supplementary Figure 2-7A). To determine if this interaction also occurs *in vivo*, we performed similar immunoprecipitation experiments using mouse forebrain tissue. We identified interactions between ATRX and the Cohesin subunits SMC1 and SMC3 in mouse forebrain at postnatal day 17 (P17) (Figure 2-1A). At this developmental time point, most cells within the forebrain are post-mitotic, indicating that the observed interactions are probably unrelated to sister chromatid cohesion. We verified specificity of interactions using mice with conditional deletion of the long isoform (but not the short isoform, which lacks the ATPase domain) of ATRX in the mouse forebrain (Atrx<sup>Foxg1Cre</sup> mice, defined as "ATRX KO" here on)(Bérubé et al., 2005). Interaction between ATRX and SMC1 was greatly reduced in ATRX KO forebrain, demonstrating the specificity of the immunoprecipitation (Supplementary 2-7B). Similar results were obtained for SMC3 in HeLa cell extracts transiently depleted of ATRX protein using RNA interference (Supplementary Figure 2-7C).

The methyl-binding protein MeCP2 was recently shown to associate with ATRX(Nan et al., 2007), but interaction of the endogenous proteins had not yet been validated in mouse brain. We show that endogenous MeCP2 co-immunoprecipitates with ATRX, and also with SMC1 and SMC3 in wild-type forebrain, but not in forebrain tissue from MeCP2-null mice (*MeCP2<sup>tm2Bird</sup>*), suggesting that these proteins are part of a macromolecular complex in the mouse brain (Figure 2-1A.B). The interactions between ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin subunits still occurred upon treatment with DNAse I (Supplementary Figure 2-7D). We also confirmed the specificity of the MeCP2 antibody by Western blot analysis of wild-type and MeCP2-null forebrain tissue (Supplementary Figure 2-7E). Thus, we identified protein interactions in the mouse brain between several regulators of chromatin structure that are associated with developmental congenital disorders.





(A) ATRX was immunoprecipitated from P17 mouse forebrain extracts, and Western blot analysis was performed for SMC1, SMC3, and MeCP2 (top left panel). The results show that these three proteins are immunoprecipitated with ATRX. Top right panel: in a similar manner, SMC1, SMC3, and ATRX were detected in MeCP2 immunoprecipitates. Bottom panels: the reverse immunoprecipitations were also performed, showing that SMC1 and SMC3 immunoprecipitates contain ATRX and MeCP2 protein, confirming the interactions between these proteins. Control reactions were done with IgG. (B) SMC1, SMC3, and ATRX were immunoprecipitated from control and MeCP2 KO (TM2) forebrain extracts, followed by Western blot analysis with an anti-MeCP2 antibody. In all cases, no band was observed in the MeCP2 KO (TM2) immunoprecipitates, demonstrating the specificity of these interactions.

#### 2.3.2 Co-Occupancy of ATRX, Cohesin and MeCP2 at the Maternal *H19* ICR

Preliminary data from a microarray study of ATRX-deficient mouse brains demonstrated that the H19 imprinted gene is among the genes upregulated in the absence of ATRX(Levy et al., 2008). The H19/Igf2 imprinted domain located on mouse chromosome 7 contains several differentially methylated regions (DMRs), including one positioned 2 kb upstream of H19 that acts as an imprinting control region (ICR). The H19 ICR is methylated on the silent paternal allele in many tissues, including the brain(Bartolomei et al., 1993; Ferguson-Smith et al., 1993), and we hypothesized that this genomic site could be a target of ATRX and its interacting partners MeCP2 and Cohesin in the mouse brain. Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) was performed along a large region of the H19 ICR as well as flanking genomic sites using an antibody specific for ATRX (depicted in Figure 2-2A). We detected substantial enrichment of ATRX at the mid-portion of the H19 ICR, with primers H19-5 (Figure 2-2B). The interaction of ATRX at this site was greatly decreased in the ATRX KO forebrain, demonstrating the specificity of the ATRX ChIP reaction (Figure 2-2B). To determine whether the ChIP-PCR represented a true enrichment of ATRX, we performed quantitative ChIP analysis at the H19 ICR and outlying regions using two different ATRX antibodies, and detected significant enrichment at the H19-5 region of the H19 ICR compared to flanking sequences (Figure 2-2C; ATRX-1 p=0.003, ATRX-2 p=0.005). We also showed similar enrichment of MeCP2 and of SMC1 at the same site (MeCP2 p=0.008, SMC1 p=0.03), while analysis of nonspecific IgG and the transcription factor PROX1 revealed nominal enrichment (Figure 2-2C, Supplementary 2-8A). Additionally, quantitative profiling of ATRX, MeCP2 and SMC1 across the unrelated *Gapdh* promoter region revealed no peaks of binding, demonstrating the specificity of enrichment of these proteins at the H19 ICR (Supplementary Figure 2-8B). Although binding of ATRX, Cohesin and MeCP2 was enriched at the H19 ICR, it was possible that binding to this site occurred independently in different cells of the forebrain. To address this question, we performed sequential ChIP for ATRX and SMC1, ATRX and MeCP2, and ATRX, SMC3 and MeCP2, and could show co-occupancy at region H19-5' of the H19 ICR (a smaller

region of *H19-5*) (Figure 2-2D). Sequential ChIP was negative at the *Gapdh* promoter region, demonstrating that the interaction with the *H19* ICR is specific (Figure 2-2D).

Since *H19* is expressed in an allele-specific manner, we wanted to examine whether ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin displayed allele-specific binding at the *H19* ICR. To achieve this, we generated 129Sv/CAST F<sub>1</sub> mice that are polymorphic within this region, thereby allowing the parental alleles to be distinguished. F<sub>1</sub> forebrain tissue was processed for ChIP followed by allele-specific restriction digest analysis of amplified DNA. ATRX, MeCP2, SMC1 and SMC3 were all preferentially enriched on the maternal allele of the *H19* ICR (Figure 2-2E and Supplementary Figure 2-10B). We validated allele-specificity by confirming the paternal-specific deposition of the histone variant macroH2A(Choo et al., 2007), and the maternal enrichment of acetylated histone H3 (H3Ac) and H4 (H4Ac) (Figure 2-2F). In all cases, even with controls, we did not observe 100% allelic enrichment, perhaps reflecting the mosaic nature of the tissue (i.e. neurons vs. glia). Taken together, this data suggests that ATRX preferentially binds to the maternal allele of the *H19* ICR with Cohesin and MeCP2.



Figure 2-2. ATRX, MeCP2, and Cohesin are preferentially bound to the maternal *H19* ICR in mouse forebrain

(A) Genomic organization and alignment of primers utilized for PCR amplification of ChIP reactions. Numbers indicate the relative nucleotide position from the start of the *H19* ICR region. Grey boxes indicate CTCF-binding sites. (B) PCR of ChIP DNA shows enrichment of ATRX at the region flanked by primer pair *H19*-5 of the *H19* ICR. ATRX ChIP of region *H19*-5 was also performed on control and ATRX KO forebrain tissue (right panel). (C) A peak of enrichment of ATRX, MeCP2, and SMC1 at region *H19*-5

was confirmed by quantitative ChIP analysis. Graphs depict a representative enrichment profile. Statistical analysis revealed that deviation from uniform binding was significant, even accounting for interexperimental variability (ATRX-1, p = 0.003; ATRX-2, p =0.005; MeCP2, p = 0.008; SMC1, p = 0.030). (D) Co-localization of ATRX, MeCP2, and Cohesin at region *H19-5'* of the *H19* ICR was verified by double or triple sequential ChIP experiments. Input represents one-tenth of the input sample. (E and F) Allelic analysis of ATRX, MeCP2, and Cohesin interaction with region *H19-5'* of the *H19* ICR shows that these proteins were enriched on the maternal allele in the mouse forebrain. Similar allelic analysis was performed for macroH2A (paternal) and acetylated histones H3 and H4 (maternal) at region *H19-5'* as controls. For allelic analysis, amplicons from ChIPisolated 129Sv/CAST F<sub>1</sub> forebrain DNA were digested with MfeI (129Sv maternalspecific site) or SacI (CAST paternal-specific site) enzymes. Inp, input; mH2A, macroH2A; H3Ac, acetylated histone 3; H4Ac, acetylated histone 4; U, uncut; C, cut; Mat, maternal; Pat, paternal; M, standard marker. The asterisk indicates a 500 bp marker in the standard (Invitrogen).

### 2.3.3 Loss of ATRX Does Not Affect DNA Methylation at the H19 ICR but Results in an Altered Profile of Histone Tail Modifications

DNA methylation plays a central role in the regulation of genomic imprinting at the H19/Igf2 domain(Biniszkiewicz et al., 2002; Li et al., 1993). In light of the reported aberrant patterns of DNA methylation in ATR-X patients and in ATRX-null mouse embryonic stem (ES) cells(Gibbons et al., 2000), we assessed whether ATRX contributes to the maintenance of DNA methylation at the H19/Igf2 DMRs in the mouse brain. We performed the bisulfite mutagenesis and sequencing assay on control and ATRX-null forebrain tissue. At the H19 ICR, we detected approximately 50% methylated alleles in both control and ATRX-null samples, indicating DNA methylation of this region is preserved in the absence of ATRX (Figure 2-3A). The H19/Igf2 genomic domain is regulated by long-range chromatin interactions in the liver, a process mediated in part by the DMRs and their DNA methylation state(Kurukuti et al., 2006; Murrell et al., 2004). We therefore extended bisulfite sequencing analysis to the *Igf2* DMR1 and DMR2 regulatory regions, and determined that they are largely unmethylated in both control and ATRX KO newborn forebrain (Supplementary Figure 2-9A). To verify whether ATRX deficiency can affect DNA methylation at other genomic sites in the brain, we also investigated DNA methylation at ribosomal DNA (rDNA) gene repeats. Loss of ATRX in the forebrain resulted in hypomethylation of the 18S rDNA repeats (Supplementary Figure 2-9B) as was previously reported in mouse ES cells and ATR-X patients(Garrick et al., 2006; Gibbons et al., 2000). However, no change in DNA methylation was observed at the 28S rDNA repeats, major satellite, minor satellite (except for one sample) or IAPgag repeats in the ATRX KO forebrain nor in relative amplification of the latter three repeats (Supplementary Figure 2-9C,D). Thus, ATRX deficiency perturbs DNA methylation at specific repetitive elements in the brain, but not at the H19 ICR and Igf2 DMRs, suggesting alternative mechanistic effects of ATRX at this imprinted domain.

The potential link between ATRX and a change in epigenetic markings at the *H19* ICR was further investigated by quantitative ChIP analysis of various histone tail post-translational modifications at the *H19* ICR. We observed increased acetylation of histones H3 and H4 (H4Ac and H3Ac) in the ATRX-null forebrain, suggesting that loss

of ATRX induces a more accessible, open chromatin state (Figure 2-3B). Histone modifications including H3K9me2, H3K9me3 and H4K20me3 are generally characteristic of condensed chromatin states. We observed no change in H3K9me2 enrichment, but detected a trend towards decreased levels of H4K20me3 and H3K9me3 in the ATRX-null forebrain (Figure 2-3B). Collectively, these analyses demonstrate that the absence of ATRX at the maternal *H19* ICR does not induce changes in DNA methylation but correlates with an altered pattern of histone tail modifications reflecting reduced chromatin compaction.



#### Figure 2-3. Effects of ATRX loss of function on the epigenetic state of the H19 ICR

(A) Bisulfite mutagenesis and sequencing analysis of the *H19* ICR region revealed no change in DNA methylation upon loss of ATRX in forebrain tissue. At least 12 alleles from each sample were analyzed, and individual alleles are represented as a string of 16 CpGs. The total percent methylation for each sample is indicated in parentheses. Unmethylated CpGs are represented as empty circles, and methylated CpGs are represented as filled circles. (B) Quantitative ChIP analysis of histone H3 and H4 modifications in control and ATRX KO forebrain tissue at region *H19-5'* of the *H19* ICR. Enrichment of activating marks H3Ac and H4Ac were increased, whereas repressive marks H3K9me3 and H4K20me3 were decreased in the absence of ATRX. Graphed data represent the mean fold change in enrichment across three control and ATRX KO littermate pairs. Data were normalized to amplification of the *Gapdh* promoter region. See also Supplementary Figure 2-9.

#### 2.3.4 Allele-Specific Regulation of *H19* by ATRX

The presence of ATRX, Cohesin and MeCP2 at the maternal *H19* ICR, combined with the changes in histone marks suggested that these proteins could play a direct role in the regulation of *H19* expression, and perhaps of the neighboring *Igf2* gene. Semiquantitative expression analysis of three ATRX KO and control newborn forebrain samples showed increased expression of *H19* and *Igf2* in the absence of ATRX (Figure 2-4A). Quantitative expression analysis by real-time PCR of the forebrain at various developmental time points showed that *H19* and *Igf2* gene expression is not altered at embryonic day (E) 13.5. In contrast, expression of these genes was increased 2 to 4 fold in the ATRX deficient forebrain at postnatal days (P) 0.5 and 17 (Figure 2-4B). Thus, loss of ATRX does not affect *H19* and *Igf2* gene expression during the peak of neurogenesis in the developing forebrain, but results in increased expression of both genes during the postnatal growth deceleration phase.

Atrx gene inactivation in the forebrain of the ATRX KO mice occurs at approximately E8.5, when H19 and Igf2 imprinted expression has already been established. Increased levels of H19 might therefore be due to failure to maintain paternal allelic silencing, or to an imprint-independent mechanism that would alter maternal H19 transcript levels. To determine the allelic source of additional H19 transcripts, we mated Atrx heterozygous females ( $Atrx^{loxP/+:Cre+/-}$ ) with wild-type CAST males to generate F<sub>1</sub> polymorphic ATRX KO and control mice. We obtained a 129Sv/CAST P0.5 Atrx heterozygous female that displayed decreased Atrx expression and increased H19 expression compared to a control littermate (Figure 2-4C), allowing for allelic analysis of H19 using a Lightcycler allelic melting assay(Thorvaldsen et al., 2002). As previously reported, H19 and Snrpn were expressed solely from the maternal and paternal alleles, respectively, in control mouse forebrain tissue (Figure 2-4D,E)(Leff et al., 1992; Svensson et al., 1995b). Analysis of H19 expression in the F<sub>1</sub> ATRX-deficient forebrain revealed that increased expression of H19 was not due to re-activation of the paternal allele, since transcripts were still derived solely from the maternal allele (Figure 2-4F). We conclude that ATRX-deficiency results in aberrant H19 gene transcription and that this effect is specific to the maternal allele.

Postnatal silencing of the *H19* gene in the brain was previously reported(Svensson et al., 1995a). We examined the temporal expression pattern of *H19* in the forebrain and confirmed that transcript levels decrease over the first two weeks after birth (Supplementary Figure 2-10A). We also observed an enrichment of repressive histone modifications (H3K9me2, H3K9me3 and H4K20me3) on the *H19* ICR maternal allele in the P17 brain, along with ATRX and MeCP2 (Supplementary Figure 2-10B). Taken together, these results suggest that ATRX participates in the silencing of the maternal *H19* gene in the postnatal mouse brain.



Figure 2-4. Allele-specific control of H19 gene transcription by ATRX

(A) Semiquantitative RT-PCR analysis showing increased transcript levels of *H19* and *Igf2* in three sets of control and ATRX KO littermate-matched neonatal (P0.5) forebrains, whereas *beta-actin* transcript levels were not altered. (B) Real-time PCR analysis shows that *H19* and *Igf2* upregulation occurred in the ATRX KO postnatal forebrain (P0.5 and P17), but was not affected in the embryonic period (E13.5). Expression data for *Atrx* with primers specific for the long isoform were included as a control. Graphed data represent the mean relative expression level, and error bars depict standard error of the mean from biological replicates. The asterisk indicates p < 0.05, and double asterisks denote p < 0.005, as determined by a two-tailed t test. All results are normalized to *beta-actin* expression. (C) Quantitative RT-PCR analysis confirms upregulation of *H19* and

decreased *Atrx* expression in the *Atrx*<sup>+/-</sup> forebrain tissue (bottom right). Error bars depict standard deviation of technical replicates. Real-time RT-PCR of *H19* and *Atrx* in an  $F_1Atrx^{+/-}$  forebrain. (D and E) Allelic melting curve analyses with hybridization probes (C57BL/6 and 129Sv homologous, CAST mismatched) revealed paternal-specific expression of (D) *Snrpn* and maternal-specific expression of (E) *H19* in control 129Sv/CAST  $F_1$  forebrain. (F) Analysis of a 129Sv/CAST  $F_1$  forebrain heterozygous for ATRX revealed that *H19* transcripts are still largely produced from the maternal allele. Homozygous C57BL/6, which has an identical sequence to 129Sv, and *Mus musculus casteneous* (CAST) samples were included as controls. Mat, maternal; Pat, paternal; B6, C57BL/6; *Atrx*<sup>+/-</sup>, ATRX heterozygote

#### 2.3.5 Co-Occupancy of ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin at the *Gtl2/Dlk1* Imprinted Cluster

We next wanted to determine whether ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin co-occupancy is specific to the H19 ICR or also occurs at other imprinted regions in the forebrain. We chose to investigate the Gtl2/Dlk1 imprinted cluster on mouse chromosome 12 because it shares many features with the H19/Igf2 region, including the presence of several similarly positioned DMRs(Takada et al., 2002; Wylie et al., 2000). One DMR overlaps with the *Gtl2* promoter and extends into exon 1 and intron 1 of the gene (Figure 2-5A). This DMR was a logical candidate genomic region to investigate, as it is required for normal imprinting of *Gtl2/Dlk1* (Steshina et al., 2006), is bound by MeCP2 in mouse cerebellum(Jordan et al., 2007), and contains a putative Cohesin/CTCF-consensus site(Paulsen et al., 2001). We performed quantitative ChIP analysis to investigate the level of enrichment of ATRX, MeCP2 and SMC1 at three sites within the DMR and one site 5' of the DMR. Region GD-2 was previously reported to display asymmetric enrichment of histone H3 and H4 acetylation(Carr et al., 2007), GD-3 was shown to be bound by MeCP2(Jordan et al., 2007), and GD-4 contains a putative CTCF-binding site (see diagram in Figure 2-5A). All three proteins were associated with the DMR in P17 mouse brain (Figure 2-5B), but unlike the situation observed at the H19 ICR, the peaks of enrichment did not overlap but were adjacent within the DMR region. We observed highest binding of ATRX at GD-2, the site of allelic histone acetylation (Figure 2-5B), while MeCP2 was most enriched at GD-3 and SMC1 at GD-4 (Figure 2-5B). ChIP using IgG or an antibody against the transcription factor PROX1 did not show enrichment across this region (Figure 2-5B, Supplementary Figure 2-8A).

Direct binding at the *Gtl2* DMR suggested that ATRX may be required to maintain normal *Dlk1* and *Gtl2* gene expression during brain development. We measured transcript levels of both genes in control and littermate-matched ATRX KO forebrain tissue. Similar to what we observed for *H19* and *Igf2*, *Dlk1* expression was not changed at E13.5, but was considerably increased in mutants in the postnatal period, at P0.5 and P17 (Figure 2-5C). In contrast, *Gtl2* expression was not affected in the ATRX KO forebrain (Figure 2-5C). A temporal survey of *Dlk1* and *Gtl2* expression revealed that *Dlk1* is gradually silenced postnatally while *Gtl2* expression levels stayed more constant (Supplementary Figure 2-10A). We conclude that ATRX binds to the *Gtl2* DMR with Cohesin and MeCP2 and silences *Dlk1*, without influencing the expression of *Gtl2*.



# Figure 2-5. ATRX, MeCP2, and Cohesin bind within the *Gtl2/Dlk1* imprinted domain

(A) Genomic organization and alignment of regions analyzed by ChIP (GD-1, GD-2, GD-3, and GD-4). Numbers indicate the relative nucleotide position from the *Gtl2* transcription start site. The asterisk denotes the predicted CTCF-binding site. (B) Quantitative ChIP analysis of ATRX, SMC1, and MeCP2 within the *Gtl2* DMR. Regions analyzed are indicated on the x axis. ATRX (n = 4), p = 8.868e-07; MeCP2 (n = 2); SMC1 (n = 3), p = 0.05218. (C) Real-time RT-PCR analysis of *Dlk1* and *Gtl2* mRNA expression at E13.5, P0.5, and P17. Graphed data represent the mean relative expression level, and error bars depict standard error of the mean from biological replicates. Expression of *Dlk1* is increased in postnatal forebrain tissue lacking ATRX protein, whereas expression of *Gtl2* remains unaffected at all developmental time points examined. The asterisk indicates p < 0.01.GD, *Gtl2* DMR

### 2.3.6 ATRX is Required for Chromatin Occupancy of Cohesin, CTCF and MeCP2

The effects of ATRX deficiency on *H19* and *Dlk1* transcript levels led us to postulate that ATRX controls occupancy of its binding partners at the *H19* ICR and at the *Gtl2* DMR. Using quantitative ChIP analysis of control and ATRX KO forebrain, we established that loss of ATRX in the mouse forebrain causes a decrease in SMC1 and CTCF occupancy at the *H19* ICR (Figure 2-6A) and could show a significant decrease specifically at region *H19-5* (Figure 2-6B), indicating that the presence of ATRX at the maternal *H19* ICR is required for SMC1 and CTCF occupancy. Conversely, ATRX was not required for occupancy of MeCP2 at this site (Figure 2-6A,B).

We also examined the outcome of ATRX deficiency at the *Gtl2* DMR. Again, loss of ATRX reduced occupancy of SMC1 and CTCF at the DMR, at region GD-4 (Figure 2-6C). In contrast to the results obtained at the *H19* ICR, MeCP2 enrichment was also decreased in the absence of ATRX within the *Gtl2* DMR at region GD-3 (Figure 2-6C). We conclude that the presence of ATRX at the maternal *H19* ICR and *Gtl2* DMR is necessary for the full recruitment of SMC1 and CTCF, but the requirement of ATRX for MeCP2 binding differs between sites.



#### Figure 2-6. Occupancy of SMC1, MeCP2, and CTCF at the H19 ICR and Gtl2 DMR

(A) ChIP analysis was performed across the *H19* ICR in control and ATRX KO littermate-matched forebrains. Occupancy of CTCF and SMC1 was decreased in the ATRX KO samples at region *H19*-5, whereas MeCP2 occupancy was unchanged at this site. (B) Enrichment of SMC1, CTCF, and MeCP2 at region *H19*-5 was further quantified in additional brains (n = 3). (C) ChIP analysis was performed at the *Gtl2* DMR in control and *Atrx* null forebrain (SMC1 and CTCF, n = 3; MeCP2, n = 2). Loss of ATRX in forebrain causes decreased occupancy of SMC1, CTCF, and MeCP2 at regions GD-4, GD-4, and GD-3, respectively (depicted in Figure 2-5A). Error bars depict standard error of the mean. p values were determined by a two-tailed t test.
# 2.3.7 Regulation of an Imprinted Gene Network (IGN) by ATRX in the Mouse Brain

H19, Igf2 and Dlk1 have been linked to networks of co-regulated imprinted genes(Gabory et al., 2009; Lui et al., 2008; Varrault et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2006). One network was identified by a meta-analysis of microarray datasets, revealing co-regulation of imprinted genes. Expression of these genes was also found to be altered in mice lacking the imprinted Zacl gene, a member of the identified network (Varrault et al., 2006). A second study reported a group of imprinted genes (including H19 and Igf2) that were coordinately downregulated in a DNA methylation-independent manner during postnatal growth deceleration in multiple organs(Lui et al., 2008). Interestingly, in addition to regulating the H19/Igf2 imprinted domain, the maternal H19 ICR also mediates *inter*chromosomal interactions of a network of imprinted genes(Zhao et al., 2006). This network was different in mouse liver compared to ES cells, indicating tissue specificity of these interactions. The presence of ATRX, Cohesin and MeCP2 at the maternal H19 ICR suggested that they might participate in *trans*-regulation of imprinted genes and therefore would affect the expression of other imprinted genes. Expression of several imprinted genes was evaluated by gRT-PCR in control and ATRX KO forebrain at E13.5, P0.5 and P17. In addition to H19, Igf2 and Dlk1, we identified twelve other imprinted genes that displayed increased expression in the postnatal ATRX-null forebrain, including Slc38a4, Dcn, Peg10, Mest, Grb10, Zac1, Sgce, Copg2, Cdkn1c, Nnat, Rian, and Ndn (Table 1). None of the imprinted genes tested were upregulated at E13.5, however Copg2as2, Nnat and Rian were moderately downregulated at this embryonic time point (data not shown). The list of imprinted genes displaying increased expression in the absence of ATRX show a substantial overlap with the imprinted gene networks (IGNs) previously reported (Table 1)(Lui et al., 2008; Varrault et al., 2006).

Gene	P0.5 Fold Change	P0.5	P17 Fold Change	P17	Varrault et al. (2006)	Lui et al. (2008)
	(n)	SEM	(n)	SEM	IGN	IGN
lgf2	3.00 (10)	0.60 <sup>ª</sup>	3.62 (3)	0.54	ź	ź
Slc38a4	2.80 (9)	2.71ª	3.75 (3)	0.52ª	ź	ź
Dlk1	2.77 (11)	0.56ª	3.10 (3)	1.20	ź	ź
H19	2.69 (10)	0.60 <sup>ª</sup>	2.26 (3)	0.41	ź	ź
Dcn	2.06 (7)	1.44 <sup>b</sup>	1.81 (3)	1.01	ź	
Peg10	1.83 (7)	0.92 <sup>ª</sup>	2.55 (3)	0.63 <sup>b</sup>		
Mest	1.63 (4)	0.04 <sup>a</sup>	n/c	-	ź	ź
Grb10	1.61 (4)	0.25ª	1.74 (3)	0.29 <sup>b</sup>	*	*
Zac1	1.61 (7)	0.61ª	n/c	-	*	ź
Sgce	1.39 (7)	0.48 <sup>b</sup>	0.69 (3)	0.19	ź	
Copg2	1.37 (8)	0.50 <sup>b</sup>	n/c	-		
Cdkn1c	1.37 (4)	0.03ª	n/c	-	*	
Nnat	1.37 (4)	0.10 <sup>ª</sup>	n/c	-		*
Ndn	n/c	-	1.42 (3)	0.21	ź	ź
Rian	n/c	-	1.51 (3)	0.52		ż

## Table 1. Imprinted gene expression in the ATRX KO forebrain

n/c = not changed. n = number of C/ATRX KO biological replicates. The asterisk denotes genes involved in the gene network reported by the authors cited in the column heading.

a p<0.05.

b p < 0.08.

### 2.4 Discussion

Our data link ATRX to two other important regulators of chromatin structure, to the proper occupancy of Cohesin and CTCF at two imprinted genes, and to the control of a network of imprinted genes in the developing brain. We identified direct target genes of ATRX in the mouse brain, and demonstrated that ATRX, MeCP2, and Cohesin bind to chromatin with a bias towards the maternal allele. It is unlikely that the effects on gene expression are merely due to morphological defects in the ATRX-null forebrain, since we could show direct binding of ATRX at *cis*-regulatory sites. An important aspect of our findings is their possible relevance to human developmental diseases. We provide the first glimpse of the cooperation between ATRX, Cohesin and MeCP2 in the regulation of common gene targets, perhaps explaining similarities between the associated human syndromes. Thus, the failure to properly suppress a subset of imprinted genes in the brain could potentially contribute to cognitive deficiencies characteristic of ATR-X, RTT and CdLS Syndromes.

The co-localization of ATRX and MeCP2 previously reported at pericentromeric heterochromatin in the mouse brain(Nan et al., 2007) raised the question whether they also interact at specific target genes along chromosomal arms. We now provide evidence that ATRX and MeCP2 converge to regulate common target genes. Several of the imprinted genes that we found to be affected by loss of ATRX also show altered expression in MeCP2-null tissues, including *H19*, *Dlk1* and *Zac1*(Fuks et al., 2003; Urdinguio et al., 2008). However, our results show that ATRX is required for MeCP2 binding to the *Gtl2* DMR, but not the *H19* ICR, suggesting that additional factors influence the dynamics of binding at different genomic sites.

The observation that both ATRX and MeCP2 are enriched on the maternal allele of the H19 ICR was unexpected, as enrichment on the silenced methylated paternal allele would have seemed more likely. However, their presence on the maternal allele might enable the postnatal silencing of H19 in the mouse brain(Pham et al., 1998). In this context, one would indeed expect to observe the recruitment of suppressive factors to the active maternal allele. This is further corroborated by the unchanged methylation status and altered chromatin composition observed in the ATRX KO forebrain. We speculate that

MeCP2 and ATRX are required to silence imprinted genes with functions that are essential during neurogenesis, but unnecessary or detrimental in the mature brain.

There is supporting evidence that mechanistically, MeCP2 and Cohesin function in chromosomal looping(Hadjur et al., 2009; Horike et al., 2005; Mishiro et al., 2009; Nativio et al., 2009). The presence of ATRX at target genes with Cohesin and MeCP2 suggests that it may also modulate chromatin loop formation by promoting specific longrange interactions. The involvement of Cohesin in this complex sheds new light on the importance of cohesion for accurate gene regulation. Much excitement was generated by recent publications describing the co-localization of Cohesin with the CTCF insulator protein at multiple genomic sites, and the requirement of Cohesin in the insulator functions of CTCF(Parelho et al., 2008; Wendt et al., 2008). More recently, Nativio et al reported the involvement of Cohesin in long-range chromatin interactions within the IGF2-H19 locus in human cells(Nativio et al., 2009). The fact that ATRX is essential to achieve full occupancy of Cohesin and CTCF at target imprinted domains, potentially implicate ATRX in the regulation of higher order chromatin conformation, insulator functions, or mono-allelic gene regulation. It is possible that CTCF and Cohesin perform their insulator functions in different tissues in collaboration with various SNF2 chromatin remodeling proteins(Ishihara et al., 2006).

We determined that ATRX is able to suppress the expression of many imprinted genes in the postnatal period. The affected genes show a striking overlap with the previously reported ZAC1-related IGN, linked by their coordinated pattern of expression in many tissues (Table 1). Importantly, our data show that expression of *Zac1* itself is deregulated upon loss of ATRX in the brain. The maternal *H19* ICR has been shown by 4C analysis to mediate interactions with several imprinted genes(Zhao et al., 2006). These *inter*chromosomal interactions differed substantially between mouse liver and embryonic stem cells, suggesting that the interaction network involving the *H19* ICR is tissue specific, or reflects the proliferative capacity of cells. Viewed in the context of the neonatal brain, the coordination of this network of imprinted genes might be required to ensure proper brain maturation and synchronization could be enabled by the recruitment of specific genes into close proximity via chromatin interactions. The concept of *trans*-

interaction and *trans*-regulation of imprinted genes is still controversial and the possible involvement of ATRX in the regulation of an IGN in postnatal brain will require further investigation.

The role of the imprinted genes controlled by ATRX has not yet been well characterized in the brain, perhaps not surprisingly if these genes are largely suppressed during brain maturation. However, many of the genes within this network have defined functions during mouse placentation, which is intriguing considering that ATRX is an essential placental regulator(Garrick et al., 2006). Furthermore, there is evidence that ATRX is required for imprinted X chromosome inactivation in extraembryonic tissues, and somatic cells(Baumann and De La Fuente, 2009; Garrick et al., 2006). Several important questions remain to be answered, namely whether ATRX controls IGNs in other tissues, especially in the placenta, and whether ATRX's mono-allelic effects also come into play during imprinted X chromosome inactivation. Future studies will be directed at identifying additional common target genes of ATRX, Cohesin, MeCP2 and CTCF in the brain and other tissues, and to investigate the mechanism of regulation at target genes. Although it is unlikely that ATRX, Cohesin and MeCP2 only target genes that are imprinted, our findings show that these chromatin proteins can bind specific genomic sites in an allele-specific manner. Whether ATRX's function is often influenced by mono-allelic features will require further investigation. It will be important to further probe the underlying molecular regulation by these chromatin proteins, in order to gain insight into the control of mono-allelic expression, long-range chromatin gene regulation, and a better understanding of the molecular neuropathogenesis underlying the associated human disorders



# Figure 2-7. Co-immunoprecipitation of ATRX and SMC1 in SH-SY5Y cells, forebrain tissue and HeLa cells and effects of DNAse I treatment on interactions between ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin subunits

(A) ATRX was immunoprecipitated from human SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells and Western blot analysis revealed the presence of SMC1. (B) ATRX protein was immunoprecipitated from control and ATRX KO forebrain tissue and Western blot analysis showed that association with SMC1 is reduced in the KO samples. (C) Co-immunoprecipitation experiments were repeated in HeLa cell extracts transiently depleted of ATRX protein by RNA interference. (D) Different combinations of coimmunoprecipitation experiments were performed in the absence (-) or presence (+) of DNAse I. (E) Western blot analysis of MeCP2 KO and control forebrain protein extracts demonstrates specificity of MeCP2 antibody used for co-immunoprecipitation experiments. NE: nuclear protein extracts, CE: cytoplasmic protein extracts, Inp: Input, KO: ATRX KO, C: control.



# Figure 2-8. ChIP controls demonstrate specificity of protein enrichment at the *H19* ICR and *Gtl2* DMR

(A) ChIP of the transcription factor PROX1 across the *H19* ICR and *Gtl2* DMR reveals minimal enrichment, demonstrating the specificity of ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin enrichment at these sites. Refer to Figures 2-2 and 2-5 for primer alignment of *H19* and *Gtl2* domains, respectively. (B) Genomic organization and alignment of primers utilized for PCR amplification of ChIP reactions at the *Gapdh* locus (top). Numbers indicate the relative nucleotide position from the transcription start site. ChIP for ATRX, MeCP2 and SMC1 indicates minimal enrichment across the *Gapdh* region.



# Figure 2-9. DNA methylation analysis of Igf2 DMR1, Igf2 DMR2, rDNA and repetitive elements in the ATRX null forebrain

(A) Bisulfite mutagenesis and sequencing analysis of the Igf2 DMR1 and Igf2 DMR2 in two control and ATRX KO littermate pairs. Individual alleles are represented as a line, unmethylated CpGs are represented as empty circles, and methylated CpGs as filled circles. The total percent methylation for each sample is indicated in parentheses.

(B) Southern blot analysis of DNA methylation at 18S and 28S rDNA repeats. (Top) Restriction map of the transcribed portion of the rDNA genes. Alignments of the methylation sensitive probes RIB4 and RIB3 are indicated. (Bottom) 18S rDNA methylation was analyzed by digestion with BamHI/SmaI and probed with RIB4 while 28s rDNA repeat methylation was analyzed by digestion with EcoRI/PvuI and probed with RIB3. (C) McrPCR analysis of DNA methylation at major satellite, minor satellite and IAP*gag* repeats. DNA methylation at repeat sequences was measured by the inverse ability of unmethylated DNA fragments to amplify PCR products with primer sets specific to each repeat class. Samples were normalized against equal input levels of internal control undigested DNA. (D) Southern blot analysis of DNA methylation at major satellite, minor satellite and IAP*gag* repeats. Major satellite methylation was analyzed by digestion with HpyCH41V and probed with pMR150. Minor satellite methylation was determined by digestion with HpaII and probed with pIAP.



# Figure 2-10. Temporal profile of *H19*, *Dlk1* and *Gtl2* expression and accumulation of suppressive histone marks at the maternal *H19* ICR in the postnatal brain

(A) Semi-quantitative RT-PCR expression analysis of the mouse forebrain from E13.5 to P14 illustrates gradual downregulation of the *H19* and *Dlk1* genes in the postnatal period and a more constant expression level of *Gtl2*. Numbers on the right indicate expected size of the PCR amplicons. (B) Allelic ChIP analysis of histone modifications on 129Sv/CAST F1 forebrain at the *H19* ICR demonstrates enrichment of repressive marks H3K9me2, H3K9me3 and H4K20me3 on the maternal allele, reflecting postnatal repression of *H19* in the forebrain. Inp: input, U: uncut, C: cut, Mat: Maternal, Pat: paternal, M: standard marker.

# 2.6 Supplementary Methods

# 2.6.1 Cell Culture

SH-SY5Y and HeLa cells were cultured in DMEM high glucose medium (Sigma) supplemented with 10% FBS, in 5% CO2 atmosphere. Transient ATRX depletion in HeLa cells was achieved using siRNA interference as previously described(Ritchie et al., 2008).

## 2.6.2 Co-Immunoprecipitations

Extracts from SH-SY5Y cells, HeLa cells, and mouse forebrain were immunoprecipitated as described in the main text, with the following exceptions: antibodies were incubated with lysates overnight at 4 °C followed by incubation for 1 hour with protein G-Sepharose (Pharmacia). For DNAse digestion experiments, prior to immunoprecipitation, samples were incubated with 100U/mL DNAse1 (Sigma) at room temperature for 15 minutes.

## 2.6.3 Western Blot Analysis

Nuclear and cytoplasmic protein extracts were obtained from MeCP2 KO (B6.129P2(C)-*Mecp2*<sup>tm1.1Bird</sup>/J, Jackson Laboratories #003890) and control forebrains using the Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Extraction kit (NE-PER, Thermo Scientific). Protein extracts were resolved on 8% SDS-PAGE, and incubated with anti-MeCP2 (gift of Janine M. LaSalle) for one hour.

# 2.6.4 ChIP Analysis

ChIP was performed on P17 wild-type forebrains as described in the main text. Additionally, immunoprecipitation was performed with anti-PROX1 (Covance). Samples were analyzed by real-time RT-PCR as described in the main text. Primer sequences for all regions are available upon request.

# 2.6.5 Methylation-Sensitive Southern Blot Analysis

P0.5 forebrain tissue was collected, digested with Proteinase K and purified using the standard phenol:chloroform extraction method. For the IAP*gag* and minor satellite

analyses, DNA from three ATRX KO and littermate control pairs was digested with the methylation-sensitive restriction enzyme HpaII and its methylation insensitive isoschizomer MspI. DNA for the major satellite blot was digested with methylation-sensitive HpyCH41V. DNA for the 18S rDNA blot was digested with BamHI and methylation-sensitive SmaI, while DNA for the 28S rDNA blot was digested with EcoRI and methylation-sensitive PvuI. pIAP, pMR150 and pSAT probes were obtained from F. Dick (London Regional Cancer Program; University of Western Ontario, London, Canada) and have been previously published(Lehnertz et al., 2003). RIB3 and RIB4 probes were generated by PCR as previously described(Gibbons et al., 2000).

#### 2.6.6 McrPCR Methylation Analysis

Genomic DNA was digested with the restriction enzyme McrBC (New England Biolabs), which only cleaves methylcytosine of the form  $(G/A)^{m}C$  in the recognition sequence  $5'...Pu^{m}C(N_{40-30000})Pu^{m}C...3'$ . Quantitative real-time PCR was used to determine the relative levels of unmethylated DNA at IAP*gag*, major satellite, minor satellite and rDNA repeats, following a previously published protocol(Martens et al., 2005). Conditions for amplification were as follows: 95 °C for 5 minutes followed by 25-35 cycles of 95 °C for 10 seconds, 55 °C for 20 seconds, 72 °C for 30 seconds, and a final melting curve generated in increments of 0.5 °C per plate read. Major satellite and minor satellite samples were diluted 100-fold due to high copy number in the mouse genome (Martens et al., 2005). Standard curves were generated for each pair using three-fold serial dilutions of control littermate cDNA. Primer efficiency was calculated as  $E = [10^{(-1/slope)} - 1] * 100\%$ , where a desirable slope is -3.32 and  $r^2 > 0.99$ . All data was corrected against equal input levels of internal control undigested DNA.

#### 2.6.7 Semi-Quantitative RT-PCR

RNA was extracted and cDNA generated as described in the main text from male wildtype forebrains at days E13.5, P0.5, P2, P4, P6, P8, P10, P12 and P14. cDNA was amplified using gene-specific primers under the following conditions: 95 °C for 5 minutes, followed by 29 cycles of 95 °C for 30 seconds, 55 °C for 30 seconds, and 72 °C for 1 minute.

## 2.7 References

Amir RE, Van den Veyver IB, Wan M, Tran CQ, Francke U and Zoghbi HY (1999) Rett syndrome is caused by mutations in X-linked MECP2, encoding methyl CpG-binding protein 2. *Nat Genet* **23**:185-188.

Bartolomei MS, Webber AL, Brunkow ME and Tilghman SM (1993) Epigenetic mechanisms underlying the imprinting of the mouse H19 gene. *Genes & development* 7:1663-1673.

Baumann C and De La Fuente R (2009) ATRX marks the inactive X chromosome (Xi) in somatic cells and during imprinted X chromosome inactivation in trophoblast stem cells. *Chromosoma* **118**:209-222.

Bérubé NG, Mangelsdorf M, Jagla M, Vanderluit J, Garrick D, Gibbons RJ, Higgs DR, Slack RS and Picketts DJ (2005) The chromatin-remodelling protein ATRX is critical for neuronal survival during corticogenesis. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* **115**:258-267.

Biniszkiewicz D, Gribnau J, Ramsahoye B, Gaudet F, Eggan K, Humpherys D, Mastrangelo MA, Jun Z, Walter J and Jaenisch R (2002) Dnmt1 overexpression causes genomic hypermethylation, loss of imprinting, and embryonic lethality. *Mol Cell Biol* **22**:2124-2135.

Borck G, Zarhrate M, Bonnefont JP, Munnich A, Cormier-Daire V and Colleaux L (2007) Incidence and clinical features of X-linked Cornelia de Lange syndrome due to SMC1L1 mutations. *Hum Mutat* **28**:205-206.

Carr MS, Yevtodiyenko A, Schmidt CL and Schmidt JV (2007) Allele-specific histone modifications regulate expression of the Dlk1-Gtl2 imprinted domain. *Genomics* **89**:280-290.

Choo JH, Kim JD and Kim J (2007) MacroH2A1 knockdown effects on the Peg3 imprinted domain. *BMC genomics* **8**:479.

De La Fuente R, Viveiros MM, Wigglesworth K and Eppig JJ (2004) ATRX, a member of the SNF2 family of helicase/ATPases, is required for chromosome alignment and meiotic spindle organization in metaphase II stage mouse oocytes. *Dev Biol* **272**:1-14.

Deardorff MA, Kaur M, Yaeger D, Rampuria A, Korolev S, Pie J, Gil-Rodriguez C, Arnedo M, Loeys B, Kline AD, Wilson M, Lillquist K, Siu V, Ramos FJ, Musio A, Jackson LS, Dorsett D and Krantz ID (2007) Mutations in Cohesin complex members SMC3 and SMC1A cause a mild variant of cornelia de Lange syndrome with predominant mental retardation. *Am J Hum Genet* **80**:485-494.

Eisen J, Sweder K and Hanawalt P (1995) Evolution of the SNF2 family of proteins: subfamilies with distinct sequences and functions. *Nucleic Acids Research* **23**:2715-2723.

Ferguson-Smith AC, Sasaki H, Cattanach BM and Surani MA (1993) Parental-originspecific epigenetic modification of the mouse H19 gene. *Nature* **362**:751-755.

Fuks F, Hurd P, Wolf D, Nan X, Bird A and Kouzarides T (2003) The Methyl CpG-Binding protein MeCP2 links DNA methylation to histone methylation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **278**:4035-4040.

Gabory A, Ripoche MA, Le Digarcher A, Watrin F, Ziyyat A, Forne T, Jammes H, Ainscough JF, Surani MA, Journot L and Dandolo L (2009) H19 acts as a trans regulator of the imprinted gene network controlling growth in mice. *Development* **136**:3413-3421.

Garrick D, Sharpe JA, Arkell R, Dobbie L, Smith AJH, Wood WG, Higgs DR and Gibbons RJ (2006) Loss of Atrx affects trophoblast development and the pattern of X-inactivation in extraembryonic tissues. *PLoS Genetics* **2**:438-450.

Gibbons RJ and Higgs DR (2000) Molecular-clinical spectrum of the ATR-X syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics* **97**:204-212.

Gibbons RJ, McDowell TL, Raman S, O'Rourke DM, Garrick D, Ayyub H and Higgs DR (2000) Mutations in *ATRX*, encoding a SWI/SNF-like protein, cause diverse changes in the pattern of DNA methylation. *Nature Genetics* **24**:368-371.

Gibbons RJ, Picketts DJ, Villard L and Higgs DR (1995) Mutations in a putative global transcriptional regulator cause X-linked mental retardation with alpha-thalassemia (ATR-X syndrome). *Cell* **80**:837-845.

Gibbons RJ, Wada T, Fisher CA, Malik N, Mitson MJ, Steensma DP, Fryer A, Goudie DR, Krantz ID and Traeger-Synodinos J (2008) Mutations in the chromatin-associated protein ATRX. *Hum Mutat*.

Hadjur S, Williams LM, Ryan NK, Cobb BS, Sexton T, Fraser P, Fisher AG and Merkenschlager M (2009) Cohesins form chromosomal cis-interactions at the developmentally regulated IFNG locus. *Nature* **460**:410-413.

Hansen RS, Wijmenga C, Luo P, Stanek AM, Canfield TK, Weemaes CM and Gartler SM (1999) The DNMT3B DNA methyltransferase gene is mutated in the ICF immunodeficiency syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**:14412-14417.

Horike S, Cai S, Miyano M, Cheng J and Kohwi-Shigematsu T (2005) Loss of silent chromatin looping and impaired imprinting of DLX5 in Rett Syndrome. *Nature Genetics* **37**:31-40.

Ishihara K, Oshimura M and Nakao M (2006) CTCF-dependent chromatin insulator is linked to epigenetic remodeling. *Molceular Cell* **23**:733-742.

Jordan C, Li H and Kwan HF, U (2007) Cerebellar gene expression profiles of mouse models for Rett syndrome reveal novel MeCP2 targets. *BMC Med Genet* **8**:36-52.

Kawauchi S, Calof AL, Santos R, Lopez-Burks ME, Young CM, Hoang MP, Chua A, Lao T, Lechner MS, Daniel JA, Nussenzweig A, Kitzes L, Yokomori K, Hallgrimsson B and Lander AD (2009) Multiple organ system defects and transcriptional dysregulation in the Nipbl(+/-) mouse, a model of Cornelia de Lange Syndrome. *PLoS genetics* **5**:e1000650.

Krantz ID, McCallum J, DeScipio C, Kaur M, Gillis LA, Yaeger D, Jukofsky L, Wasserman N, Bottani A, Morris CA, Nowaczyk MJ, Toriello H, Bamshad MJ, Carey JC, Rappaport E, Kawauchi S, Lander AD, Calof AL, Li HH, Devoto M and Jackson LG (2004) Cornelia de Lange syndrome is caused by mutations in NIPBL, the human homolog of Drosophila melanogaster Nipped-B. *Nature genetics* **36**:631-635.

Kurukuti S, Tiwari VK, Tavoosidana G, Pugacheva E, Murrell A, Zhao Z, Lobanenkov V, Reik W and Ohlsson R (2006) CTCF binding at the *H19* imprinting control region mediates maternally inherited higher-order chromatin conformation to restrict enhancer access to *Igf2*. *PNAS* **103**:10684-10689.

Leff SE, Brannan CI, Reed ML, Ozcelik T, Francke U, Copeland NG and Jenkins NA (1992) Maternal imprinting of the mouse Snrpn gene and conserved linkage homology with the human Prader-Willi syndrome region. *Nat Genet* **2**:259-264.

Levy MA, Fernandes AD, Tremblay DC, Seah C and Bérubé NG (2008) The SWI/SNF protein ATRX co-regulates pseudoautosomal genes that have translocated to autosomes in the mouse genome. *BMC Genomics* **9**:468.

Li E, Beard C and Jaenisch R (1993) Role for DNA methylation in genomic imprinting. *Nature* **366**:362-365.

Liu J, Zhang Z, Bando M, Itoh T, Deardorff MA, Clark D, Kaur M, Tandy S, Kondoh T, Rappaport E, Spinner NB, Vega H, Jackson LG, Shirahige K and Krantz ID (2009) Transcriptional dysregulation in NIPBL and Cohesin mutant human cells. *PLoS biology* 7:e1000119.

Lopes S, Lewis A, Hajkova P, Dean W, Oswald J, Forne T, Murrell A, Constancia M, Bartolomei M, Walter J and Reik W (2003) Epigenetic modifications in an imprinting cluster are controlled by a hierarchy of DMRs suggesting long-range chromatin interactions. *Human Molecular Genetics* **12**:295-305.

Lucifero D, Mertineit C, Clarke HJ, Bestor TH and Trasler JM (2002) Methylation dynamics of imprinted genes in mouse germ cells. *Genomics* **79**:530-538.

Lui JC, Finkielstain GP, Barnes KM and Baron J (2008) An imprinted gene network that controls mammalian somatic growth is downregulated during postnatal growth deceleration in multiple organs. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **295**:R189-196.

Mann MR, Chung YG, Nolen LD, Verona RI, Latham KE and Bartolomei MS (2003) Disruption of imprinted gene methylation and expression in cloned preimplantation stage mouse embryos. *Biol Reprod* **69**:902-914.

Mishiro T, Ishihara K, Hino S, Tsutsumi S, Aburatani H, Shirahige K, Kinoshita Y and Nakao M (2009) Architectural roles of multiple chromatin insulators at the human apolipoprotein gene cluster. *Embo J* **28**:1234-1245.

Mukhopadhyay A, Deplancke B, Walhout AJ and Tissenbaum HA (2008) Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) coupled to detection by quantitative real-time PCR to study transcription factor binding to DNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nat Protoc* **3**:698-709.

Murrell A, Heeson S and Reik W (2004) Interaction between differentially methylated regions partitions the imprinted genes *Igf2* and *H19* into parent-specific chromatin loops. *Nature Genetics* **36**:889-893.

Musio A, Selicorni A, Focarelli ML, Gervasini C, Milani D, Russo S, Vezzoni P and Larizza L (2006) X-linked Cornelia de Lange syndrome owing to SMC1L1 mutations. *Nat Genet* **38**:528-530.

Nan X, Hou J, Maclean A, Nasir J, Lafuente M, Shu X, Kriaucionis S and Bird A (2007) Interaction between chromatin proteins MECP2 and ATRX is disrupted by mutations that cause inherited mental retardation. *PNAS* **104**:2709-2714.

Nativio R, Wendt KS, Ito Y, Huddleston JE, Uribe-Lewis S, Woodfine K, Krueger C, Reik W, Peters JM and Murrell A (2009) Cohesin Is Required for Higher-Order Chromatin Conformation at the Imprinted IGF2-H19 Locus. *PLoS Genet* **5**:e1000739.

Olek A, Oswald J and Walter J (1996) A modified and improved method for bisulphite based cytosine methylation analysis. *Nucleic Acids Research* **24**:5064-5066.

Parelho V, Hadjur S, Spivakov M, Leleu M, Sauer S, Gregson HC, Jarmuz A, Canzonetta C, Webster Z, Nesterova T, Cobb BS, Yokomori K, Dillon N, Aragon L, Fisher AG and Merkenschlager M (2008) Cohesins functionally associate with CTCF on mammalian chromosome arms. *Cell* **132**:422-433.

Paulsen M, Takada S, Youngson NA, Benchaib M, Charlier C, Segers K, Georges M and Ferguson-Smith AC (2001) Comparative sequence analysis of the imprinted Dlk1-Gtl2 locus in three mammalian species reveals highly conserved genomic elements and refines comparison with the Igf2-H19 region. *Genome Res* **11**:2085-2094.

Petrij F, Giles RH, Dauwerse HG, Saris JJ, Hennekam RC, Masuno M, Tommerup N, van Ommen GJ, Goodman RH, Peters DJ and et al. (1995) Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome caused by mutations in the transcriptional co-activator CBP. *Nature* **376**:348-351.

Pham NV, Nguyen MT, Hu JF, Vu TH and Hoffman AR (1998) Dissociation of IGF2 and H19 imprinting in human brain. *Brain research* **810**:1-8.

Picketts DJ, Higgs DR, Bachoo S, Blake DJ, Quarrell OWJ and Gibbons RJ (1996) *ATRX* encodes a novel member of the SNF2 family of proteins: mutations point to a common mechanism underlying ATR-X syndrome. *Human Molecular Genetics* **5**:1899-1907.

Ritchie K, Seah C, Moulin J, Isaac C, Dick F and Bérubé NG (2008) Loss of ATRX leads to chromosome cohesion and congression defects. *The Journal of cell biology* **180**:315-324.

Seah C, Levy MA, Jiang Y, Mokhtarzada S, Higgs DR, Gibbons RJ and Bérubé NG (2008) Neuronal death resulting from targeted disruption of the Snf2 protein ATRX is mediated by p53. *J Neurosci* **28**:12570-12580.

Steshina E, Carr M, Glick E, Yevtodiyenko A, Appelbe O and Schmidt J (2006) Loss of imprinting at the Dlk1-Gtl2 locus caused by insertional mutagenesis in the Gtl2 5'-region. *BMC Genetics* **7**:44-65.

Svensson K, Walsh C, Fundele R and Ohlsson R (1995a) H19 is imprinted in the choroid plexus and leptomeninges of the mouse foetus. *Mechanisms of Development* **51**:31-37.

Svensson K, Walsh C, Fundele R and Ohlsson R (1995b) H19 is imprinted in the choroid plexus and leptomeninges of the mouse foetus. *Mech Dev* **51**:31-37.

Takada S, Paulsen M, Tevendale M, Tsai C-E, Kelsey G, Cattanach BM and Ferguson-Smith AC (2002) Epigenetic analysis of the *Dlk1-Gtl2* imprinted domain on mouse chromosome 12: implications for imprinting control from comparison with *Igf2-H19*. *Human Molecular Genetics* **11**:77-86.

Thorvaldsen JL, Mann MR, Nwoko O, Duran KL and Bartolomei MS (2002) Analysis of sequence upstream of the endogenous H19 gene reveals elements both essential and dispensable for imprinting. *Mol Cell Biol* **22**:2450-2462.

Urdinguio RG, Lopez-Serra L, Lopez-Nieva P, Alaminos M, Diaz-Uriarte R, Fernandez AF and Esteller M (2008) Mecp2-null mice provide new neuronal targets for Rett syndrome. *PLoS ONE* **3**:e3669.

Varrault A, Gueydan C, Delalbre A, Bellmann A, Houssami S, Aknin C, Severac D, Chotard L, Kahli M, Le Digarcher A, Pavlidis P and Journot L (2006) Zac1 regulates an imprinted gene network critically involved in the control of embryonic growth. *Developmental cell* **11**:711-722.

Vega H, Waisfisz Q, Gordillo M, Sakai N, Yanagihara I, Yamada M, van Gosliga D, Kayserili H, Xu C, Ozono K, Jabs EW, Inui K and Joenje H (2005) Roberts syndrome is caused by mutations in ESCO2, a human homolog of yeast ECO1 that is essential for the establishment of sister chromatid cohesion. *Nat Genet* **37**:468-470.

Wendt KS, Yoshida K, Itoh T, Bando M, Koch B, Schirghuber E, Tsutsumi S, Nagae G, Ishihara K, Mishiro T, Yahata K, Imamoto F, Aburatani H, Nakao M, Imamoto N, Maeshima K, Shirahige K and Peters JM (2008) Cohesin mediates transcriptional insulation by CCCTC-binding factor. *Nature* **451**:796-801.

Wylie AA, Murphy SK, Orton TC and Jirtle RL (2000) Novel imprinted *DLK1/GTL2* domain on human chromosome 14 contains motifs that mimic those implicated in *IGF2/H19* regulation. *Genome Research* **10**:1711-1718.

Zhao Z, Tavoosidana G, Sjolinder M, Gondor A, Mariano P, Wang S, Kanduri C, Lezcano M, Sandhu KS, Singh U, Pant V, Tiwari V, Kurukuti S and Ohlsson R (2006) Circular chromosome conformation capture (4C) uncovers extensive networks of epigenetically regulated intra- and interchromosomal interactions. *Nat Genet* **38**:1341-1347.

# Chapter 3

# 3 ATRX Regulates Nucleosome Positioning, CTCF Occupancy and Long-Range Chromosomal Interactions

My initial studies revealed that ATRX controls the expression of imprinted genes and promotes CTCF and Cohesin binding within the *H19* ICR and *Gtl2* DMR. At the onset of this study CTCF and Cohesin had recently been recognized as proteins vital for chromatin interactions throughout the genome, including within the *H19/Igf2* imprinted domain and between *H19/Igf2* and other IGN members(Han et al., 2008; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Nativio et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2006b). This led me to investigate whether the loss of ATRX would also affect chromatin interactions at *H19/Igf2* and perhaps other imprinted domains, providing a potential mechanism for ATRX regulation of imprinted genes.

## 3.1 Introduction

Recent technological advancements have greatly evolved our understanding of the genome, from a linear organization to a complex three dimensional structure(de Wit and de Laat, 2012). Chromosomes within the nucleus are strategically folded to facilitate interactions of genes and regulatory sequences, both within and between chromosomes(reviewed in (Cremer and Cremer, 2001; Cremer and Cremer, 2010; Cremer et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2009)). These short- and long-range interactions can inhibit or enhance gene expression, and are highly relevant to genomic control. Regulation of higher-order chromatin structure is not well understood, but likely involves chromatin remodeling factors. Chromatin remodeling factors are a diverse group of proteins that utilize the energy of ATP to alter the histone-DNA interface, thus affecting chromatin structure(Travers et al., 2012).

Alpha-thalassemia mental retardation, X-linked (ATRX) is a switch/sucrose nonfermenting (SWI/SNF)-like chromatin remodeling protein, implicated in neurodevelopmental syndromes and cancer in humans(Gibbons et al., 1995a; Gibbons et al., 1995b; Gibbons et al., 1992; Je et al., 2012; Jiao et al., 2012a; Liu et al., 2012;

Weisbrod et al., 2013). The ATRX protein has two main conserved domains, an ATRX-DNMT3-DNMT3L (ADD) domain and a switch/sucrose non-fermenting (SWI/SNF) domain(Picketts et al., 1998). The SWI/SNF domain confers ATPase-dependent translocase activity(Tang et al., 2004;Flaus et al., 2006), while the ADD domain recognizes and interacts with DNA and other proteins(Argentaro et al., 2007; Cardoso et al., 2000; Dhayalan et al., 2011; Wong et al., 2010). ATRX binds throughout the genome to enact diverse functions. To date, roles have been reported in DNA replication(Leung et al., 2013; Watson et al., 2013), mitosis(Ritchie et al., 2008), meiosis(De La Fuente et al., 2004), telomere stability(Bower et al., 2012; de Wilde et al., 2012; Heaphy et al., 2011; Lewis et al., 2010; Lovejoy et al., 2012; Watson et al., 2013; Wong et al., 2010) and gene expression(Law et al., 2010; Levy et al., 2008). Genome-wide studies have reported that ATRX is enriched at GC-rich and repetitive sequences, such as CpGislands, DNA repeats, and telomeres, including many predicted to form secondary DNA structures called G-quadruplexes(Law et al., 2010). ATRX is thought to translocate along DNA to aid in the resolution of G-quadruplexes and facilitate DNA replication and transcription(Law et al., 2010). This mechanism of ATRX-dependent gene regulation was proposed at the alpha-globin domain, where ATRX binds G-rich tandem repeat sequences and modulates gene expression in *cis*(Law et al., 2010). However, ATRX deficiency causes the misexpression of numerous genes throughout the genome(Levy et al., 2008). Given the diverse roles of the ATRX protein, it is likely that ATRX also has multiple functions in transcriptional regulation.

Imprinted genes are a class of genes expressed in a parent-of-origin manner and regulated by epigenetic factors, including higher-order chromatin looping(Kernohan and Bérubé, 2010). We previously demonstrated a requirement for ATRX in the transcriptional repression of a network of imprinted genes, including *H19* and *Igf2*, in the mouse brain(Kernohan et al., 2010). At the *H19/Igf2* domain, we found that ATRX forms a complex with methyl CpG binding protein 2 (MeCP2) and Cohesin on the maternal allele of the *H19* imprinting control region (ICR)(Kernohan et al., 2010). Loss of ATRX caused a reduction in CCCTC-binding factor (CTCF) and Cohesin binding that correlated with an increase in *H19* and *Igf2* transcripts(Kernohan et al., 2010). However, the function of ATRX at the *H19* ICR, and its role in repressing *H19/Igf2* expression is not known.

Transcription from H19/Igf2 is regulated by chromatin looping which is mediated by the H19 ICR and requires CTCF and Cohesin(Burke et al., 2005; Guibert et al., 2012; Han et al., 2008; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008). As ATRX affects CTCF and Cohesin occupancy, we set out to investigate a possible role for ATRX in mediating looping of this domain. We utilized circular chromosome conformation capture (4C) and quantitative chromosome conformation capture (3C) to evaluate interactions of the H19 ICR in the neonatal brain. We demonstrate that the loss of ATRX significantly reduces chromosomal interactions with specific H19/Igf2 sites. Architectural changes across H19/Igf2 coincide with a failure to maintain CTCF binding, likely as a result of ATRXmediated nucleosome occupancy within the 5' H19 ICR. Finally, we report that MeCP2 recruits ATRX to the H19 ICR, and that the loss of MeCP2 also results in defects in H19/Igf2 chromatin structure. We propose a model where MeCP2 recruits ATRX to the maternal H19 ICR to repress H19/Igf2 expression. Once recruited to the ICR, ATRX modifies nucleosome occupancy to maintain an extended linker region which accommodates CTCF binding, thus promoting long-range chromosomal interactions and gene repression.

### 3.2 Materials and Methods

#### 3.2.1 Animal Husbandry

The *Atrx* gene was conditionally deleted in the mouse forebrain by mating *Atrx<sup>loxP</sup>* female mice with heterozygous *Foxg1Cre* male mice as previously described(Bérubé et al., 2005). *Atrx<sup>loxP</sup>* line was kindly provided by D. Higgs (Weatherall Institute of Molecular Medicine, John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford, United Kingdom). For the developmental studies, midday of vaginal plug discovery was considered E0.5. For allele-specific expression studies, pups were obtained by mating 129Sv female mice with *Mus musculus castaneus* male mice (CAST; The Jackson Laboratory). *MeCP2<sup>null</sup>* mice were generated by crossing *MeCP2<sup>loxP</sup>* females (Jackson Laboratories Stock # 007177) with a ubiquitous *Cre* line driven by the EIIa promoter (Jackson Laboratories Stock #003724). All animal

studies were conducted in compliance with the regulations of The Animals for Research Act of the province of Ontario, the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care, and the policies and procedures approved by the University of Western Ontario Council on Animal Care.

#### 3.2.2 Circular Chromosome Conformation Capture (4C)

4C protocol was based on (Gheldof et al., 2012). Briefly, following 3C library preparation, 100 µg of DNA was digested with MseI (H19 ICR) (100 U; New England Biolabs) overnight at 37 °C. MseI was chosen to provide a minimum 200 base pairs from the primary to secondary restriction sites, allowing for efficient circularization. The enzyme was deactivated for 25 minutes in 1.3% SDS at 65 °C and DNA was recovered by standard phenol/chloroform extraction. Digestion efficiency was confirmed to be >96% by real-time PCR across 5 sites throughout the genome. DNA was resuspended in ligation buffer with 50 U T4 DNA ligase (Roche Diagnostics) and 1 µM ATP and incubated at 16 °C for 5 days. DNA was purified by phenol/chloroform extraction and amplified with the Expand Long Template PCR system (Roche Diagnostics) and site specific reverse primers directed from the H19 ICR. PCR products were resolved on a 1% agarose gel, and extracted in 3 aliquots using a QIAquick gel extraction kit (Qiagen); undigested band, <230 base pairs and >230 base pairs. The >230 base pair fraction was sheared enzymatically using the Ion Shear Plus Reagents incubating at 37 °C for 5 minutes, and then combined with the <230 base pair fraction and 1/6th of the undigested self-ligation fragment before barcoding with the Ion Xpress Barcode Adapters 1-16 kit. Sequencing was performed using the Ion Torrent Personal Genome Machine (Life Technologies) with 318 chips and 200 base pair sequencing chemistry according to manufacturers protocols at the London Regional Genomics Centre.

#### 3.2.3 4C Analysis

Ion Torrent reads were mapped by TMAP Suite 3.2.1 and supplied in BAM format. These were converted to SAM format using samtools(Li et al., 2009) and sorted by chromosome and position prior to analysis. The individual chromosome sequences of the Genome Reference Consortium Mouse Build 38 were downloaded from the UCSC genome browser web site. A custom script, written in Perl, was used to generate a file for each chromosome containing the EcoRI restriction endonuclease coordinates. A second custom script parsed the SAM file and enumerated the total number of reads that mapped to each restriction endonuclease cleavage interval, and the number of unique reads mapping to each interval. Reads were assumed to be identical if they were in the same orientation and had the same starting positions. The total number of unique mapping reads for each dataset was between 52,162 and 303,823. Because the ratio of reads in any interval to the total was very small, standard statistical techniques were used to construct a robust estimator of the underlying proportions. Specifically, underlying proportions were estimated using a multinomial-Poisson model in a Bayesian context using a minimally-informative reference prior(Berger and Bernardo, 1992; Berger et al., 2009). Since fold-change is the usual measure of effect-size, all expectations were taken with respect to log\_2-proportions. For compatibility with the UCSC genome browser, the expected log\_2-proportions were mapped back to linear-space and multiplied by an arbitrary integer scaling factor.

#### 3.2.4 Chromosome Conformation Capture (3C)

3C libraries were prepared essentially as previously described(Vernimmen et al., 2007), with the same controls. Briefly, neonatal mouse forebrain and/or liver tissue was dissected, rinsed in DMEM (Sigma-Aldrich) and cut. Minced tissue was diluted in DMEM (Sigma-Aldrich) with 10% FBS (Sigma-Aldrich) and passed through a 70 μm cell strainer (BD Falcon) to ensure single cell suspension. The cell suspension was incubated at 37 °C for 30 minutes to equilibrate. Cells were cross-linked in 1% formaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich), rinsed 3x with cold PBS (Sigma-Aldrich) and lysed [Lysis buffer: 10mM Tris pH 8 (Sigma-Aldrich), 10mM NaCl (Sigma-Aldrich), 0.2% NP40 (Sigma-Aldrich), and 1x protease inhibitors (Roche Diagnostics)]. Nuclei were resuspended in 1.2x restriction buffer (Roche Diagnostics buffer H) and 3% SDS (Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated at 37 °C for 1 hour, followed by addition of 2% TX-100 (Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated at 37 °C. The enzyme was deactivated for 25 minutes in 1.3% SDS at 65 °C. Digested DNA was incubated in lysis buffer with 1% TX-100 (Sigma-

Aldrich) for one hour, followed by the addition of T4 DNA ligase (100 U; Roche Diagnostics). Ligation was performed for 4 hours at 16 °C followed by 30 minutes at room temperature. The cross-link was reversed and protein degraded by addition of 300  $\mu$ g Proteinase K(PK) (BioShop Canada Inc.) and incubation overnight at 65 °C. RNA was degraded by addition of 300  $\mu$ g RNAse A (Roche Diagnostics) and incubated for 30 minutes at 37 °C. DNA was purified by phenol/chloroform extraction. Samples were prepared in parallel that lacked either the EcoRI or T4 DNA ligase enzymes. Digestion efficiency was confirmed to be  $\geq$ 96% by real-time PCR across 5 sites spanning the *H19/Igf2* domain.

#### 3.2.5 Quantitative 3C Analysis

Library amplification and quantification was conducted as described previously (Vernimmen et al., 2007), with the same controls. Briefly, PCR reactions, primers and probes were optimized on a library of randomly ligated BAC DNA containing the H19/Igf2 domain (RP23-50N22) and XPB (RP23-148C24) (clones were obtained from TCAG Genome Resource Facility, The Hospital for Sick Children Toronto). All H19/Igf2 primer combinations were tested to amplify in linear correlation with the amount of BAC DNA and within 2 Cts. All 3C data was corrected to primer efficiency and calculated relative to XPB/ERCC3 amplification, a genomic region demonstrated to have equivalent looping structures in many tissues, including liver and brain(Tiwari et al., 2008). This also controls for differences in chromatin concentrations and cross-linking efficiency between samples. 3C template obtained from P0.5 control and *Atrx<sup>null</sup>* and littermate control forebrains were amplified in duplicate with Taqman Universal PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) on a Chromo-4 thermocycler (BioRad) using the following conditions: 50 °C for 2 minutes, then 95 °C for 10 minutes, followed by 50 cycles of 95 °C for 10 seconds, 60 °C for 1 minute. All primer combinations were visualized on polyacrylamide gels to confirm amplification of the correct sequences. For all reactions, a negative bait site located approximately 100 kb downstream of H19 was also used; the lack of interactions from this site ensured specificity of ICR interactions.

#### 3.2.6 DNA FISH and Immunofluorescence

DNA FISH protocol was adapted from (Dorin et al., 1992). Neonatal brains were fixed overnight in 4% paraformaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich), equilibrated in 30% sucrose-PBS, frozen in O.C.T. (Tissue Tek) and sectioned at 8 µm. Antigen retrieval was performed using 0.3% sodium citrate (Sigma-Aldrich) for an hour. Slides were dehydrated in an ethanol series of 70% for 2 minutes, 90% for 2 minutes, and 100% for 5 minutes, followed by denaturation in 70% formamide/2xSSC for 5 minutes at 65 °C. Slides were again dehydrated as described above and then incubated with 0.05 µg of DIG and/or biotin-labeled probe/hybridization buffer [83% formamide (Sigma-Aldrich), 3.3x SSC (Sigma-Aldrich), 0.02 µM dextran sulfate, and 30 µg salmon sperm DNA (Sigma-Aldrich)] overnight at 37 °C in a humidified chamber. Probes were prepared by nick translation of BAC DNA (H19/Igf2:RP23-50N22, Gapdh:RP23-319C23, Peg10/Sgce: RP23-327D3, Dcn:RP23228L10, Slc38a4: RP23-304B5, Grb10: RP23-298L21, Dlk1:RP23-385B6, Zac1:RP23-259L24, Mest:RP23-269K7 (all clones obtained from TCAG Genome Resource Facility, The Hospital for Sick Children Toronto) using the Biotin and DIG- Nick Translation Kits (Roche Diagnostics) and purified using the High Pure PCR Product Purification Kit (Roche Diagnostics) as per manufacturer's instructions. Slides were washed in 50% formamide/2xSSC for 2 x 5 minutes, and 2xSSC for 2 x 5minutes. Sections were incubated with the primary antibody for 1 hour at room temperature, washed for 15 minutes in PBS, and incubated with the secondary antibody for 1 hour. Sections were counterstained with DAPI (Sigma-Aldrich; D9542) and mounted in Slowfade Gold Antifade Reagent (Invitrogen). Primary antibodies used were as follows: anti-ATRX H-300 (1:250; Santa Cruz Biotechnology) anti-DIG (1:100; Roche Diagnostics), and anti-Biotin (1:500; Abcam). Secondary antibodies used were as follows: goat-anti rabbit Alexa 594 (1:800; Invitrogen) and goat anti-mouse Alexa 488 (1:800; Invitrogen). Images were taken at 0.3  $\mu$ m intervals across the 8  $\mu$ m section using the Olympus FV1000 confocal microscope and FV10-ASW 2.1 image acquisition software (Olympus). Volocity software (PerkinElmer) was used to compile 3D images and make distance measurements in 3D. For co-localization analysis, FISH signals with a centre-to-centre distance of less than 1 µm were considered to be interacting(Sandhu et al., 2009).

#### 3.2.7 ChIP-Sequencing Analysis

Raw sequencing data for ATRX embryonic stem cell ChIP-sequencing was downloaded from the NCBI Sequence Read Archive (Accession number GSE22162), and aligned to the mouse genome using Bowtie version 0.12.8 in the -n alignment mode. During alignment duplicate sequences were removed, up to 3 mismatches were allowed, and reads that aligned to more than one location were discarded. Genome-wide data tracks were generated using custom Perl scripts to extend reads to their fragment lengths and normalized to 20 million reads. Data was visualized in the UCSC Genome Browser(Kent et al., 2002).

#### 3.2.8 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation

ChIP was conducted as previously described(Kernohan et al., 2010) with the following exceptions: cells were dissected and fixed immediately at 37 °C, then washed in PBS containing 1x protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche Diagnostics), immunoprecipitation was conducted with anti-ATRX (H300; Santa Cruz) and anti-CTCF (Cell Signaling), DNA-antigen complexes were retrieved by incubation with protein A agarose beads (Cell Signaling), and LiCl wash was omitted. ChIP products were amplified in duplicate with iQ<sup>TM</sup> SYBR<sup>®</sup> Green master mix (BioRad) on a Chromo-4 thermocycler using the following conditions: 95 °C for 5 minutes followed by 40 cycles of 95 °C for 10 seconds, 57.5 °C for 20 seconds, 72 °C for 30 seconds, and a final melting curve generated from 55 to 95 °C in increments of 1.0 °C per plate read. Ct values were obtained and % input and fold-change calculated as previously described(Kernohan et al., 2010).

#### 3.2.9 Nucleosome Density Analysis

Neonatal mouse forebrain was dissected, rinsed in 37 °C DMEM (Sigma-Aldrich) and passed through a 70 µm cell strainer (BD Falcon) to ensure single cell suspension. The cell suspension was incubated at 37 °C for 30 minutes to equilibrate. Cells were fixed in 1% formaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich) for 5 minutes and rinsed 3x with cold PBS containing protease inhibitors (Roche Diagnostics). Cells were resuspended in lysis buffer [0.34 M sucrose, 60 mM KCl, 15 mM Tris-HCl, 15 mM NaCl, 0.5% NP-40 and 1x protease inhibitors (Sigma Aldrich)] and flash-frozen and thawed 3x, nuclei were spun down, and

resuspended in micrococcal nuclease digestion buffer (NEB). Micrococcal Nuclease (2 U) was added and incubated at 37 °C for 5 minutes then quenched with EDTA. Cells were lysed with 1% SDS and cross-links reversed by incubation at 65 °C for 5 hours, followed by RNAse and PK digestion and phenol/chloroform extraction. DNA was amplified in duplicate with iQ<sup>TM</sup> SYBR<sup>®</sup> Green master mix (BioRad) on a Chromo-4 thermocycler (MJ Research) using the following conditions: 35 cycles of 95 °C for 30 seconds, 57.5 °C for 30 seconds, and 72 °C for 1 minute. Quantification was conducted using the standard curve Ct method of quantification and normalized to amplification from *Gapdh* and *beta-actin*.

### 3.3 Results

### 3.3.1 ATRX Mediates Higher-Order Chromatin Structure of the H19/lgf2 Imprinted Domain

We previously reported that ATRX localizes to the H19 ICR where it mediates binding of CTCF and Cohesin(Kernohan et al., 2010), proteins known to be required for H19/Igf2 higher-order chromatin structure(Guibert et al., 2012; Han et al., 2008; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008; Nativio et al., 2009; Rubio et al., 2008). This led us to postulate that ATRX is also required for proper *H19/Igf2* chromatin looping, providing an explanation for elevated H19 and Igf2 transcript levels in the  $Atrx^{null}$  forebrain. To evaluate interactions of the H19 ICR we utilized 4C, a 3C based molecular technique used to screen for genome-wide interactions in vivo(reviewed in (Sajan and Hawkins, 2012)). 3C libraries were generated from P0.5 forebrains utilizing EcoRI, then redigested with MseI and self-ligated to form circular 3C recombined molecules. The samples were then PCR amplified with primers directed from the H19 ICR 'bait sequence' across the interacting fragments and sequenced to provide a genome-wide unbiased analysis. Sequencing results were aligned to an EcoRI digested genome. While chromatin looping of H19/Igf2 has been reported elsewhere(Burke et al., 2005; Guibert et al., 2012; Han et al., 2008; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008), none of these studies utilized wholegenome sequencing to generate an unbiased screen and none have been conducted on forebrain tissue. We began by establishing the pattern of interactions in the control forebrain and found a series of contacts, including the insulin (Ins) and insulin like

growth factor 2 (*Igf2*) genes, *Igf2* differentially methylated region 1 (DMR1), *Igf2* DMR2, matrix-attachment region 3 (MAR3), centrally conserved domain (CCD), and the *H19* promoter and downstream enhancers (Figure 3-1A). To determine if the loss of ATRX affects interactions of the *H19* ICR, we compared 4C libraries from control and *Atrx<sup>null</sup>* forebrains. We found reduced interaction frequencies across numerous sites including the CCD, MAR3 and DMR1 (Figure 3-1A), demonstrating that ATRX is required for interactions of the *H19* ICR across the *H19/Igf2* domain.

To confirm ATRX-dependent effects on chromatin structure within H19/Igf2, we utilized quantitative 3C. We designed this analysis with the same EcoRI primary digestion, thereby dividing the 140 kb region into 45 fragments stretching from the Ins gene to the H19 enhancers (Figure 3-1B). We designed a forward primer and Taqman probe to the H19 ICR (EcoRI restriction fragment used as bait), and numerous reverse primers in other EcoRI fragments covering intergenic regions as well as key elements identified in the 4C screen. To provide further confirmation of interaction frequencies at a subset of sites, a second primer was designed to the other end of the restriction fragment. For validation of the 3C approach, we began with an analysis of neonatal liver and forebrain. A similar interaction profile of the H19 ICR was observed in the liver and forebrain. Thus, the interactions previously reported(Qiu et al., 2008) and confirmed here in neonatal liver are also present in the neonatal brain (Supplementary Figure 3-7B). These profiles also mirror the interactions observed in our 4C experiments, demonstrating the reliability and robustness of our in vivo 3C and 4C analyses. We next quantified interactions in control and Atrx<sup>null</sup> forebrains (Figure 3-1C,D). Similar to our 4C experiments, we found that the loss of ATRX diminished interactions across the H19/Igf2 domain, with significant reductions at the *Igf2* DMR1 (region E/F; p=0.001 and 0.0003), MAR3 (region I; p=0.0052 and 0.0038), CCD (region L; p=0.0001 and 0.0001) and the endodermal enhancer (region Q; p=0.0004 and 0.0105) (Figure 3-1C,D). Conversely, interactions with Ins (region B), the intergenic site between MAR3 and the CCD (region K) and the region downstream of the H19 enhancers (region T) were unaltered. For a subset of samples, expression analysis was performed in tandem with the 3C analysis to confirm that gene expression and chromatin looping were changed in the same brain

samples (Supplementary Figure 3-7C). We conclude that ATRX is required for *intra*chromosomal interactions of the *H19* ICR in the neonatal forebrain.



# Figure 3-1 ATRX is required for *intra*chromosomal interactions across the *H19/Igf2* imprinted domain

(A) 4C interactions profile of the *H19* ICR in neonatal control and *Atrx<sup>null</sup>* forebrain tissue reveals that ATRX is necessary for chromosomal contacts across *H19/Igf2*. The *H19* ICR bait sequence is highlighted in yellow. (B) Schematic representation of the *H19/Igf2* imprinted domain and alignment of primers utilized for PCR amplification of 3C reactions. Numbers indicate the relative nucleotide position from the start of the *H19* ICR. Grey boxes represent the position of genes and black boxes demarcate regulatory elements. Vertical black lines indicate the position of EcoRI restriction site and black arrows represent primers used for analysis. The bait sequence primers and probe are

marked as a red arrow and black asterisk, respectively. (C) 3C analysis was performed across the H19/Igf2 domain in control and  $Atrx^{null}$  littermate matched forebrains. Interaction frequencies were significantly reduced at the DMR1, MAR3, CCD, and the endodermal enhancer. Image depicts a representative interaction profile. (D) Interaction frequencies across the region were quantified in additional brains (n=5). p values were determined by a two tailed t-test, \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.0001.

#### 3.3.2 ATRX Acts in *Cis* to Regulate the Expression of Imprinted Genes

In addition to intrachromosomal interactions, the H19 ICR can interact in trans with other imprinted domains on multiple chromosomes(Ling et al., 2006; Sandhu et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2006). We investigated if these interactions occur in the brain and if they are mediated by ATRX, perhaps providing a mechanism for ATRX regulation of the imprinted gene network (IGN). To determine if the H19/Igf2 genomic region colocalizes with other imprinted genes in the brain, we conducted DNA fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) analysis on newborn brain sections, followed by confocal microscopy and three dimensional (3D) image analysis. To facilitate comparison with published embryonic stem cell data, we defined an interaction as FISH signals with a centre-to-centre distance of less than 1  $\mu$ m in 3D(Sandhu et al., 2009). We quantified the localization of H19/Igf2 with the top eight imprinted genes affected by the loss of ATRX (Slc38a4, Grb10, Dlk1, Dcn, Zac1, Mest and Peg10/Sgce)(Kernohan et al., 2010). We also included *Gapdh* as a control that should display random localization. All gene regions, with the exception of *Peg10/Sgce*, co-localize with *H19/Igf2* with interaction frequencies characteristic of transient events that are consistent with previously reported embryonic stem cell data (Figure 3-2A,B). Peg10/Sgce did not co-localize with H19/Igf2, but rather exhibited a random localization profile similar to that of Gapdh. Therefore, the regulation of this imprinted domain is likely independent of H19 and/or other IGN members. We next assessed whether ATRX is required for interactions between H19/Igf2 and other IGN domains. 3D DNA FISH analysis of cortical sections from three control/ $Atrx^{null}$  littermate matched pairs revealed no significant difference in interaction frequencies upon loss of ATRX (Figure 3-2A,B). This result suggests that while IGN domains co-localize transiently in the forebrain, their interaction with the H19/Igf2 genomic region is not regulated by ATRX.

We previously reported that ATRX also localizes within a second imprinted domain on mouse chromosome 12, *Gtl2/Dlk1*(Kernohan et al., 2010) suggesting that ATRX may be recruited to several imprinted domain to regulated gene expression in *cis*. Analysis of previously published ATRX ChIP-sequencing data from embryonic stem cells(Law et al.,

2010) reveals that ATRX directly binds in proximity to many imprinted genes, with the majority of binding sites overlapping known DMRs and ICRs (Figure 3-3). We were able to confirm ATRX localization to these sites in P0.5 forebrains by ChIP, and propose that ATRX is likely required to regulate chromosomal interactions in *cis* at individual imprinted genes, but not by promoting their co-localization in the nucleus.


## Figure 3-2 The *H19/Igf2* imprinted domain forms ATRX-independent *inter*chromosomal interactions with specific IGN members

(A) Collapsed confocal series (top), and 3D reconstructed serial confocal images (bottom) of neonatal cortical nuclei showing superimposed hybridization signals for *H19/Igf2* (green) and other IGN members (red). Cells are counterstained with DAPI (blue). Scale bar: 0.5 μm. (B) Frequency of hybridization signals from IGN member either overlapping or in close physical proximity to *H19/Igf2* DNA FISH signal. Graphed data represent the mean interaction frequency from three control and ATRX-null littermate pairs. One hundred cells were counted for each animal and signals with a 3D centre-to-centre distance of less than 1 μm were considered to represent an interaction. *Slc38a4*, *Grb10*, *Dlk1*, *Dcn*, *Zac1* and *Mest* display co-localization with *H19/Igf2*, while *Peg10/Sgce* and *Gapdh* do not. Interaction frequencies were not affected by the loss of ATRX in the forebrain.



Figure 3-3 ATRX binds DMRs and ICRs throughout the IGN

Previously published ChIP-sequencing from embryonic stem cells was analyzed(Law et al., 2010) and demonstrates binding of ATRX at many imprinted domains. ATRX enrichment at these sites was confirmed in the forebrain, demonstrating ATRX recruitment is a common IGN regulatory mechanism. Graphs depict average % input, n=3, error bars represent SEM

3.3.3 ATRX is Recruited to the *H19* ICR to Regulate Nucleosome Positioning and Maintain CTCF Occupancy

ATRX-mediated silencing of imprinted genes is limited to the postnatal brain(Kernohan et al., 2010). This led us to enquire whether ATRX is present at the H19 ICR in the embryonic brain and then functions upon neuronal maturation, or whether it is absent embryonically before being recruited in the late gestational/neonatal period to affect chromatin looping. To address this question, we conducted chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) for ATRX on embryonic day 13.5 (E13.5) and P0.5 forebrains. We found ATRX enrichment within the H19 ICR at P0.5 but not E13.5 (Figure 3-4B), demonstrating that ATRX must be recruited to the H19 ICR in the late gestational/neonatal period. ATRX-deficiency in the forebrain at P17 results in decreased CTCF binding at the H19 ICR(Kernohan et al., 2010), leading us to question if ATRX functions to recruit or maintain CTCF at this site. ChIP for CTCF on E13.5 and P0.5 control forebrains revealed similar patterns of CTCF binding with high enrichment at sites H19-2 and H19-4 (Figure 4C), indicating CTCF is present at the H19 ICR prior to ATRX occupancy. Furthermore, we find that CTCF enrichment in ATRX-deficient forebrains is normal at E13.5 but reduced at P0.5 (Figure 3-4D). We conclude that ATRX recruitment to the H19 ICR in the neonatal brain functions to maintain CTCF binding.

Recent reports have suggested ATRX targets DNA enriched for G-quadruplex structures, where it can aid in insertion of histone H3.3(Goldberg et al., 2010; Law et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2010) and we hypothesized that this mechanism may account for the differences in CTCF binding at the *H19* ICR. However, we found no sequences predicted to form G-quadruplexes in the *H19* ICR(Scaria et al., 2006). ChIP for H3.3 in control and ATRX-null neonatal forebrains showed that the loss of ATRX caused a small increase in H3.3 occupancy across the 5' region of the *H19* ICR, which is inconsistent with decreased H3.3 deposition observed at ATRX-deficient telomeres(Goldberg et al., 2010) (Supplementary Figure 3-8B). To determine if this increase was specific to H3.3, we conducted ChIP for histone H2A and found a similar increase in enrichment

(Supplementary Figure 3-8B). Based on these findings, we propose that ATRX does not target G-quadruplex DNA or function to insert H3.3 at the *H19* ICR.

Several studies have noted that CTCF bound regions are often devoid of nucleosomes(Davey et al., 2003; Fu et al., 2008; Kanduri et al., 2002; Kelly et al., 2012; Teif et al., 2012). Given that ATRX has DNA translocase activity(Xue et al., 2003; Mitson et al., 2011), and that we observed a slight increase in histone proteins in the absence of ATRX at the H19 ICR, we speculated that ATRX could be shuttling nucleosomes within the ICR, resulting in nucleosome devoid regions. To test if ATRX affects nucleosome positioning, we digested control and Atrx<sup>null</sup> neonatal forebrains with micrococcal nuclease, which digests all DNA not protected by proteins, including histones. This analysis is more precise and sensitive than the ChIP for histones as it generates smaller fragments. Samples were evaluated by qRT-PCR with primers tiling the H19 ICR in 100 bp fragments (Figure 3-4A). Amplification revealed a trend towards an increase at site B overlapping the CTCF bound region (Supplementary Figure 3-9B). ATRX binds only the maternal allele(Kernohan et al., 2010), and the presence of the paternal allele might attenuate the detection of maternal allele-specific effects. To circumvent this problem, we further digested micrococcal nuclease processed samples with McrBC, an enzyme that degrades GC-rich methylated DNA, including the paternal allele of the H19 ICR (Figure 3-4E). Paternal-specific McrBC digestion was confirmed by allelic analysis in 129Sv/Castaneous polymorphic mice (Supplementary Figure 3-9C,D). McrBC digested Atrx<sup>null</sup> brains displayed significantly increased amplification over controls in regions B and C (Region B, p=0.016; Region C, p=0.05), indicating an increase in nucleosome protection within this area in mutant compared to control brains (Figure 3-4F). Regions B and C of the H19 ICR overlap the two previously reported ATRX-dependent CTCF binding sites(Kernohan et al., 2010), and are in close proximity to the ATRX-enriched region. Conversely, we find no significant changes in protection elsewhere in the H19 ICR, illustrating a site-specific effect on nucleosome occupancy (Figure 3-4F). This substantiates our hypothesis that ATRX regulates nucleosome occupancy within the 5' region of the H19 ICR and provides a mechanism for the decrease in H19 ICR CTCF binding and chromatin interactions in the Atrx<sup>null</sup> brain.



## Figure 3-4 ATRX is recruited to the *H19* ICR to govern nucleosome occupancy and CTCF binding in the neonatal brain

(A) Schematic representation of the *H19* ICR and alignment of primers used for qPCR of ChIP (top) and nucleosome occupancy (bottom) analysis. Grey boxes indicate the position of CTCF binding sites, and the ATRX/MeCP2 site is marked in red. Numbers indicate the relative position from the start of the *H19* ICR. ChIP for ATRX (B) and CTCF (C) in E13.5 and P0.5 forebrains shows that while CTCF is enriched at both E13.5 and P0.5, ATRX is limited to the neonatal brain and is required for neonatal CTCF enrichment (D) (n=3 for each, error bars depict SEM). (E) Schematic of allele-specific micrococcal nuclease digestion protocol. (F) qPCR of micrococcal nuclease and McrBC digested DNA depicts maternal DNA protected by histones. A significant increase in nucleosome occupancy was observed within regions B and C of the *H19* ICR. Graphs depict average fold change and statistical analysis was performed by a two-tailed t-test (n=3, errors bars depict SEM). \*=p<0.05

3.3.4 MeCP2 Recruits ATRX to the *H19* ICR in the Neonatal Brain to Govern *intra*chromosomal Interactions

We previously reported co-localization of ATRX with MeCP2 at the *H19* ICR, and that loss of ATRX did not affect MeCP2 enrichment at this site(Kernohan et al., 2010). MeCP2 has been shown to recruit ATRX to PCH(Baker et al., 2013; Nan et al., 2007), leading us to question if MeCP2 also recruits ATRX to genic regions. To address this question, we performed ChIP for ATRX in control and *MeCP2<sup>null</sup>* neonatal brains and found that in the absence of MeCP2, ATRX failed to occupy the *H19* ICR (Figure 3-5A,B). Therefore, MeCP2 binding at the *H19* ICR is required for the recruitment of ATRX.

As MeCP2 is required for ATRX binding at the *H19* ICR, and the loss of ATRX causes defects in *intra*chromosomal interactions of this region, we predicted that the loss of MeCP2 would also affect *H19/Igf2* architecture. We conducted 4C and 3C in control and *MeCP2<sup>null</sup>* neonatal forebrains and found by both methods that MeCP2-deficiency results in chromatin structure defects more dramatic than those observed following the loss of ATRX. 4C analysis displayed a decrease in interactions across *H19/Igf2* including the CCD, MAR3 and DMR1 regions (Figure 3-5C). Quantitative 3C analysis revealed that, like ATRX, *MeCP2<sup>null</sup>* brains had significantly decreased interaction frequencies with the *Igf2* DMR1 (region E/F; p=0.008 and 0.001), MAR3 (region I; p= 0.001), CCD (region L; p= 0.0007) and the endodermal enhancer (region Q; p=0.0008). Additionally, decreased interactions were observed with the *Ins* gene (Region B; p=0.05), and the intergenic regions K and N (region K; p=0.009; region N; p=0.001) (Figure 3-5D,E). Together these data demonstrate that MeCP2 recruits ATRX, and likely additional unidentified factors, to the *H19* ICR in the neonatal brain to govern long-range chromosomal interactions at the *H19/Igf2* genomic region.





(A) Schematic of *H19* ICR as depicted in Figure 3-4, with hypothesized recruitment of ATRX by MeCP2. (B) Analysis of ChIP for ATRX in control and MeCP2<sup>null</sup> neonatal brains demonstrated a requirement of MeCP2 for ATRX enrichment within the *H19* ICR.
(C) 4C interaction profile of the *H19* ICR in neonatal control and *MeCP2<sup>null</sup>* forebrains demonstrates a requirement for MeCP2 in *H19* ICR chromatin interactions. (D) Genomic

organization and primer alignment for 3C analysis as depicted in Figure 3-1. (E) 3C analysis was performed across the H19/Igf2 domain in control and MeCP2<sup>*null*</sup> littermate matched forebrains. Interaction frequencies were decreased at all sites across the region. Image depicts a representative interaction profile. (F) Interaction frequencies across the region were further quantified in additional brains (n=3). p values were determined by a two tailed t-test, \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.0001.

#### 3.4 Discussion

Our findings demonstrate a novel mechanism for the ATRX chromatin remodeling protein in the control of gene expression through the regulation of higher-order chromatin interactions. We define an *in vivo* three-step mechanism where MeCP2 recruits ATRX to the *H19* ICR to regulate nucleosome occupancy, thus maintaining CTCF binding and facilitating *intra*chromosomal contacts. In the absence of ATRX, these mechanisms are disrupted, leading to improper chromatin organization and a failure to properly silence imprinted genes (Figure 3-6).

In view of recent work showing that Cohesin and CTCF enable higher-order chromatin looping within imprinted domains and that ATRX alters CTCF and Cohesin dynamics within these regions(Guibert et al., 2012; Han et al., 2008; Kernohan et al., 2010; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008; Nativio et al., 2009; Rubio et al., 2008), a logical prediction was that the loss of ATRX would disrupt chromatin looping. We detected changes in *H19* ICR interactions with the DMR1, MAR3, CCD, and enhancer sequences. The disruptions in chromatin folding we observe (formation of an ICR-DMR1-MAR3 complex) parallel the maternal-specific effects following loss of CTCF(Kurukuti et al., 2006). A maternal allele-specific effect is corroborated by our previous study showing that ATRX localizes to the maternal *H19* ICR and affects maternal *H19* expression(Kernohan et al., 2010). These findings link the ATRX chromatin remodeling protein to the control of chromatin looping. As the loss of ATRX affects the expression of numerous genes in the brain(Levy et al., 2008), it is possible that ATRX may regulate chromatin looping at multiple sites throughout the genome to govern gene expression.

ATRX recognizes G-quadruplex DNA structures and is proposed to resolve these formations to facilitate DNA replication and transcription(Goldberg et al., 2010; Law et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2010). This mechanism has been proposed at telomeres(Goldberg et al., 2010; Law et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2010) and some specific genes(Law et al., 2010; Levy,M., unpublished data). We now define a novel mechanism of ATRX targeting and function which is independent of G-quadruplexes. We find that MeCP2 recruits ATRX to *H19/Igf2*, where ATRX then functions to modulate nucleosome occupancy within the 5' H19 ICR. Genome-wide studies have demonstrated that CTCF binds in an extended linker region. At the H19 ICR, improper placement of a nucleosome within a CTCF binding site abrogates CTCF binding and compromises insulator activity *in vitro*(Kanduri et al., 2002). Thus, the positioning of nucleosomes within the ICR is essential. ATRX may redistribute nucleosomes by sliding along the chromatin fiber in a process termed translocation. Accordingly, ATRX has been demonstrated to have DNA translocase activity(Mitson et al., 2011; Xue et al., 2003). In the absence of ATRX, improper nucleosome distribution leads to CTCF eviction from the H19 ICR. This mechanism of CTCF regulation is similar to that proposed to regulate the chicken lysozyme locus(Lefevre et al., 2008), and may occur throughout the genome by sitespecific chromatin remodelers. ATRX recruitment to maintain CTCF binding suggests that a 'developmental switch' must occur at the H19 ICR to elicit gene silencing. While we still lack a complete picture of the events within the H19 ICR at this time, gene silencing likely requires protein recruitment (including ATRX), epigenetic modifications and changes in long-range chromatin interactions. Overall, these observations provide a novel mechanism for ATRX regulation of CTCF binding and chromatin looping.

Several years ago it was suggested that MeCP2 binding surrounding imprinted genes may indicate a role in chromatin looping(Yasui et al., 2007), and that loss of MeCP2 alters chromatin interactions within a small area surrounding the *Dlx5* imprinted gene(Horike et al., 2005). We now provide definitive evidence that MeCP2 recruits ATRX to regulate chromatin looping and that the loss of MeCP2 abrogates chromatin interactions across the 90 kb *H19/Igf2* imprinted domain. Looping defects in the absence of MeCP2 are more severe and affect more sites than those observed in the absence of ATRX, implying that MeCP2 recruits additional factors that promote chromatin interactions or has other unidentified functions in promoting chromatin structure. Genome-wide ChIP studies have shown that MeCP2 binds throughout the genome and affects the expression of multiple genes(Yasui et al., 2007). In light of our results, it is possible that MeCP2 functions at many locations to recruit site-specific chromatin remodeling proteins and control chromatin architecture. Importantly, our analysis was conducted in the neonatal brain, a time when MeCP2 is thought to have limited or no function due to low expression levels. Our data clearly demonstrates that MeCP2 regulates chromatin structure during early development, despite low protein levels in the nucleus. This is an important difference in the ATRX-MeCP2 partnership at PCH versus the *H19* ICR; at PCH it was reported that MeCP2 did not affect ATRX enrichment until seven weeks of age(Baker et al., 2013), while MeCP2 is required for ATRX localization to the *H19* ICR at birth. The expansion of studies on MeCP2 and gene regulation to earlier developmental stages will help to elucidate the full role of MeCP2 in early neurodevelopment.

An emerging theory proposes that some imprinted genes are jointly regulated in a celltype specific network(Andrade et al. 2010; Kernohan et al., 2010; Lui et al., 2008; Sandhu et al., 2009; Varrault et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2006). In the nervous system, this sort of coordinated control of gene expression might be necessary during cellular differentiation and/or neuronal maturation, and could be facilitated by close subnuclear proximity or even direct allelic interactions. ATRX is required for the postnatal silencing of this connected network of imprinted genes in the brain(Kernohan et al., 2010). We now extend these studies and show that neuronal IGN members indeed co-localize in the brain, but were not able to find any evidence of ATRX regulation of these interactions. Instead, we show that ATRX independently localizes to imprinted domains throughout the IGN, and propose that ATRX governs *intra*chromosomal interactions across each domain in parallel.

The repercussions of failing to suppress the expression of *H19* and other imprinted genes in the brain are unknown, as the role of these genes has not yet been fully characterized. Given that misexpression of imprinted genes causes neurodevelopmental syndromes(reviewed in (Kernohan and Bérubé, 2010), the failure to suppress IGN components in the brain could potentially contribute to cognitive deficiencies characteristic of ATR-X and Rett Syndromes. Additionally, *ATRX*-null mutations and over-expression of imprinted genes have been linked to cancer, including central nervous system cancers(Bower et al., 2012; de Wilde et al., 2012; Jelinic and Shaw, 2007; Jiao et al., 2012b; Jiao et al., 2011; Kannan et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2012; Lovejoy et al., 2012; Schwartzentruber et al., 2012; Weisbrod et al., 2013), suggesting that ATRX regulation of imprinted genes could also have important implications for tumorigenesis. *H19* is upregulated in many types of cancer, including bladder(Ariel et al., 1995; Ariel et al., 2000; Byun et al., 2007; Elkin et al., 1995; Luo et al., 2013a; b; Verhaegh et al., 2008), ovarian(Kim et al., 1998; Tanos et al., 1999), breast(Berteaux et al., 2008; Berteaux et al., 2005; Yballe et al., 1996), leukemia/lymphoma(Takeuchi et al., 2007), and lung cancers(Kondo et al., 1995). While the role of this non-coding RNA in tumorigenesis remains elusive, *H19* overexpression has been shown to increase tumor progression in mice(Lottin et al., 2002). Treatments are currently in development utilizing BC-819, a vector carrying the diptheria toxin A (DTA) gene, encoding a strong inhibitor of protein synthesis, under the control of the *H19* promoter(Mizrahi et al., 2009). As normal cells in mature tissues do not express *H19*, utilizing the *H19* promoter selectively targets and destroys cancerous cells(Mizrahi et al., 2009). If imprinted genes, including *H19*, are identified as upregulated in ATR-X null cancers, this treatment could also be utilized to treat the array of ATRX-null tumors.



#### **Figure 3-6 Proposed model**

(a) In the wildtype brain, MeCP2 recruits ATRX to the maternal *H19*-ICR in the late embryonic/neonatal period. ATRX translocates along the chromatin fiber and alters nucleosome positioning to generate an extended linker region and promote CTCF occupancy. CTCF then dictates *intra*chromosomal interactions. (b) In the absence of ATRX, increased nucleosome occupancy disrupts CTCF binding, leading to a loss of *intra*chromosomal interactions.



#### Figure 3-7 Liver and forebrain 3C analysis

(A) Schematic representation of the H19/Igf2 imprinted domain and 3C assay as depicted in Figure 3-1. (B) Chromatin looping analysis confirms previous interactions reported in the neonatal liver(Qiu et al., 2008), and identifies a similar interaction profile in the forebrain. (C) Gene expression from the control/ $Atrx^{null}$  forebrain depicted in Figure 3-1C demonstrates an upregulation of H19 and Igf2 and misregulation of chromatin looping in the same brain. Error bars represent standard deviation of technical error.



Figure 3-8 ATRX does not target G-quadruplexes or insert histone H3.3 at the *H19* ICR.

(A) Schematic of the H19 ICR and alignment of primers. (B) ChIP in control and  $Atrx^{null}$  brains demonstrates a small increase in enrichment of H3.3 and H2A within the 5' region of the H19 ICR.



#### Figure 3-9 Analysis of nucleosome density in the ATRX-null forebrain

(A) Schematic of the *H19* ICR and alignment of primers as depicted in Figure 3-3. (B) qPCR of micrococcal nuclease digested DNA demonstrates quantification of DNA protected by histones. A small increase in nucleosome occupancy was observed within some regions of the *H19* ICR. Graphs depict average fold change. (C) Confirmation of paternal *H19* ICR specific digest by McrBC using F1 polymorphic 129Sv (maternal)/Castaneous (paternal) mice. MfeI digests 129Sv maternal DNA and McrBC digests methylated paternal DNA. DNA was digested and then amplified using primers spanning the MfeI restriction site. Schematic of protocol is detailed in (D).

### 3.6 References

Andrade AC, Lui JC and Nilsson O Temporal and spatial expression of a growthregulated network of imprinted genes in growth plate. *Pediatr Nephrol* **25**:617-623.

Argentaro A, Yang JC, Chapman L, Kowalczyk MS, Gibbons RJ, Higgs DR, Neuhaus D and Rhodes D (2007) Structural consequences of disease-causing mutations in the ATRX-DNMT3-DNMT3L (ADD) domain of the chromatin-associated protein ATRX. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**:11939-11944.

Ariel I, Lustig O, Schneider T, Pizov G, Sappir M, De-Groot N and Hochberg A (1995) The imprinted H19 gene as a tumor marker in bladder carcinoma. *Urology* **45**:335-338.

Ariel I, Sughayer M, Fellig Y, Pizov G, Ayesh S, Podeh D, Libdeh BA, Levy C, Birman T, Tykocinski ML, de Groot N and Hochberg A (2000) The imprinted H19 gene is a marker of early recurrence in human bladder carcinoma. *Molecular pathology : MP* 53:320-323.

Baker SA, Chen L, Wilkins AD, Yu P, Lichtarge O and Zoghbi HY (2013) An AT-Hook Domain in MeCP2 Determines the Clinical Course of Rett Syndrome and Related Disorders. *Cell* **152**:984-996.

Berger JO and Bernardo JM (1992) Reference priors in a variance components problem. Bayesian Analysis in Statistics and Econometrics 18.

Berger JO, Bernardo JM and Sun D (2009) The formal definition of reference priors. *Ann Statist* **37**:33.

Berteaux N, Aptel N, Cathala G, Genton C, Coll J, Daccache A, Spruyt N, Hondermarck H, Dugimont T, Curgy JJ, Forne T and Adriaenssens E (2008) A novel H19 antisense RNA overexpressed in breast cancer contributes to paternal IGF2 expression. *Molecular and cellular biology* **28**:6731-6745.

Berteaux N, Lottin S, Monte D, Pinte S, Quatannens B, Coll J, Hondermarck H, Curgy JJ, Dugimont T and Adriaenssens E (2005) H19 mRNA-like noncoding RNA promotes breast cancer cell proliferation through positive control by E2F1. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **280**:29625-29636.

Bérubé NG, Mangelsdorf M, Jagla M, Vanderluit J, Garrick D, Gibbons RJ, Higgs DR, Slack RS and Picketts DJ (2005) The chromatin-remodeling protein ATRX is critical for neuronal survival during corticogenesis. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **115**:258-267.

Bower K, Napier CE, Cole SL, Dagg RA, Lau LM, Duncan EL, Moy EL and Reddel RR (2012) Loss of wild-type ATRX expression in somatic cell hybrids segregates with activation of Alternative Lengthening of Telomeres. *PloS one* **7**:e50062.

Burke LJ, Zhang R, Bartkuhn M, Tiwari VK, Tavoosidana G, Kurukuti S, Weth C, Leers J, Galjart N, Ohlsson R and Renkawitz R (2005) CTCF binding and higher order chromatin structure of the H19 locus are maintained in mitotic chromatin. *The EMBO journal* **24**:3291-3300.

Byun HM, Wong HL, Birnstein EA, Wolff EM, Liang G and Yang AS (2007)Examination of IGF2 and H19 loss of imprinting in bladder cancer. *Cancer research* 67:10753-10758.

Cardoso C, Lutz Y, Mignon C, Compe E, Depetris D, Mattei MG, Fontes M and Colleaux L (2000) ATR-X mutations cause impaired nuclear location and altered DNA binding properties of the XNP/ATR-X protein. *Journal of medical genetics* **37**:746-751.

Cremer T and Cremer C (2001) Chromosome territories, nuclear architecture and gene regulation in mammalian cells. *Nature reviews Genetics* **2**:292-301.

Cremer T and Cremer M (2010) Chromosome territories. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* **2**:a003889.

Cremer T, Cremer M, Dietzel S, Muller S, Solovei I and Fakan S (2006) Chromosome territories--a functional nuclear landscape. *Current opinion in cell biology* **18**:307-316.

Davey C, Fraser R, Smolle M, Simmen MW and Allan J (2003) Nucleosome positioning signals in the DNA sequence of the human and mouse H19 imprinting control regions. *Journal of molecular biology* **325**:873-887.

De La Fuente R, Viveiros MM, Wigglesworth K and Eppig JJ (2004) ATRX, a member of the SNF2 family of helicase/ATPases, is required for chromosome alignment and meiotic spindle organization in metaphase II stage mouse oocytes. *Developmental biology* **272**:1-14.

de Wilde RF, Heaphy CM, Maitra A, Meeker AK, Edil BH, Wolfgang CL, Ellison TA, Schulick RD, Molenaar IQ, Valk GD, Vriens MR, Borel Rinkes IH, Offerhaus GJ, Hruban RH and Matsukuma KE (2012) Loss of ATRX or DAXX expression and concomitant acquisition of the alternative lengthening of telomeres phenotype are late events in a small subset of MEN-1 syndrome pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. *Modern pathology : an official journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc* **25**:1033-1039.

de Wit E and de Laat W (2012) A decade of 3C technologies: insights into nuclear organization. *Genes & development* **26**:11-24.

Dhayalan A, Tamas R, Bock I, Tattermusch A, Dimitrova E, Kudithipudi S, Ragozin S and Jeltsch A (2011) The ATRX-ADD domain binds to H3 tail peptides and reads the combined methylation state of K4 and K9. *Human molecular genetics* **20**:2195-2203.

Dorin JR, Emslie E, Hanratty D, Farrall M, Gosden J and Porteous DJ (1992) Gene targeting for somatic cell manipulation: rapid analysis of reduced chromosome hybrids by Alu-PCR fingerprinting and chromosome painting. *Human molecular genetics* **1**:53-59.

Elkin M, Shevelev A, Schulze E, Tykocinsky M, Cooper M, Ariel I, Pode D, Kopf E, de Groot N and Hochberg A (1995) The expression of the imprinted H19 and IGF-2 genes in human bladder carcinoma. *FEBS letters* **374**:57-61.

Flaus A, Martin DM, Barton GJ and Owen-Hughes T (2006) Identification of multiple distinct Snf2 subfamilies with conserved structural motifs. *Nucleic acids research*34:2887-2905.

Fu Y, Sinha M, Peterson CL and Weng Z (2008) The insulator binding protein CTCF positions 20 nucleosomes around its binding sites across the human genome. *PLoS genetics* **4**:e1000138.

Gheldof N, Leleu M, Noordermeer D, Rougemont J and Reymond A (2012) Detecting long-range chromatin interactions using the chromosome conformation capture sequencing (4C-seq) method. *Methods Mol Biol* **786**:211-225.

Gibbons RJ, Picketts DJ and Higgs DR (1995a) Syndromal mental retardation due to mutations in a regulator of gene expression. *Human molecular genetics* **4 Spec No**:1705-1709.

Gibbons RJ, Picketts DJ, Villard L and Higgs DR (1995b) Mutations in a putative global transcriptional regulator cause X-linked mental retardation with alpha-thalassemia (ATR-X syndrome). *Cell* **80**:837-845.

Gibbons RJ, Suthers GK, Wilkie AO, Buckle VJ and Higgs DR (1992) X-linked alphathalassemia/mental retardation (ATR-X) syndrome: localization to Xq12-q21.31 by X inactivation and linkage analysis. *American journal of human genetics* **51**:1136-1149.

Goldberg AD, Banaszynski LA, Noh KM, Lewis PW, Elsaesser SJ, Stadler S, Dewell S, Law M, Guo X, Li X, Wen D, Chapgier A, DeKelver RC, Miller JC, Lee YL, Boydston EA, Holmes MC, Gregory PD, Greally JM, Rafii S, Yang C, Scambler PJ, Garrick D, Gibbons RJ, Higgs DR, Cristea IM, Urnov FD, Zheng D and Allis CD (2010) Distinct factors control histone variant H3.3 localization at specific genomic regions. *Cell* **140**:678-691.

Guibert S, Zhao Z, Sjolinder M, Gondor A, Fernandez A, Pant V and Ohlsson R (2012) CTCF-binding sites within the H19 ICR differentially regulate local chromatin structures and cis-acting functions. *Epigenetics : official journal of the DNA Methylation Society* **7**:361-369.

Han L, Lee DH and Szabo PE (2008) CTCF is the master organizer of domain-wide allele-specific chromatin at the H19/Igf2 imprinted region. *Molecular and cellular biology* **28**:1124-1135.

Heaphy CM, de Wilde RF, Jiao Y, Klein AP, Edil BH, Shi C, Bettegowda C, Rodriguez FJ, Eberhart CG, Hebbar S, Offerhaus GJ, McLendon R, Rasheed BA, He Y, Yan H, Bigner DD, Oba-Shinjo SM, Marie SK, Riggins GJ, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Hruban RH, Maitra A, Papadopoulos N and Meeker AK (2011) Altered telomeres in tumors with ATRX and DAXX mutations. *Science* **333**:425.

Horike S, Cai S, Miyano M, Cheng JF and Kohwi-Shigematsu T (2005) Loss of silentchromatin looping and impaired imprinting of DLX5 in Rett syndrome. *Nature genetics* **37**:31-40.

Je EM, An CH, Yoo NJ and Lee SH (2012) Expressional and mutational analysis of ATRX gene in gastric, colorectal and prostate cancers. *APMIS : acta pathologica, microbiologica, et immunologica Scandinavica* **120**:519-520.

Jelinic P and Shaw P (2007) Loss of imprinting and cancer. *The Journal of pathology* **211**:261-268.

Jiao Y, Killela PJ, Reitman ZJ, Rasheed AB, Heaphy CM, de Wilde RF, Rodriguez FJ, Rosemberg S, Oba-Shinjo SM, Nagahashi Marie SK, Bettegowda C, Agrawal N, Lipp E, Pirozzi C, Lopez G, He Y, Friedman H, Friedman AH, Riggins GJ, Holdhoff M, Burger P, McLendon R, Bigner DD, Vogelstein B, Meeker AK, Kinzler KW, Papadopoulos N, Diaz LA and Yan H (2012a) Frequent ATRX, CIC, and FUBP1 mutations refine the classification of malignant gliomas. *Oncotarget* **3**:709-722.

Jiao Y, Killela PJ, Reitman ZJ, Rasheed AB, Heaphy CM, de Wilde RF, Rodriguez FJ, Rosemberg S, Oba-Shinjo SM, Nagahashi Marie SK, Bettegowda C, Agrawal N, Lipp E, Pirozzi C, Lopez G, He Y, Friedman H, Friedman AH, Riggins GJ, Holdhoff M, Burger P, McLendon R, Bigner DD, Vogelstein B, Meeker AK, Kinzler KW, Papadopoulos N, Diaz LA and Yan H (2012b) Frequent ATRX, CIC, FUBP1 and IDH1 mutations refine the classification of malignant gliomas. *Oncotarget* **3**:709-722.

Jiao Y, Shi C, Edil BH, de Wilde RF, Klimstra DS, Maitra A, Schulick RD, Tang LH, Wolfgang CL, Choti MA, Velculescu VE, Diaz LA, Jr., Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW, Hruban RH and Papadopoulos N (2011) DAXX/ATRX, MEN1, and mTOR pathway genes are frequently altered in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. *Science* **331**:1199-1203.

Kanduri M, Kanduri C, Mariano P, Vostrov AA, Quitschke W, Lobanenkov V and Ohlsson R (2002) Multiple nucleosome positioning sites regulate the CTCF-mediated insulator function of the H19 imprinting control region. *Molecular and cellular biology* **22**:3339-3344.

Kannan K, Inagaki A, Silber J, Gorovets D, Zhang J, Kastenhuber ER, Heguy A, Petrini JH, Chan TA and Huse JT (2012) Whole-exome sequencing identifies ATRX mutation as a key molecular determinant in lower-grade glioma. *Oncotarget* **3**:1194-1203.

Kelly TK, Liu Y, Lay FD, Liang G, Berman BP and Jones PA (2012) Genome-wide mapping of nucleosome positioning and DNA methylation within individual DNA molecules. *Genome research* **22**:2497-2506.

Kent WJ, Sugnet CW, Furey TS, Roskin KM, Pringle TH, Zahler AM and Haussler D (2002) The human genome browser at UCSC. *Genome research* **12**:996-1006.

Kernohan KD and Bérubé NG (2010) Genetic and epigenetic dysregulation of imprinted genes in the brain. *Epigenomics* **2**:743-763.

Kernohan KD, Jiang Y, Tremblay DC, Bonvissuto AC, Eubanks JH, Mann MR and Bérubé NG (2010) ATRX partners with cohesin and MeCP2 and contributes to developmental silencing of imprinted genes in the brain. *Developmental cell* **18**:191-202. Kim HT, Choi BH, Niikawa N, Lee TS and Chang SI (1998) Frequent loss of imprinting of the H19 and IGF-II genes in ovarian tumors. *American journal of medical genetics* **80**:391-395.

Kondo M, Suzuki H, Ueda R, Osada H, Takagi K and Takahashi T (1995) Frequent loss of imprinting of the H19 gene is often associated with its overexpression in human lung cancers. *Oncogene* **10**:1193-1198.

Kurukuti S, Tiwari VK, Tavoosidana G, Pugacheva E, Murrell A, Zhao Z, Lobanenkov V, Reik W and Ohlsson R (2006) CTCF binding at the H19 imprinting control region mediates maternally inherited higher-order chromatin conformation to restrict enhancer access to Igf2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **103**:10684-10689.

Law MJ, Lower KM, Voon HP, Hughes JR, Garrick D, Viprakasit V, Mitson M, De Gobbi M, Marra M, Morris A, Abbott A, Wilder SP, Taylor S, Santos GM, Cross J, Ayyub H, Jones S, Ragoussis J, Rhodes D, Dunham I, Higgs DR and Gibbons RJ (2010) ATR-X syndrome protein targets tandem repeats and influences allele-specific expression in a size-dependent manner. *Cell* **143**:367-378.

Lefevre P, Witham J, Lacroix CE, Cockerill PN and Bonifer C (2008) The LPS-induced transcriptional upregulation of the chicken lysozyme locus involves CTCF eviction and noncoding RNA transcription. *Molecular cell* **32**:129-139.

Leung JW, Ghosal G, Wang W, Shen X, Wang J, Li L and Chen J (2013) Alpha thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome X-linked gene product ATRX is required for proper replication restart and cellular resistance to replication stress. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **288**:6342-6350.

Levy MA, Fernandes AD, Tremblay DC, Seah C and Bérubé NG (2008) The SWI/SNF protein ATRX co-regulates pseudoautosomal genes that have translocated to autosomes in the mouse genome. *BMC genomics* **9**:468.

Lewis PW, Elsaesser SJ, Noh KM, Stadler SC and Allis CD (2010) Daxx is an H3.3specific histone chaperone and cooperates with ATRX in replication-independent chromatin assembly at telomeres. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**:14075-14080.

Li H, Handsaker B, Wysoker A, Fennell T, Ruan J, Homer N, Marth G, Abecasis G and Durbin R (2009) The Sequence Alignment/Map format and SAMtools. *Bioinformatics* **25**:2078-2079.

Li T, Hu JF, Qiu X, Ling J, Chen H, Wang S, Hou A, Vu TH and Hoffman AR (2008) CTCF regulates allelic expression of Igf2 by orchestrating a promoter-polycomb repressive complex 2 intrachromosomal loop. *Molecular and cellular biology* **28**:6473-6482.

Ling JQ, Li T, Hu JF, Vu TH, Chen HL, Qiu XW, Cherry AM and Hoffman AR (2006) CTCF mediates interchromosomal colocalization between Igf2/H19 and Wsb1/Nf1. *Science* **312**:269-272.

Liu XY, Gerges N, Korshunov A, Sabha N, Khuong-Quang DA, Fontebasso AM, Fleming A, Hadjadj D, Schwartzentruber J, Majewski J, Dong Z, Siegel P, Albrecht S, Croul S, Jones DT, Kool M, Tonjes M, Reifenberger G, Faury D, Zadeh G, Pfister S and Jabado N (2012) Frequent ATRX mutations and loss of expression in adult diffuse astrocytic tumors carrying IDH1/IDH2 and TP53 mutations. *Acta neuropathologica* **124**:615-625.

Lottin S, Adriaenssens E, Dupressoir T, Berteaux N, Montpellier C, Coll J, Dugimont T and Curgy JJ (2002) Overexpression of an ectopic H19 gene enhances the tumorigenic properties of breast cancer cells. *Carcinogenesis* **23**:1885-1895.

Lovejoy CA, Li W, Reisenweber S, Thongthip S, Bruno J, de Lange T, De S, Petrini JH, Sung PA, Jasin M, Rosenbluh J, Zwang Y, Weir BA, Hatton C, Ivanova E, Macconaill L, Hanna M, Hahn WC, Lue NF, Reddel RR, Jiao Y, Kinzler K, Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N and Meeker AK (2012) Loss of ATRX, genome instability, and an altered DNA damage response are hallmarks of the alternative lengthening of telomeres pathway. *PLoS genetics* **8**:e1002772.

Lui JC, Finkielstain GP, Barnes KM and Baron J (2008) An imprinted gene network that controls mammalian somatic growth is downregulated during postnatal growth deceleration in multiple organs. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **295**:R189-196.

Luo M, Li Z, Wang W, Zeng Y, Liu Z and Qiu J (2013a) Long non-coding RNA H19 increases bladder cancer metastasis by associating with EZH2 and inhibiting E-cadherin expression. *Cancer letters* **333**:213-221.

Luo M, Li Z, Wang W, Zeng Y, Liu Z and Qiu J (2013b) Upregulated H19 contributes to bladder cancer cell proliferation by regulating ID2 expression. *The FEBS journal* **280**:1709-1716.

Mitson M, Kelley LA, Sternberg MJ, Higgs DR and Gibbons RJ (2011) Functional significance of mutations in the Snf2 domain of ATRX. *Human molecular genetics* **20**:2603-2610.

Mizrahi A, Czerniak A, Levy T, Amiur S, Gallula J, Matouk I, Abu-lail R, Sorin V, Birman T, de Groot N, Hochberg A and Ohana P (2009) Development of targeted therapy for ovarian cancer mediated by a plasmid expressing diphtheria toxin under the control of H19 regulatory sequences. *Journal of translational medicine* **7**:69.

Nan X, Hou J, Maclean A, Nasir J, Lafuente MJ, Shu X, Kriaucionis S and Bird A (2007) Interaction between chromatin proteins MECP2 and ATRX is disrupted by mutations that cause inherited mental retardation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**:2709-2714.

Nativio R, Wendt KS, Ito Y, Huddleston JE, Uribe-Lewis S, Woodfine K, Krueger C, Reik W, Peters JM and Murrell A (2009) Cohesin is required for higher-order chromatin conformation at the imprinted IGF2-H19 locus. *PLoS genetics* **5**:e1000739.

Picketts DJ, Tastan AO, Higgs DR and Gibbons RJ (1998) Comparison of the human and murine ATRX gene identifies highly conserved, functionally important domains.

*Mammalian genome : official journal of the International Mammalian Genome Society* **9**:400-403.

Qiu X, Vu TH, Lu Q, Ling JQ, Li T, Hou A, Wang SK, Chen HL, Hu JF and Hoffman AR (2008) A complex deoxyribonucleic acid looping configuration associated with the silencing of the maternal Igf2 allele. *Mol Endocrinol* **22**:1476-1488.

Ritchie K, Seah C, Moulin J, Isaac C, Dick F and Bérubé NG (2008) Loss of ATRX leads to chromosome cohesion and congression defects. *The Journal of cell biology* **180**:315-324.

Rubio ED, Reiss DJ, Welcsh PL, Disteche CM, Filippova GN, Baliga NS, Aebersold R,
Ranish JA and Krumm A (2008) CTCF physically links cohesin to chromatin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*105:8309-8314.

Sajan SA and Hawkins RD (2012) Methods for identifying higher-order chromatin structure. *Annual review of genomics and human genetics* **13**:59-82.

Sandhu KS, Shi C, Sjolinder M, Zhao Z, Gondor A, Liu L, Tiwari VK, Guibert S, Emilsson L, Imreh MP and Ohlsson R (2009) Nonallelic transvection of multiple imprinted loci is organized by the H19 imprinting control region during germline development. *Genes & development* **23**:2598-2603.

Scaria V, Hariharan M, Arora A and Maiti S (2006) Quadfinder: server for identification and analysis of quadruplex-forming motifs in nucleotide sequences. *Nucleic acids research* **34**:W683-685.

Schwartzentruber J, Korshunov A, Liu XY, Jones DT, Pfaff E, Jacob K, Sturm D, Fontebasso AM, Quang DA, Tonjes M, Hovestadt V, Albrecht S, Kool M, Nantel A, Konermann C, Lindroth A, Jager N, Rausch T, Ryzhova M, Korbel JO, Hielscher T, Hauser P, Garami M, Klekner A, Bognar L, Ebinger M, Schuhmann MU, Scheurlen W, Pekrun A, Fruhwald MC, Roggendorf W, Kramm C, Durken M, Atkinson J, Lepage P, Montpetit A, Zakrzewska M, Zakrzewski K, Liberski PP, Dong Z, Siegel P, Kulozik AE, Zapatka M, Guha A, Malkin D, Felsberg J, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Ichimura K, Collins VP, Witt H, Milde T, Witt O, Zhang C, Castelo-Branco P, Lichter P, Faury D, Tabori U, Plass C, Majewski J, Pfister SM and Jabado N (2012) Driver mutations in histone H3.3 and chromatin remodelling genes in paediatric glioblastoma. *Nature* **482**:226-231.

Takeuchi S, Hofmann WK, Tsukasaki K, Takeuchi N, Ikezoe T, Matsushita M, Uehara Y and Phillip Koeffler H (2007) Loss of H19 imprinting in adult T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma. *British journal of haematology* **137**:380-381.

Tang J, Wu S, Liu H, Stratt R, Barak OG, Shiekhattar R, Picketts DJ and Yang X (2004) A novel transcription regulatory complex containing death domain-associated protein and the ATR-X syndrome protein. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **279**:20369-20377.

Tanos V, Prus D, Ayesh S, Weinstein D, Tykocinski ML, De-Groot N, Hochberg A and Ariel I (1999) Expression of the imprinted H19 oncofetal RNA in epithelial ovarian cancer. *European journal of obstetrics, gynecology, and reproductive biology* **85**:7-11.

Teif VB, Vainshtein Y, Caudron-Herger M, Mallm JP, Marth C, Hofer T and Rippe K (2012) Genome-wide nucleosome positioning during embryonic stem cell development. *Nature structural & molecular biology* **19**:1185-1192.

Tiwari VK, McGarvey KM, Licchesi JD, Ohm JE, Herman JG, Schubeler D and Baylin SB (2008) PcG proteins, DNA methylation, and gene repression by chromatin looping. *PLoS biology* **6**:2911-2927.

Travers AA, Vaillant C, Arneodo A and Muskhelishvili G (2012) DNA structure, nucleosome placement and chromatin remodelling: a perspective. *Biochemical Society transactions* **40**:335-340.

Varrault A, Gueydan C, Delalbre A, Bellmann A, Houssami S, Aknin C, Severac D, Chotard L, Kahli M, Le Digarcher A, Pavlidis P and Journot L (2006) Zac1 regulates an imprinted gene network critically involved in the control of embryonic growth. *Developmental cell* **11**:711-722. Verhaegh GW, Verkleij L, Vermeulen SH, den Heijer M, Witjes JA and Kiemeney LA (2008) Polymorphisms in the H19 gene and the risk of bladder cancer. *European urology* **54**:1118-1126.

Vernimmen D, De Gobbi M, Sloane-Stanley JA, Wood WG and Higgs DR (2007) Longrange chromosomal interactions regulate the timing of the transition between poised and active gene expression. *The EMBO journal* **26**:2041-2051.

Watson LA, Solomon LA, Li JR, Jiang Y, Edwards M, Shin-Ya K, Beier F and Bérubé NG (2013) Atrx deficiency induces telomere dysfunction, endocrine defects, and reduced life span. *The Journal of clinical investigation*.

Weisbrod AB, Zhang L, Jain M, Barak S, Quezado MM and Kebebew E (2013) Altered PTEN, ATRX, CHGA, CHGB, and TP53 Expression Are Associated with Aggressive VHL-Associated Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Hormones & cancer*.

Wong LH, McGhie JD, Sim M, Anderson MA, Ahn S, Hannan RD, George AJ, Morgan KA, Mann JR and Choo KH (2010) ATRX interacts with H3.3 in maintaining telomere structural integrity in pluripotent embryonic stem cells. *Genome research* **20**:351-360.

Xue Y, Gibbons R, Yan Z, Yang D, McDowell TL, Sechi S, Qin J, Zhou S, Higgs D and Wang W (2003) The ATRX syndrome protein forms a chromatin-remodeling complex with Daxx and localizes in promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **100**:10635-10640.

Yasui DH, Peddada S, Bieda MC, Vallero RO, Hogart A, Nagarajan RP, Thatcher KN, Farnham PJ and Lasalle JM (2007) Integrated epigenomic analyses of neuronal MeCP2 reveal a role for long-range interaction with active genes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**:19416-19421.

Yballe CM, Vu TH and Hoffman AR (1996) Imprinting and expression of insulin-like growth factor-II and H19 in normal breast tissue and breast tumor. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* **81**:1607-1612.

Zhao R, Bodnar MS and Spector DL (2009) Nuclear neighborhoods and gene expression. *Current opinion in genetics & development* **19**:172-179.

Zhao Z, Tavoosidana G, Sjolinder M, Gondor A, Mariano P, Wang S, Kanduri C, Lezcano M, Sandhu KS, Singh U, Pant V, Tiwari V, Kurukuti S and Ohlsson R (2006) Circular chromosome conformation capture (4C) uncovers extensive networks of epigenetically regulated intra- and interchromosomal interactions. *Nature genetics* **38**:1341-1347.

### Chapter 4

### 4 Discussion and Future Directions

ATR-X Syndrome patients exhibit severe mental retardation, developmental abnormalities and alpha-thalassemia(Gibbons et al., 1995a; Gibbons et al., 1995b; Gibbons et al., 1992). While the link between *ATRX* mutations and alpha-thalassemia is indicative of ATRX's capacity to regulate alpha-globin expression, no direct gene targets have been identified and little is known about ATRX function. Overall, this body of work identified a group of genes regulated by ATRX and defined the first mechanistic role of ATRX in gene regulation.

In Chapter two, I documented a requirement for ATRX in the postnatal silencing of a network of imprinted genes in the mouse brain, including *H19*, *Igf2* and *Dlk1*. I began to explore the mechanism of this regulation and found that in the brain ATRX forms a complex with MeCP2 and Cohesin at the *H19* ICR and *Gtl2* DMR. Loss of ATRX results in an altered profile of post-translational histone modifications and reduced CTCF and Cohesin binding. As CTCF and Cohesin are known architectural proteins, this data suggested that ATRX might regulate imprinted gene expression through the control of higher-order chromatin structure. (Kernohan et al., 2010)

Chapter three further explores the mechanism of ATRX's regulation at imprinted genes in the brain. Using *H19/Igf2* as a model, I found that MeCP2 is required for ATRX recruitment to the *H19* ICR, where it governs nucleosome occupancy to maintain CTCF binding. I utilized 3C and 4C techniques to evaluate *in vivo* chromatin interactions and demonstrated that the loss of ATRX or MeCP2 caused a significant decrease in *cis* interactions of the *H19* ICR. Finally, I established that ATRX binds within many imprinted domains and I propose a model in which ATRX localizes to each IGN region to control local chromatin structure and modulate gene expression in the neonatal brain.

#### 4.1 The ATRX-MeCP2-Cohesin Complex

My data demonstrates a functional connection between four important epigenetic regulators: ATRX, MeCP2, CTCF and the Cohesin complex. The co-localization of ATRX and MeCP2 has previously been demonstrated, where MeCP2 deficiency or mutation abrogates ATRX enrichment at PCH(Nan et al., 2007). A recent study demonstrated that MeCP2 binds DNA via an AT-hook domain, and that this domain is required for stable localization of MeCP2 to PCH and consequently ATRX recruitment(Baker et al., 2013). These studies raised the possibility that ATRX and MeCP2 could cooperate at other sites in the genome. I demonstrated that ATRX and MeCP2 co-localize at multiple imprinted genes, and that MeCP2 recruits ATRX to the H19 ICR. It is plausible that MeCP2 utilizes the same AT-hook domain to bind imprinted regions, forming a stable interaction with DNA to recruit ATRX. Loss of ATRX causes an up-regulation of imprinted genes in the postnatal brain. Similarly, loss of MeCP2 has also been reported to cause an increase in several of these transcripts, namely H19, Dlk1, and Zac1(Fuks et al., 2003; Urdinguio et al., 2008). These data suggest that ATRX and MeCP2 can cooperate to influence gene expression, at least at imprinted genes.

Previous studies in our laboratory demonstrated that ATRX is required for proper sister chromatid cohesion(Ritchie et al., 2008), the canonical function of the Cohesin complex(Barbero, 2011; Michaelis et al., 1997; Moser and Swedlow, 2011; Uhlmann and Nasmyth, 1998). This led to our investigation and identification of an interaction between ATRX and Cohesin proteins. In addition to its mitotic role, the Cohesin complex also functions as a transcriptional regulator(Lara-Pezzi et al., 2004; Remeseiro and Losada, 2013). Cohesin is often recruited by CTCF to genic regions, where it governs chromatin architecture and subsequent gene expression(Rubio et al., 2008). This effect has been demonstrated at numerous sites, including the *H19* ICR(Rubio et al., 2008). I found that ATRX and MeCP2 localize with Cohesin to the *H19* ICR, and that the loss of ATRX caused a reduction of Cohesin and CTCF at this site. Notably, we cannot detect an interaction between CTCF and ATRX or MeCP2 (Jiang, Y., unpublished data). This could be due to a lack of interaction between these proteins or that the antigen

recognition site(s) are masked by these interactions. The interaction between MeCP2 and Cohesin is also novel and perhaps surprising as the loss of MeCP2 has not been reported to cause mitotic cohesion abnormalities. This suggests that the MeCP2-Cohesin interaction may be restricted to cells which are not undergoing mitosis, for example post-mitotic neurons, or that MeCP2 and Cohesin only function together to regulate gene expression. Alternatively, if the MeCP2-Cohesin complex functions in mitosis, the loss of MeCP2 may trigger a compensatory response, for example the recruitment of additional proteins to aid in proper mitotic progression. In the future, it will be important to determine whether the ATRX-MeCP2-Cohesin complex binds elsewhere in the genome to regulate gene expression and/or chromatin structure. One possibility is PCH, where ATRX and MeCP2 interact(Baker et al., 2013; Nan et al., 2007), and Cohesin regulates pericentric chromatin loops(Stephens et al., 2013).

In a clinical context, ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin are implicated in ATR-X, RTT and CdLS Syndromes, respectively(Amir et al., 1999; Ben-Asher and Lancet, 2004; Gibbons et al., 1992; Krantz et al., 2004; Revenkova et al., 2009). While each of these disorders manifests with numerous cognitive and physical symptoms, some commonalities include developmental delay, microcephaly and growth deficiencies. Though these interactions have yet to be confirmed in human cells, it is possible that the cooperation of these proteins in the brain, and potentially other tissues, may lead to similarities between their associated syndromes. With regards to ATR-X and RTT Syndromes, MeCP2 targeting of ATRX to genes in the neonatal brain could contribute to the postnatal onset of RTT neuronal deficits in patients and mice. Loss of ATRX causes misregulation of numerous genes in the mouse forebrain(Levy et al., 2008), an effect that probably contributes to neurodevelopmental defects in ATRX-null mice and potentially plays a role in ATR-X Syndrome. If a subset of these genes require the recruitment of ATRX by MeCP2, patients with either ATR-X or RTT will have misregulation of these genes and the associated consequences. A recent study reported that ATRX is not localized at PCH in neurons of mice with mutations in an AT-hook domain of MeCP2(Baker et al., 2013). This defect occurred in the mature brain and was theorized to result in compromised chromatin structure(Baker et al., 2013). I have now extended Baker et al.'s findings and

shown that MeCP2 does target ATRX to regulate chromatin structure and that this occurs in the neonatal brain. The timing of the this regulation is just prior to the onset of RTT symptoms(Armstrong, 2002; Chen et al., 2001; Guy et al., 2001; Shahbazian et al., 2002; Shahbazian and Zoghbi, 2001), and therefore has potential to play a causative role in RTT etiology. While ATR-X Syndrome manifests much earlier(Gibbons et al., 1995a; Gibbons et al., 1995b; Gibbons et al., 1992), ATRX-MeCP2 targets may add to the neuronal deficits observed in patients. Overall, the identification of additional binding sites for the ATRX-MeCP2 and ATRX-MeCP2-Cohesin complex, including analysis of the mature brain, and other tissues, might aid in the identification of novel therapeutic targets to treat the array of conditions affected by ATRX, MeCP2 and Cohesin.

## 4.2 Allele-Specific Binding of ATRX at Intergenic Regulatory Regions

At the outset of this study, no direct gene targets for ATRX had been reported. I identified imprinted genes as affected by the loss of ATRX. ATRX affects these genes directly by binding to intergenic regulatory sequences. A subsequent study by Law et al. reported ChIP sequencing for ATRX in mouse embryonic stem cells, providing information on the enrichment profile of ATRX throughout the mouse genome(Law et al., 2010). They found 1305 ATRX binding sites, including 456 in gene bodies, 78 at promoters and 771 in intergenic regions(Law et al., 2010). Among these intergenic sites are several ICRs and DMRs in imprinted domains. However, imprinted genes are rare in the genome (approximately 150 to date (MRC Harwell, 2013); the abundance of intergenic ATRX sites suggests that ATRX targets many types of regulatory sequences, not just those near imprinted genes. The role ATRX plays at these sites remains unknown. I found that ATRX is required for chromatin looping within imprinted domains. It is possible that ATRX-bound intergenic regions are sites of chromatinchromatin contact, and that ATRX helps to form or maintain chromatin interactions at these locations. This may also be true of some ATRX-bound genic and promoter regions. Alternatively, ATRX may have a yet undiscovered function at these sites. Notably, the ATRX ChIP sequencing experiment by Law et al. was conducted in embryonic stem

cells. It is probable that a portion of ATRX binding sites are cell-type specific, and that the binding profile in the brain may differ, at least at some sites.

I discovered that ATRX binds chromatin and regulates expression in an allele-specific manner. Within the H19/Igf2 domain, ATRX binds the maternal allele of the H19 ICR and silences the maternal H19 gene. Loss of ATRX does not affect the silent paternal allele. Given that members of the ATRX-dependent IGN all exhibit postnatal repression, and imprinted genes that remain highly expressed are not affected (e.g. *Gtl2*), I predict that ATRX binds the active allele and represses active transcription of each IGN domain. Within imprinted domains, the presence of allele-specific proteins, for example CTCF(Szabo et al., 2000), is essential for the establishment and maintenance of imprinted expression. ATRX now joins the small cohort of allelic binding proteins. However, the role of ATRX is to modulate expression from the active allele, not to establish or maintain imprinted expression. Further studies are needed to determine if any of the additional ATRX binding sites are allele-specific, what attracts ATRX to these sites and what limits binding to one allele. Analysis of ATRX ChIP-sequencing by Law et al. revealed that ATRX binds preferentially at CpG-islands and repetitive sequences, many of which form G-quadruplexes(Law et al., 2010). They demonstrated that ATRX can bind G-quadruplex DNA in vitro, and suggested that ATRX targets genomic sites by recognizing these secondary structures in the DNA(Law et al., 2010). While the H19 ICR is a CpG-island, it does not contain any repeat sequences or predicted Gquadruplexes. Therefore, my results have also uncovered a novel method for ATRX targeting to DNA. ATRX may recognize the ICR, and one parental allele, through an epigenetic signature, including lack of DNA methylation and a specific combination of post-translational histone modifications. Indeed, recent literature has shown that ATRX can recognize the presence of H3K9me3 and absence of H3K4me2 and H3K4me3(Dhayalan et al., 2011; Eustermann et al., 2011; Lewis et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2010). Furthermore, ATRX binding at the ICR is probably mediated by other proteins, including MeCP2. Further research is required to establish the pattern of modifications that attracts ATRX to one allele of imprinted domains, and to determine if any proteins other than MeCP2 are required.

# 4.3 ATRX Regulates Nucleosome Positioning and CTCF Binding

It has been accepted for many years that transcription can be controlled by the accessibility of regulatory proteins to the DNA, which largely depends on DNA packaging into nucleosomes(Muchardt and Yaniv, 1999; Travers et al., 2012). Nucleosome occupancy can be influenced by nucleosome positioning sequences in the DNA and ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling proteins(Becker and Horz, 2002; Travers et al., 2012). Together, these factors dictate whether certain DNA sequences are present in the accessible linker region between nucleosomes or are concealed by the histone octamer(Becker and Horz, 2002; Travers et al., 2012). In vitro studies evaluating nucleosome occupancy across the H19 ICR have uncovered that nucleosome distribution in this 2 kb region is not random, but rather includes nucleosomes positioned at specific sequences(Davey et al., 2003; Fu et al., 2008; Kanduri et al., 2002). These sequences surround, but do not overlap, the CTCF binding sites(Davey et al., 2003; Fu et al., 2008; Kanduri et al., 2002). To test the relationship between CTCF and nucleosome occupancy, Kanduri et al. generated an in vitro assay that situated a CTCF consensus sequence within a positioned nucleosome(Kanduri et al., 2002). They found that nucleosome occupancy within the CTCF consensus site compromised CTCF binding and insulator function(Kanduri et al., 2002), indicating the importance of proper nucleosome distribution at the ICR. However, studies have found that DNA sequences which strongly position nucleosomes in vitro often fail to precisely localize nucleosomes in vivo(Li et al., 1997). Nucleosome positioning in vivo requires the addition of chromatin remodeling proteins, which can either translocate or evict nucleosomes(Li et al., 1997; Rippe et al., 2007). I found that ATRX affects the distribution of nucleosomes at the 5' region of the H19 ICR, which contains two CTCF binding sites. I propose that this increase in nucleosome occupancy might be responsible for decreased CTCF enrichment at this site in the ATRX-null brain. As CTCF is already bound to the H19 ICR prior to ATRX occupancy, I propose that ATRX controls nucleosome positioning to maintain, rather than to establish CTCF binding. To achieve this regulation, ATRX may redistribute nucleosomes by sliding along the chromatin fiber in a process termed translocation. Accordingly, *in vitro* biochemical studies have demonstrated that ATRX

can function as a DNA translocase(Mitson et al., 2011; Xue et al., 2003). Similar functions have been reported for other chromatin remodeling proteins. For example, the Chromatin Structure Remodeling (RSC) complex interacts with specific DNA sequences to translocate nucleosomes along the chromatin fiber(van Vugt et al., 2009). Alternatively, ATRX could affect nucleosome positioning indirectly through non-coding transcripts since transcription of non-coding RNAs has been shown to redistribute nucleosomes and affect CTCF binding(Lefevre et al., 2008). The H19 ICR produces a number of non-coding RNAs(Takahashi et al., 2012) and ATRX could regulate nucleosome distribution by controlling transcription of these sequences. In the ATRXnull brain, an increase in ICR transcription could redistribute nucleosomes over the CTCF binding sites, thus evicting CTCF. This model has been previously shown at the chicken lysozyme locus(Lefevre et al., 2008), but has yet to be evaluated in a mammalian system. It is also possible that these models are not mutually exclusive, and that ATRX controls nucleosome occupancy through both nucleosome translocation and the regulation of non-coding RNAs. Further studies are required to completely elucidate the role of ATRX in governing nucleosome distribution. First it must be determined if the ICR produces non-coding transcripts in the brain, and if their expression is affected by the loss of ATRX. This can be done by qRT-PCR on cDNA from control and ATRXnull brains with primers tiling the ICR. To evaluate the contribution of ATRX translocase function to nucleosome positioning at the ICR, a mouse model could be generated with a mutation inhibiting ATRX's translocase activity. A suitable candidate is a missense mutation in the SWI/SNF domain, termed L1746S, which was recently discovered in a patient(Mitson et al., 2011). Characterization of the ATRX-L1746S protein revealed that it is present at relatively normal levels, can bind DNA, and has appropriate DNA-stimulated ATPase activity(Mitson et al., 2011). However, this mutant is unable to translocate along DNA(Mitson et al., 2011). Comparison of nucleosome positioning across the ICR in mice harbouring the L1746S mutation with controls would determine the contribution of ATRX translocation to nucleosome distribution.
## 4.4 A Novel Role for ATRX in the Regulation of Higher-Order Chromatin Structure

At the H19/Igf2 imprinted domain, cis interactions of the H19 ICR regulate H19 and Igf2 expression(Burke et al., 2005; Guibert et al., 2012; Han et al., 2008; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008). These interactions require the presence of CTCF and Cohesin(Han et al., 2008; Kurukuti et al., 2006; Nativio et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2006). As ATRX affects H19 and Igf2 expression, and the localization of CTCF and Cohesin to the H19 ICR, I predicted that the loss of ATRX would also affect H19/Igf2 chromatin structure. I found a significant decrease in interactions of the H19 ICR across H19/Igf2 in the ATRXnull brain. To further confirm a role for ATRX in *intra*chromosomal looping of imprinted domains, I have also generated preliminary 4C data analyzing interactions of the Gtl2 DMR (Appendix D). The Gtl2 DMR, located in the Gtl2/Dlk1 imprinted domain on mouse chromosome 12, is the second site where I have demonstrated binding of ATRX, MeCP2, CTCF and Cohesin. I found that the loss of ATRX altered chromatin contacts across the *Gtl2/Dlk1* domain. Together, these data demonstrate for the first time that ATRX can affect higher-order chromatin structure. I propose that ATRX elicits these effects through the control of nucleosome positioning and consequently CTCF and Cohesin binding. As CTCF physically links Cohesin to chromatin(Rubio et al., 2008), the loss of CTCF binding (due to altered nucleosome occupancy), would decrease Cohesin enrichment. This is supported by an approximately equal reduction in CTCF and Cohesin at the H19 ICR in the ATRX-null brain. Cohesin is theorized to physically encircle DNA loops to tether regions together. Thus, the loss of Cohesin in the ATRXnull brain would result in a lack of DNA tethering, and the decrease in chromatin contacts observed. Interestingly, chromatin looping at the alpha-globin(Kim et al., 2009) and Interleukin 2R-alpha domains(Yasui et al., 2002) has been shown to depend on nucleosome occupancy and chromatin remodeling proteins. It remains to be seen if nucleosome occupancy is linked with Cohesin binding at these sites, and/or if ATRX also plays a role at these domains.

The loss of ATRX affects the expression of numerous genes(Levy et al., 2008). As CTCF and Cohesin binding sites are abundant throughout the genome(Rubio et al., 2008), it is plausible that ATRX-dependent chromatin looping it not unique to imprinted genes, but rather is a common function of ATRX. One potential candidate is the alpha-globin locus. The majority of ATR-X patients present with some degree of alpha-thalassaemia, caused by a downregulation of the alpha-globin genes(Gibbons, 2006). In erythroid cells, chromatin looping positions the alpha-globin genes into an active conformation, which is not present in non-erythroid cells where alpha-globin is repressed(Vernimmen et al., 2007; Vernimmen et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2006). Furthermore, studies evaluating alphaglobin looping in chicken and human cells have found that CTCF has a different binding profile in erythroid versus non-erythroid cells(Furlan-Magaril et al., 2011; Mahajan et al., 2009), suggesting an active role for CTCF in loop formation and gene regulation. Numerous proteins have been documented as contributors to the alpha-globin locus configuration, including GATA-1(Escamilla-Del-Arenal and Recillas-Targa, 2008), and BRG1(Kim et al., 2009); it is plausible that ATRX is also involved. Like ATRX, BRG1 is an ATP-dependent SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling protein that regulates nucleosome occupancy(Rippe et al., 2007), and was recently shown to function within an imprinted domain on human chromosome 20 (L3MBTL1/SGK)(Aziz et al., 2013). ATRX may function in concert with other chromatin remodeling proteins, including BRG1, to control looping in cis at H19/Igf2, alpha-globin, and multiple other regions throughout the genome. Like CTCF and Cohesin, ATRX may emerge as an important factor in chromatin looping, at least at some sites.

While the position of nucleosomes influences CTCF and Cohesin binding and is probably a strong contributing factor in the regulation of *H19/Igf2* architecture by ATRX, it may not be the only factor. In interphase, ATRX is tightly associated with the nuclear matrix(Bérubé et al., 2000). The nuclear matrix is a dynamic structural network within the nucleus thought to play a role in the formation and/or maintenance of nuclear architecture by tethering to specific DNA sequences known as matrix-attachment regions (MARs)(Pederson, 2000). For example, matrix mediated looping has been demonstrated at the beta-globin domain where inter-MAR association at the base of chromatin loops is

necessary for proper beta-globin expression(Wang et al., 2009). The *H19/Igf2* domain contains four MAR regions, including MAR3 located between *H19* and *Igf2*(Greally et al., 1997). While it is unknown if ATRX binds these MARs in the brain, my 3C and 4C data sets clearly demonstrate that that the *H19* ICR interacts with MAR3, and that this interaction is dependent on the presence of ATRX. It is possible that ATRX is involved in tethering *H19/Igf2* MAR sites to the matrix, aiding in the formation or maintenance of chromatin loops. Overall, it is clear that ATRX can compartmentalize DNA into higher-order chromatin structure to govern gene expression.

### 4.5 Chromatin Looping and Gene Expression

It has long been recognized that enhancers can exist and function at large distances from their target genes(Stadhouders et al., 2012). Technologies evaluating higher-order chromatin structure have provided evidence that looping mechanisms are responsible for this long-distance gene regulation. In the classical model, a distant enhancer loops into close proximity of a gene promoter to regulate its expression. This model is largely based on studies at the beta-globin domain, where a distal enhancer, termed the locus control region, loops from over 40 kb away to interact with the beta-globin promoter and activate gene expression(Palstra et al., 2008a). However, as studies continue to discover a complex array of chromatin interactions throughout the nucleus, it is clear that the relationship between chromatin looping and gene regulation is rarely this simple. The study of genes expressed in specific cell types has provided insight into the relationship between chromatin looping and gene expression. For example, in undifferentiated erthyroblasts the mouse alpha-globin locus is linear and alpha-globin is not expressed(Vernimmen et al., 2007). Upon differentiation, chromatin contacts are formed between alpha-globin genes and regulatory elements, inducing gene expression(Vernimmen et al., 2007). However, it is equally possible that these chromatin contacts are merely formed as a consequence of transcription, perhaps through the association of adjacent sites with the same transcription factory. The hypothesis of chromatin looping as a transcriptional by-product was disputed by a study which demonstrated that chromatin interactions of the H19/Igf2 domains persist throughout

mitosis when genes are silent(Burke et al., 2005). These results corroborate that chromatin looping facilitates gene transcription.

I propose that ATRX regulates the expression of *H19* and *Igf2* in the postnatal brain by controlling H19/Igf2 intrachromosomal looping. In the ATRX-null brain, the loss of chromatin contacts could cause an increase in H19 and Igf2 expression through various means. These include H19 and Igf2 being placed into closer proximity of enhancers, or alternatively at a greater distance from yet undiscovered repressive elements. A full understanding of all genomic elements located in the H19/Igf2 domain, and their role in silencing imprinted genes in the postnatal brain, is required to understand the relationship between ATRX, H19/Igf2 chromatin structure and gene regulation. Importantly, my data provide the first mechanistic link between ATRX and the control of gene expression. It remains possible that altered chromatin structure in the absence of ATRX is a secondary consequence to increased transcription. To distinguish between a direct and indirect effect on chromatin looping, control and ATRX-null cells could be treated with pharmacological inhibitors to prevent transcription. For example, the chemical alphaamanitin interacts with RNA polymerase II to inhibit transcriptional initiation and elongation(Seifart and Sekeris, 1969). Another possibility is 5,6-dichloro-1-β-Dribofuranosylbenzamidazole which inhibits elongation by RNA polymerase II(Yamaguchi et al., 1999). Analysis of treated and untreated control cells would reveal if transcription is required for H19/Igf2 loop formation or maintenance. A similar analysis in ATRX-null cells would determine if looping differs in ATRX-null cells in the presence or absence of extra H19 and Igf2 transcripts. Based on my model of nucleosome positioning governing CTCF and Cohesin occupancy, I predict that additional H19 and Igf2 transcription is not responsible for altered looping. Furthermore a similar study utilizing transcriptional inhibition and analysis of chromatin structures at the beta-globin locus revealed that altering transcription had no effect on beta-globin looping(Palstra et al., 2008b).

# 4.6 MeCP2 Regulation of Imprinted Genes and Chromatin Architecture

Mutations in the *MeCP2* gene were identified over a decade ago as the causative factor for Rett Syndrome(Amir et al., 1999). Since then, MeCP2 has been a subject of intense investigation; however, we still lack a clear picture of its function(s). MeCP2 was originally identified and characterized as a methylated-DNA binding protein, which bound to target genes with the co-repressor Sin3A and recruited histone deacetylases(HDACs), effectively repressing local genes(Ashraf and Ip, 1998; Ballestar and Wolffe, 2001). Emerging studies continue to challenge this original view of a simple transcriptional repressor; MeCP2 is now known to largely coat the genome, binding unmethylated DNA as well as methylated DNA, and it is frequently associated with actively transcribed genes(Hansen et al., 2010; Yasui et al., 2007). While future research may reconcile these seemingly conflicting roles, it seems more likely that MeCP2 has diverse functions throughout the genome. These functions could depend on the genomic context, post translational modifications and/or protein interaction partners. Allelespecific binding of MeCP2 had previously been demonstrated within the U2af1-rs1 and Dlx5/Dlx6 imprinted domains(Gregory et al., 2001; Horike et al., 2005). At these sites MeCP2 binds the silent methylated allele, and is associated with either imprint establishment or maintenance(Gregory et al., 2001; Horike et al., 2005). I identified an interaction between MeCP2 and ATRX/Cohesin on the unmethylated maternal allele of the H19 ICR. Localization to the unmethylated allele was surprising, and suggested that the role of MeCP2 at imprinted genes is complex and may differ between domains, or may be specific to developmental stages and cell types. At H19/Igf2, binding to the unmethylated allele could be mediated by other proteins that somehow override MeCP2's preference for methylated DNA. I predict that MeCP2 also binds the unmethylated allele of other neuronal-IGN targets and is involved in *H19*, *Igf2*, and IGN silencing, though this has not yet been evaluated. In support of this hypothesis, in vitro studies have demonstrated that MeCP2 binding at the *H19* ICR is repressive(Drewell et al., 2002). Understanding the role of MeCP2 at other IGN sites is complicated by many conflicting studies on MeCP2 and gene regulation. While several groups have linked MeCP2 to the

regulation of imprinted genes, including *Ube3a*(Makedonski et al., 2005; Samaco et al., 2005), *Zac1*(Urdinguio et al., 2008), *Dlk1(Urdinguio et al., 2008)*, and *Dlx5*(Horike et al., 2005; Miyano et al., 2008), there are an equal number of reports refuting these claims(Jordan and Francke, 2006; Schule et al., 2007). The irreproducibility of these studies is probably due to the small transcriptional effects produced by MeCP2, as well as differences in the cell types and developmental stages examined. My results outline the need for careful and detailed allele-specific ChIP and expression analysis in the MeCP2-null brain to determine the effect of MeCP2 on IGN transcription.

In 2005 a great deal of excitement was generated surrounding a study identifying MeCP2 as a mediator of chromatin looping and imprinting of the *Dlx5* gene(Horike et al., 2005). However, this chromatin looping analysis was not quantitative, and the regulation of Dlx5 by MeCP2 was later contested (Horike et al., 2005; Miyano et al., 2008; Nakashima et al.2010; Schule et al., 2007). A role for MeCP2 in chromatin looping was further suggested by reports of MeCP2 binding in numerous intergenic regions throughout the genome and an *in vitro* study which utilized electron microscopy to visualize DNA loops connected by a single MeCP2 molecule(Ghosh et al., 2010; Yasui et al., 2007). However, none of the above studies provide conclusive evidence for MeCP2-mediated higher-order chromatin architecture. I have now demonstrated that MeCP2-deficiency causes a clear and dramatic loss of chromatin interactions across the 90 kb H19/Igf2 imprinted domain. I have also generated preliminary data showing a similar result at the Gtl2/Dlk1 imprinted domain (Appendix D). Comparison of my ATRX-null and MeCP2null 3C and 4C data sets revealed that MeCP2 affects chromatin interactions at more sites and to a greater extent than ATRX. This suggests that, in addition to ATRX, MeCP2 probably recruits other proteins essential for chromatin looping. It will be important to determine if MeCP2 regulation of chromatin structure is unique to imprinted genes, or if this form of regulation occurs at other sites. Given the widespread abundance of MeCP2 throughout the genome(Skene et al., 2010), it is plausible that MeCP2 recruits different chromatin remodeling factors and proteins to various sites to control chromatin architecture.

In the mouse brain, MeCP2 is expressed at low levels before birth and increases dramatically during the first three weeks of life(Kishi and Macklis, 2004; Skene et al., 2010). Due to this expression pattern, and the postnatal onset of Rett Syndrome in humans and mice(Armstrong, 2002; Chen et al., 2001; Guy et al., 2001; Shahbazian et al., 2002; Shahbazian and Zoghbi, 2001), the vast majority of studies concentrate on MeCP2's effects in the mature brain. The longstanding belief was that MeCP2 was not required during neurogenesis(Guy et al., 2007; Guy et al., 2001; Kishi and Macklis, 2004). My results counter these assumptions by demonstrating that MeCP2 is required for ATRX binding to the H19 ICR and MeCP2-deficiency nearly abolishes chromatin looping in the neonatal brain. This neonatal function of MeCP2 occurs before MeCP2 levels have reached their maximum and before disease onset in mutant mice. A role for MeCP2 earlier in development is supported by several studies reporting consequences of MeCP2 deficiency beginning in the neonatal period(De Filippis et al., 2010; Forbes-Lorman et al., 2012; Gantz et al., 2011; Kurian et al., 2008; Picker et al., 2006). The identification of MeCP2 targets in the neonatal brain would be very informative, as gene expression changes before the onset of overt phenotypes may contribute to disease etiology. A few years ago, several groups demonstrated that re-expression of MeCP2 in the postnatal brain caused a partial reversal of Rett Syndrome-like symptoms in MeCP2null mice(Giacometti et al., 2007; Guy et al., 2007; Luikenhuis et al., 2004; Tropea et al., 2009). While there may be numerous technical and biological explanations for the partial phenotypic rescue, it remains possible that the loss of MeCP2 in early development causes irreparable damage to the nervous system. Overall, my research highlights a need for studies evaluating MeCP2 function and targets much earlier in development.

# 4.7 *Trans*-Chromosomal Interactions of the Imprinted Gene Network

Recent technological advancements have greatly enhanced our ability to query genomewide 3D chromatin interactions and revealed that interactions between chromosomes may be important for gene regulation(Apostolou and Thanos, 2008; Brickner and Brickner, 2012; Spilianakis et al., 2005; Williams et al., 2010). For example, in erythroid cells the active alpha-globin and beta-globin genes associate with numerous actively transcribed genes on other chromosomes (Schoenfelder et al., 2010). It was proposed that this interaction reflects co-localization with preferred transcription partners at transcription factories(Schoenfelder et al., 2010). Studies evaluating the H19 ICR have found that in addition to *cis* interactions, the *H19* ICR also interacts in *trans* with other imprinted domains(Sandhu et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2006). Many of these connections are cell type specific and depend on the presence of CTCF(Sandhu et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2006). Together, the identification of the IGN and trans interactions of the H19 ICR sparked a theory of IGN regulation through one central mechanism(Andrade et al. 2008; Kernohan and Bérubé, 2010; Lui et al., 2008; Sandhu et al., 2009; Varrault et al., 2006). As ATRX regulates CTCF occupancy at the H19 ICR and IGN expression, we predicted that ATRX might regulate interactions between imprinted domains. Using 3D-FISH of cortical sections, I demonstrated that imprinted domains indeed co-localize in a small percentage of cells in the mouse forebrain (5-10%). Nevertheless, I did not detect a change in interaction frequencies in the ATRX-null brain. This relatively low co-localization frequency might reflect transient interactions, for example as a result of co-localization at a transcription factory. FISH experiments are limited in resolution by the probe size and microscopy visualization. It is still formally possible that despite co-localization on a macro scale, loss of ATRX causes changes in interactions between the H19 ICR and specific IGN sites on a smaller scale. My results do not rule out the presence of a central mechanism which contributes to IGN regulation. However, I have established that if such a mechanism exists, it is independent of ATRX. Furthermore, as MeCP2 recruits ATRX to imprinted domains, I predict that this mechanism is also independent of MeCP2.

## 4.8 Implications of Aberrant Imprinted Gene Expression to Brain Development

Accumulating evidence suggests that imprinted genes are regulated as a developmental network which is highly expressed in embryogenesis and silenced in postnatal tissues(Andrade et al. 2010; Berg et al., 2011; Lui et al., 2008; Varrault et al., 2006). In the brain, I have shown that ATRX is required for this coordinated transcriptional program which represses expression of imprinted genes following neurogenesis. These

results suggest that ATRX may function to co-regulate groups of genes. In the future, it will be important to determine if this coordinated control of gene sets is a common mechanism of ATRX, or whether this is unique to imprinted genes.

Imprinted genes are overexpressed in the ATRX-deficient mouse brain, but we can only speculate at this point what the physiological ramifications might be. This question is further complicated for targets, like H19, which do not yet have a clear function. The H19 gene locus produces a 2.3 kb non-coding RNA(Brannan et al., 1990), and a microRNA, miR-675(Cai and Cullen, 2007). miRNAs are a class of small non-coding RNAs (~22 nucleotides in length) which can function in transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation(Lee and Vasudevan, 2013). Overexpression of miR-675 results in reduced cellular proliferation(Keniry et al., 2012) perhaps due to an interaction between miR-675 and the growth-promoting insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor transcript (Igflr) (Keniry et al., 2012). In the context of neuronal development, an increase in miR-675 could lead to reduced neuronal proliferation and contribute to microcephaly. Later in development, this could result in reduced proliferation of neuronal stem cells in the dentate gyrus, which are important for learning and memory. It is unclear what effect elevated levels of H19 would have. For other genes, the potential consequences of overexpression in the central nervous system are more obvious. For example, Dlx5 encodes a protein required for neuronal migration and differentiation(Anderson et al., 1997; Stuhmer et al., 2002). As such, misexpression of Dlx5 could signal aberrant neuronal organization, or improper differentiation into mature neurons. Overall, imprinted genes have diverse functions and their overexpression could potentially lead to defects in a number of essential neuronal processes, including cellular replication, fate and death(Davies et al., 2005).

Genetic or epigenetic abnormalities within a number of imprinted domains cause a group of developmental syndromes known as Imprinting Disorders. These disorders include Angelman Syndrome(Kishino et al., 1997; Matsuura et al., 1997), Prader–Willi Syndrome(Ledbetter et al., 1981; Miller et al., 2009; Muscatelli et al., 2000; Ren et al., 2003), Beckweith-Wiedemann Syndrome(DeBaun et al., 2002), and Turner

Syndrome(Kesler et al., 2003; McCauley et al., 1987; Skuse et al., 1997). Together these syndromes emphasize the importance of maintaining normal expression of imprinted genes during development(reviewed in (Wilkins and Ubeda, 2011)). Of these conditions, Prader-Willi Syndrome(Gunay-Aygun et al., 2001; Holm et al., 1993), Angelman Syndrome(Williams et al., 2006), and Turner Syndrome(Elsheikh et al., 2002; McCauley et al., 1987) result in abnormal neurodevelopment, and Beckweith-Wiedemann Syndrome is frequently associated with autism(Kent et al., 2008). The link between Imprinting Disorders and neurodevelopment ascertains that the aberrant expression of imprinted genes can disrupt brain development and function. This suggests that the misexpression of imprinted genes in the ATRX-null mouse brain may contribute to the neuronal deficiencies observed in our ATRX-null mouse model, including increased cell death and microcephaly(Bérubé et al., 2005; Seah et al., 2008). As ATRX-null mice die very early (P0.5-P30), it is not possible to determine if these mice have impaired neurological function, and any potential contributions of imprinted gene misexpression. To bypass early neurodevelopmental defects, an inducible ATRX-null mouse could be generated utilizing the Cre-ERT system in conjunction with the *Foxg1* promoter. Exposure of pups to tamoxifen just before birth (via mother), would delete ATRX in the mouse forebrain, prior to imprinted gene silencing. This would hopefully circumvent early lethality and facilitate analysis of ATRX deficiency in the mature brain.

In addition to congenital disorders, misregulation of imprinted genes has also been implicated in cancer. The loss of imprinting has been documented in many cancers, including chronic myeloid leukaemia (100%)(Randhawa et al., 1998), ovarian tumors (80%)(Kamikihara et al., 2005), Wilms' tumors (70%)(Mummert et al., 2005), colorectal cancer (66%)(Nakagawa et al., 2001; Ohlsson et al., 1999), renal-cell carcinomas (50%)(Oda et al., 1998), oesophageal cancer (50%)(Hibi et al., 1996) and lung adenocarcinoma (47-85%)(Kohda et al., 2001)(reviewed in (Jelinic and Shaw, 2007)). Additionally, patients with Beckwith-Wiedemann and Prader-Willi Syndromes are at higher risk for developing childhood cancers than the general population(Davies et al., 2003; Weksberg et al., 2010). This is not surprising as a large proportion of imprinted genes play roles in embryonic or placental growth(Morison et al., 2005). Imprinted genes linked to cancer thus far include: *H19*, *IGF2*, *MEST*, *DCN*, *GTL2*, *KCNQ1*, and *CDKN1C* (reviewed in (Jelinic and Shaw, 2007) and (Uribe-Lewis et al., 2011)). Recently, *ATRX* mutations or aberrant expression has been identified in various cancer types(Bower et al., 2012; de Wilde et al., 2012; Jiao et al., 2012; Jiao et al., 2011; Kannan et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2012; Lovejoy et al., 2012; Schwartzentruber et al., 2012; Weisbrod et al., 2013). Amongst these, Liu et al identified a subtype of gliomas that harboured *ATRX* mutations, along with *IDH1/2* and *p53*(Liu et al., 2012). They evaluated the expression profile of these tumors and reported a list of up-regulated genes, which includes many imprinted genes(Liu et al., 2012). This observation, coupled with the aforementioned statistics on imprinted gene regulation and cancer, suggests that the misregulation of imprinted genes may contribute to tumorigenesis in ATRX-deficient cancers. The identification of imprinted genes as affected in ATRX-deficient tumors is important as therapies are in development targeting these genes, and would be available to treat ATRX-null cancers.

Taken together, the clinical data clearly indicate that imprinted genes play an essential role in neurodevelopment and tumorigenesis. Reports investigating imprinted gene expression in both the developmental disorders and cancers most often observe a loss of imprinting, effectively causing a two-fold increase in transcript levels. While the loss of ATRX does not reactivate expression of the silent parental allele, we observe a two fold increase in transcript levels of many imprinted genes, effectively recapitulating transcript levels produced by reactivation of a silent allele. Furthermore, the majority of imprinting disorders and cancer phenotypes result from aberrant expression of one imprinted domain. Given that ATRX loss of function affects the expression of various imprinted genes, it is difficult to predict their additive effects. To determine if imprinted genes factor into the etiology of ATR-X Syndrome, it would be imperative to test expression in mouse models recapitulating patient mutations and neuronal samples from ATR-X individuals. ATR-X Syndrome results from hypomorphic mutations and not a complete loss of ATRX protein (as in our mouse model)(Gibbons et al., 2008). Therefore, it is possible that imprinted genes would not be affected by patient ATRX mutations, which still retain some function. It is also possible that only a subset of mutations would affect the expression of imprinted genes; for example, mutations in the SWI/SNF chromatin

remodeling domain. In my proposed model for IGN regulation, the loss of SWI/SNF activity would lead to a failure to redistribute nucleosomes, thus resulting in improper *intra*chromosomal structure and gene expression. Furthermore, future investigations should also evaluate the status of imprinted transcripts in ATRX-deficient cancers. While it is often difficult to determine cause and effect in a tumor genome, there are numerous studies linking overexpression of imprinted genes to cancer formation(Jelinic and Shaw, 2007). Though the misexpression of imprinted genes is probably not the initiating even in ATRX-null cancers (alternative lengthening of telomeres (ALT) has been identified as a main contributor(Bower et al., 2012; de Wilde et al., 2012; Heaphy et al., 2011; Lovejoy et al., 2012; Nguyen et al., 2013)), it is possible that the expression of these transcripts facilitate growth of cancerous cells. If imprinted genes are affected in ATR-X patients and ATRX-null cancers, the identification of these genes as targets may facilitate the development of novel therapies.

### 4.9 Proposed Model and Remaining Questions

The body of work described in this thesis demonstrates that ATRX is required for proper postnatal silencing of the neuronal IGN. My data supports a model in which ATRX is recruited by MeCP2 to DMRs, where it governs nucleosome occupancy to maintain CTCF and Cohesin binding, ultimately leading to proper formation of local chromatin architecture and gene silencing. In the absence of ATRX, chromatin is in a more relaxed and open configuration, resulting in increased transcription of H19 and Igf2 (Figure 3-6). This model suggests that a developmental switch must be activated at DMR/ICR sequences to initiate transcriptional repression in the neonatal brain. This switch likely involves compacting the chromatin from a euchromatic to a heterochromatic state to initiate or maintain silencing. The loss of ATRX significantly compromises silencing of imprinted genes; however, these genes still undergo some level of repression in the ATRX-null brain(Kernohan, K., data not shown). It is therefore likely that ATRX is not the only protein involved in this developmental program, and that other yet unidentified factors are also required. ATRX could recruit other proteins, or has other yet unidentified functions leading to this effect. Why is it that CTCF and Cohesin need to be actively maintained in the postnatal brain, or, if maintenance is constantly required, what serves

this function embryonically? Perhaps different chromatin remodeling factors function at the H19 ICR when the adjacent genes are highly expressed, or the more open chromatin state negates a need for active CTCF maintenance. We do not yet know what directs MeCP2 to this site, and at what time this occurs. Given the expression pattern of MeCP2, perhaps MeCP2 becomes enriched in the late embryonic/neonatal brain when protein levels have reached a particular threshold, but this idea requires experimental confirmation. It remains to be seen what changes drive postnatal repression. This could be one or more alteration in chromatin interactions, epigenetic effects, repressive protein recruitment or activator protein exclusion. IGN silencing occurs in many tissues, including the lung, kidneys and heart(Lui et al., 2008). We do not yet understand what signals IGN repression in other tissues. Is ATRX involved in IGN regulation in many cell types, or are there tissue specific proteins and regulatory systems? My data demonstrating maternal-specific ATRX binding at the H19 ICR and the sites of decreased chromatin interactions (ICR-DMR1-MAR3 complex) suggests a maternal specific effect. However, it remains possible that the loss of ATRX affects both parental alleles. This could be due to yet unknown ATRX binding sites outside of the ICR on the paternal allele, or signalling between the alleles. Finally, it will be important to determine if the ATRX-MeCP2-Cohesin complex or ATRX or MeCP2 independently affect looping at other non-imprinted genes. In turn, this knowledge will be essential for the understanding of the function of these proteins

Overall, the work presented in this thesis has identified the first direct gene targets of the ATRX chromatin remodeling protein. The data shows that ATRX binds intergenic regulatory regions (DMRs and ICRs) with MeCP2 to regulate gene expression in an allele-specific manner. Using the *H19/Igf2* domain as a model, I demonstrated that ATRX is recruited by MeCP2 in the neonatal brain to regulate nucleosome positioning, and consequently CTCF/Cohesin binding and higher-order chromatin interactions. These ATRX-dependent chromatin interactions are required for the coordinated transcriptional repression of imprinted genes following neurogenesis in the mouse brain. The identification of additional ATRX gene targets and the mechanism of ATRX regulation throughout the

genome, including a potential role in governing chromatin architecture, will be imperative for a full understanding of the function of ATRX.

## 4.10 References

Amir RE, Van den Veyver IB, Wan M, Tran CQ, Francke U and Zoghbi HY (1999) Rett syndrome is caused by mutations in X-linked MECP2, encoding methyl CpG-binding protein 2. *Nature genetics* **23**:185-188.

Anderson SA, Eisenstat DD, Shi L and Rubenstein JL (1997) Interneuron migration from basal forebrain to neocortex: dependence on Dlx genes. *Science* **278**:474-476.

Andrade AC, Lui JC and Nilsson O Temporal and spatial expression of a growthregulated network of imprinted genes in growth plate. *Pediatr Nephrol* **25**:617-623.

Apostolou E and Thanos D (2008) Virus Infection Induces NF-kappaB-dependent interchromosomal associations mediating monoallelic IFN-beta gene expression. *Cell* **134**:85-96.

Armstrong DD (2002) Neuropathology of Rett syndrome. *Mental retardation and developmental disabilities research reviews* **8**:72-76.

Ashraf SI and Ip YT (1998) Transcriptional control: repression by local chromatin modification. *Current biology : CB* **8**:R683-686.

Aziz A, Baxter EJ, Edwards C, Cheong CY, Ito M, Bench A, Kelley R, Silber Y, Beer PA, Chng K, Renfree MB, McEwen K, Grey D, Nangalia J, Mufti GJ, Hellstrom-Lindberg E, Kiladjian JJ, McMullin MF, Campbell PJ, Ferguson-Smith AC and Green AR (2013) Cooperativity of imprinted genes inactivated by acquired chromosome 20q deletions. *The Journal of clinical investigation*.

Baker SA, Chen L, Wilkins AD, Yu P, Lichtarge O and Zoghbi HY (2013) An AT-Hook Domain in MeCP2 Determines the Clinical Course of Rett Syndrome and Related Disorders. *Cell* **152**:984-996. Ballestar E and Wolffe AP (2001) Methyl CpG-binding proteins. Targeting specific gene repression. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS* **268**:1-6.

Barbero JL (2011) Sister chromatid cohesion control and aneuploidy. *Cytogenetic and genome research* **133**:223-233.

Becker PB and Horz W (2002) ATP-dependent nucleosome remodeling. *Annual review* of biochemistry **71**:247-273.

Ben-Asher E and Lancet D (2004) NIPBL gene responsible for Cornelia de Lange syndrome, a severe developmental disorder. *The Israel Medical Association journal : IMAJ* **6**:571-572.

Berg JS, Lin KK, Sonnet C, Boles NC, Weksberg DC, Nguyen H, Holt LJ, Rickwood D, Daly RJ and Goodell MA (2011) Imprinted genes that regulate early mammalian growth are coexpressed in somatic stem cells. *PloS one* **6**:e26410.

Bérubé NG, Mangelsdorf M, Jagla M, Vanderluit J, Garrick D, Gibbons RJ, Higgs DR, Slack RS and Picketts DJ (2005) The chromatin-remodeling protein ATRX is critical for neuronal survival during corticogenesis. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **115**:258-267.

Bérubé NG, Smeenk CA and Picketts DJ (2000) Cell cycle-dependent phosphorylation of the ATRX protein correlates with changes in nuclear matrix and chromatin association. *Human molecular genetics* **9**:539-547.

Bower K, Napier CE, Cole SL, Dagg RA, Lau LM, Duncan EL, Moy EL and Reddel RR (2012) Loss of wild-type ATRX expression in somatic cell hybrids segregates with activation of Alternative Lengthening of Telomeres. *PloS one* **7**:e50062.

Brannan CI, Dees EC, Ingram RS and Tilghman SM (1990) The product of the H19 gene may function as an RNA. *Molecular and cellular biology* **10**:28-36.

Brickner DG and Brickner JH (2012) Interchromosomal clustering of active genes at the nuclear pore complex. *Nucleus* **3**:487-492.

Burke LJ, Zhang R, Bartkuhn M, Tiwari VK, Tavoosidana G, Kurukuti S, Weth C, Leers J, Galjart N, Ohlsson R and Renkawitz R (2005) CTCF binding and higher order chromatin structure of the H19 locus are maintained in mitotic chromatin. *The EMBO journal* **24**:3291-3300.

Cai X and Cullen BR (2007) The imprinted H19 noncoding RNA is a primary microRNA precursor. *RNA* **13**:313-316.

Chen RZ, Akbarian S, Tudor M and Jaenisch R (2001) Deficiency of methyl CpG binding protein-2 in CNS neurons results in a Rett-like phenotype in mice. *Nature genetics* **27**:327-331.

Davey C, Fraser R, Smolle M, Simmen MW and Allan J (2003) Nucleosome positioning signals in the DNA sequence of the human and mouse H19 imprinting control regions. *Journal of molecular biology* **325**:873-887.

Davies HD, Leusink GL, McConnell A, Deyell M, Cassidy SB, Fick GH and Coppes MJ (2003) Myeloid leukemia in Prader-Willi syndrome. *The Journal of pediatrics* **142**:174-178.

Davies W, Isles AR and Wilkinson LS (2005) Imprinted gene expression in the brain. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* **29**:421-430.

De Filippis B, Ricceri L and Laviola G (2010) Early postnatal behavioral changes in the Mecp2-308 truncation mouse model of Rett syndrome. *Genes, brain, and behavior* **9**:213-223.

de Wilde RF, Heaphy CM, Maitra A, Meeker AK, Edil BH, Wolfgang CL, Ellison TA, Schulick RD, Molenaar IQ, Valk GD, Vriens MR, Borel Rinkes IH, Offerhaus GJ, Hruban RH and Matsukuma KE (2012) Loss of ATRX or DAXX expression and concomitant acquisition of the alternative lengthening of telomeres phenotype are late events in a small subset of MEN-1 syndrome pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. *Modern pathology : an official journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc* **25**:1033-1039. DeBaun MR, Niemitz EL, McNeil DE, Brandenburg SA, Lee MP and Feinberg AP (2002) Epigenetic alterations of H19 and LIT1 distinguish patients with Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome with cancer and birth defects. *American journal of human genetics* **70**:604-611.

Dhayalan A, Tamas R, Bock I, Tattermusch A, Dimitrova E, Kudithipudi S, Ragozin S and Jeltsch A (2011) The ATRX-ADD domain binds to H3 tail peptides and reads the combined methylation state of K4 and K9. *Human molecular genetics* **20**:2195-2203.

Drewell RA, Goddard CJ, Thomas JO and Surani MA (2002) Methylation-dependent silencing at the H19 imprinting control region by MeCP2. *Nucleic acids research* **30**:1139-1144.

Elsheikh M, Dunger DB, Conway GS and Wass JA (2002) Turner's syndrome in adulthood. *Endocr Rev* 23:120-140.

Escamilla-Del-Arenal M and Recillas-Targa F (2008) GATA-1 modulates the chromatin structure and activity of the chicken alpha-globin 3' enhancer. *Molecular and cellular biology* **28**:575-586.

Eustermann S, Yang JC, Law MJ, Amos R, Chapman LM, Jelinska C, Garrick D, Clynes D, Gibbons RJ, Rhodes D, Higgs DR and Neuhaus D (2011) Combinatorial readout of histone H3 modifications specifies localization of ATRX to heterochromatin. *Nature structural & molecular biology* **18**:777-782.

Forbes-Lorman RM, Rautio JJ, Kurian JR, Auger AP and Auger CJ (2012) Neonatal MeCP2 is important for the organization of sex differences in vasopressin expression. *Epigenetics : official journal of the DNA Methylation Society* **7**:230-238.

Fu Y, Sinha M, Peterson CL and Weng Z (2008) The insulator binding protein CTCF positions 20 nucleosomes around its binding sites across the human genome. *PLoS genetics* **4**:e1000138.

Fuks F, Hurd PJ, Wolf D, Nan X, Bird AP and Kouzarides T (2003) The methyl CpGbinding protein MeCP2 links DNA methylation to histone methylation. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **278**:4035-4040.

Furlan-Magaril M, Rebollar E, Guerrero G, Fernandez A, Molto E, Gonzalez-Buendia E, Cantero M, Montoliu L and Recillas-Targa F (2011) An insulator embedded in the chicken alpha-globin locus regulates chromatin domain configuration and differential gene expression. *Nucleic acids research* **39**:89-103.

Gantz SC, Ford CP, Neve KA and Williams JT (2011) Loss of Mecp2 in substantia nigra dopamine neurons compromises the nigrostriatal pathway. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* **31**:12629-12637.

Ghosh RP, Horowitz-Scherer RA, Nikitina T, Shlyakhtenko LS and Woodcock CL (2010) MeCP2 binds cooperatively to its substrate and competes with histone H1 for chromatin binding sites. *Molecular and cellular biology* **30**:4656-4670.

Giacometti E, Luikenhuis S, Beard C and Jaenisch R (2007) Partial rescue of MeCP2 deficiency by postnatal activation of MeCP2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**:1931-1936.

Gibbons R (2006) Alpha thalassaemia-mental retardation, X linked. *Orphanet journal of rare diseases* **1**:15.

Gibbons RJ, Picketts DJ and Higgs DR (1995a) Syndromal mental retardation due to mutations in a regulator of gene expression. *Human molecular genetics* **4 Spec No**:1705-1709.

Gibbons RJ, Picketts DJ, Villard L and Higgs DR (1995b) Mutations in a putative global transcriptional regulator cause X-linked mental retardation with alpha-thalassemia (ATR-X syndrome). *Cell* **80**:837-845.

Gibbons RJ, Suthers GK, Wilkie AO, Buckle VJ and Higgs DR (1992) X-linked alphathalassemia/mental retardation (ATR-X) syndrome: localization to Xq12-q21.31 by X inactivation and linkage analysis. *American journal of human genetics* **51**:1136-1149. Gibbons RJ, Wada T, Fisher CA, Malik N, Mitson MJ, Steensma DP, Fryer A, Goudie DR, Krantz ID and Traeger-Synodinos J (2008) Mutations in the chromatin-associated protein ATRX. *Human mutation* **29**:796-802.

Greally JM, Guinness ME, McGrath J and Zemel S (1997) Matrix-attachment regions in the mouse chromosome 7F imprinted domain. *Mammalian genome : official journal of the International Mammalian Genome Society* **8**:805-810.

Gregory RI, Randall TE, Johnson CA, Khosla S, Hatada I, O'Neill LP, Turner BM and Feil R (2001) DNA methylation is linked to deacetylation of histone H3, but not H4, on the imprinted genes Snrpn and U2af1-rs1. *Molecular and cellular biology* **21**:5426-5436.

Guibert S, Zhao Z, Sjolinder M, Gondor A, Fernandez A, Pant V and Ohlsson R (2012) CTCF-binding sites within the H19 ICR differentially regulate local chromatin structures and cis-acting functions. *Epigenetics : official journal of the DNA Methylation Society* **7**:361-369.

Gunay-Aygun M, Schwartz S, Heeger S, O'Riordan MA and Cassidy SB (2001) The changing purpose of Prader-Willi syndrome clinical diagnostic criteria and proposed revised criteria. *Pediatrics* **108**:E92.

Guy J, Gan J, Selfridge J, Cobb S and Bird A (2007) Reversal of neurological defects in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. *Science* **315**:1143-1147.

Guy J, Hendrich B, Holmes M, Martin JE and Bird A (2001) A mouse Mecp2-null mutation causes neurological symptoms that mimic Rett syndrome. *Nature genetics* **27**:322-326.

Han L, Lee DH and Szabo PE (2008) CTCF is the master organizer of domain-wide allele-specific chromatin at the H19/Igf2 imprinted region. *Molecular and cellular biology* **28**:1124-1135.

Hansen JC, Ghosh RP and Woodcock CL (2010) Binding of the Rett syndrome protein, MeCP2, to methylated and unmethylated DNA and chromatin. *IUBMB life* **62**:732-738.

Heaphy CM, de Wilde RF, Jiao Y, Klein AP, Edil BH, Shi C, Bettegowda C, Rodriguez FJ, Eberhart CG, Hebbar S, Offerhaus GJ, McLendon R, Rasheed BA, He Y, Yan H, Bigner DD, Oba-Shinjo SM, Marie SK, Riggins GJ, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Hruban RH, Maitra A, Papadopoulos N and Meeker AK (2011) Altered telomeres in tumors with ATRX and DAXX mutations. *Science* **333**:425.

Hibi K, Nakamura H, Hirai A, Fujikake Y, Kasai Y, Akiyama S, Ito K and Takagi H (1996) Loss of H19 imprinting in esophageal cancer. *Cancer research* **56**:480-482.

Holm VA, Cassidy SB, Butler MG, Hanchett JM, Greenswag LR, Whitman BY and Greenberg F (1993) Prader-Willi syndrome: consensus diagnostic criteria. *Pediatrics* **91**:398-402.

Horike S, Cai S, Miyano M, Cheng JF and Kohwi-Shigematsu T (2005) Loss of silentchromatin looping and impaired imprinting of DLX5 in Rett syndrome. *Nature genetics* **37**:31-40.

Jelinic P and Shaw P (2007) Loss of imprinting and cancer. *The Journal of pathology* **211**:261-268.

Jiao Y, Killela PJ, Reitman ZJ, Rasheed AB, Heaphy CM, de Wilde RF, Rodriguez FJ, Rosemberg S, Oba-Shinjo SM, Nagahashi Marie SK, Bettegowda C, Agrawal N, Lipp E, Pirozzi C, Lopez G, He Y, Friedman H, Friedman AH, Riggins GJ, Holdhoff M, Burger P, McLendon R, Bigner DD, Vogelstein B, Meeker AK, Kinzler KW, Papadopoulos N, Diaz LA and Yan H (2012) Frequent ATRX, CIC, FUBP1 and IDH1 mutations refine the classification of malignant gliomas. *Oncotarget* **3**:709-722.

Jiao Y, Shi C, Edil BH, de Wilde RF, Klimstra DS, Maitra A, Schulick RD, Tang LH, Wolfgang CL, Choti MA, Velculescu VE, Diaz LA, Jr., Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW, Hruban RH and Papadopoulos N (2011) DAXX/ATRX, MEN1, and mTOR pathway genes are frequently altered in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. *Science* **331**:1199-1203.

Jordan C and Francke U (2006) Ube3a expression is not altered in Mecp2 mutant mice. *Human molecular genetics* **15**:2210-2215.

Kamikihara T, Arima T, Kato K, Matsuda T, Kato H, Douchi T, Nagata Y, Nakao M and Wake N (2005) Epigenetic silencing of the imprinted gene ZAC by DNA methylation is an early event in the progression of human ovarian cancer. *International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer* **115**:690-700.

Kanduri M, Kanduri C, Mariano P, Vostrov AA, Quitschke W, Lobanenkov V and Ohlsson R (2002) Multiple nucleosome positioning sites regulate the CTCF-mediated insulator function of the H19 imprinting control region. *Molecular and cellular biology* **22**:3339-3344.

Kannan K, Inagaki A, Silber J, Gorovets D, Zhang J, Kastenhuber ER, Heguy A, Petrini JH, Chan TA and Huse JT (2012) Whole-exome sequencing identifies ATRX mutation as a key molecular determinant in lower-grade glioma. *Oncotarget* **3**:1194-1203.

Keniry A, Oxley D, Monnier P, Kyba M, Dandolo L, Smits G and Reik W (2012) The H19 lincRNA is a developmental reservoir of miR-675 that suppresses growth and Igf1r. *Nature cell biology* **14**:659-665.

Kent L, Bowdin S, Kirby GA, Cooper WN and Maher ER (2008) Beckwith Weidemann syndrome: a behavioral phenotype-genotype study. *American journal of medical genetics Part B, Neuropsychiatric genetics : the official publication of the International Society of Psychiatric Genetics* **147B**:1295-1297.

Kernohan KD and Bérubé NG (2010) Genetic and epigenetic dysregulation of imprinted genes in the brain. *Epigenomics* **2**:743-763.

Kernohan KD, Jiang Y, Tremblay DC, Bonvissuto AC, Eubanks JH, Mann MR and Bérubé NG (2010) ATRX partners with Cohesin and MeCP2 and contributes to developmental silencing of imprinted genes in the brain. *Developmental cell* **18**:191-202. Kesler SR, Blasey CM, Brown WE, Yankowitz J, Zeng SM, Bender BG and Reiss AL (2003) Effects of X-monosomy and X-linked imprinting on superior temporal gyrus morphology in Turner syndrome. *Biological psychiatry* **54**:636-646.

Kim SI, Bresnick EH and Bultman SJ (2009) BRG1 directly regulates nucleosome structure and chromatin looping of the alpha globin locus to activate transcription. *Nucleic acids research* **37**:6019-6027.

Kishi N and Macklis JD (2004) MECP2 is progressively expressed in post-migratory neurons and is involved in neuronal maturation rather than cell fate decisions. *Molecular and cellular neurosciences* **27**:306-321.

Kishino T, Lalande M and Wagstaff J (1997) UBE3A/E6-AP mutations cause Angelman syndrome. *Nature genetics* **15**:70-73.

Kohda M, Hoshiya H, Katoh M, Tanaka I, Masuda R, Takemura T, Fujiwara M and Oshimura M (2001) Frequent loss of imprinting of IGF2 and MEST in lung adenocarcinoma. *Molecular carcinogenesis* **31**:184-191.

Krantz ID, McCallum J, DeScipio C, Kaur M, Gillis LA, Yaeger D, Jukofsky L, Wasserman N, Bottani A, Morris CA, Nowaczyk MJ, Toriello H, Bamshad MJ, Carey JC, Rappaport E, Kawauchi S, Lander AD, Calof AL, Li HH, Devoto M and Jackson LG (2004) Cornelia de Lange syndrome is caused by mutations in NIPBL, the human homolog of Drosophila melanogaster Nipped-B. *Nature genetics* **36**:631-635.

Kurian JR, Bychowski ME, Forbes-Lorman RM, Auger CJ and Auger AP (2008) Mecp2 organizes juvenile social behavior in a sex-specific manner. *The Journal of neuroscience* : *the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* **28**:7137-7142.

Kurukuti S, Tiwari VK, Tavoosidana G, Pugacheva E, Murrell A, Zhao Z, Lobanenkov V, Reik W and Ohlsson R (2006) CTCF binding at the H19 imprinting control region mediates maternally inherited higher-order chromatin conformation to restrict enhancer access to Igf2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **103**:10684-10689.

Lara-Pezzi E, Pezzi N, Prieto I, Barthelemy I, Carreiro C, Martinez A, Maldonado-Rodriguez A, Lopez-Cabrera M and Barbero JL (2004) Evidence of a transcriptional coactivator function of Cohesin STAG/SA/Scc3. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **279**:6553-6559.

Law MJ, Lower KM, Voon HP, Hughes JR, Garrick D, Viprakasit V, Mitson M, De Gobbi M, Marra M, Morris A, Abbott A, Wilder SP, Taylor S, Santos GM, Cross J, Ayyub H, Jones S, Ragoussis J, Rhodes D, Dunham I, Higgs DR and Gibbons RJ (2010) ATR-X syndrome protein targets tandem repeats and influences allele-specific expression in a size-dependent manner. *Cell* **143**:367-378.

Ledbetter DH, Riccardi VM, Airhart SD, Strobel RJ, Keenan BS and Crawford JD (1981) Deletions of chromosome 15 as a cause of the Prader-Willi syndrome. *The New England journal of medicine* **304**:325-329.

Lee S and Vasudevan S (2013) Post-transcriptional stimulation of gene expression by microRNAs. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology* **768**:97-126.

Lefevre P, Witham J, Lacroix CE, Cockerill PN and Bonifer C (2008) The LPS-induced transcriptional upregulation of the chicken lysozyme locus involves CTCF eviction and noncoding RNA transcription. *Molecular cell* **32**:129-139.

Levy MA, Fernandes AD, Tremblay DC, Seah C and Bérubé NG (2008) The SWI/SNF protein ATRX co-regulates pseudoautosomal genes that have translocated to autosomes in the mouse genome. *BMC genomics* **9**:468.

Lewis PW, Elsaesser SJ, Noh KM, Stadler SC and Allis CD (2010) Daxx is an H3.3specific histone chaperone and cooperates with ATRX in replication-independent chromatin assembly at telomeres. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**:14075-14080.

Li Q, Wrange O and Eriksson P (1997) The role of chromatin in transcriptional regulation. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology* **29**:731-742.

Li T, Hu JF, Qiu X, Ling J, Chen H, Wang S, Hou A, Vu TH and Hoffman AR (2008) CTCF regulates allelic expression of Igf2 by orchestrating a promoter-polycomb repressive complex 2 intrachromosomal loop. *Molecular and cellular biology* **28**:6473-6482.

Liu XY, Gerges N, Korshunov A, Sabha N, Khuong-Quang DA, Fontebasso AM, Fleming A, Hadjadj D, Schwartzentruber J, Majewski J, Dong Z, Siegel P, Albrecht S, Croul S, Jones DT, Kool M, Tonjes M, Reifenberger G, Faury D, Zadeh G, Pfister S and Jabado N (2012) Frequent ATRX mutations and loss of expression in adult diffuse astrocytic tumors carrying IDH1/IDH2 and TP53 mutations. *Acta neuropathologica* **124**:615-625.

Lovejoy CA, Li W, Reisenweber S, Thongthip S, Bruno J, de Lange T, De S, Petrini JH, Sung PA, Jasin M, Rosenbluh J, Zwang Y, Weir BA, Hatton C, Ivanova E, Macconaill L, Hanna M, Hahn WC, Lue NF, Reddel RR, Jiao Y, Kinzler K, Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N and Meeker AK (2012) Loss of ATRX, genome instability, and an altered DNA damage response are hallmarks of the alternative lengthening of telomeres pathway. *PLoS genetics* **8**:e1002772.

Lui JC, Finkielstain GP, Barnes KM and Baron J (2008) An imprinted gene network that controls mammalian somatic growth is downregulated during postnatal growth deceleration in multiple organs. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **295**:R189-196.

Luikenhuis S, Giacometti E, Beard CF and Jaenisch R (2004) Expression of MeCP2 in postmitotic neurons rescues Rett syndrome in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **101**:6033-6038.

Mahajan MC, Karmakar S, Newburger PE, Krause DS and Weissman SM (2009) Dynamics of alpha-globin locus chromatin structure and gene expression during erythroid differentiation of human CD34(+) cells in culture. *Experimental hematology* **37**:1143-1156 e1143. Makedonski K, Abuhatzira L, Kaufman Y, Razin A and Shemer R (2005) MeCP2 deficiency in Rett syndrome causes epigenetic aberrations at the PWS/AS imprinting center that affects UBE3A expression. *Human molecular genetics* **14**:1049-1058.

Matsuura T, Sutcliffe JS, Fang P, Galjaard RJ, Jiang YH, Benton CS, Rommens JM and Beaudet AL (1997) De novo truncating mutations in E6-AP ubiquitin-protein ligase gene (UBE3A) in Angelman syndrome. *Nature genetics* **15**:74-77.

McCauley E, Kay T, Ito J and Treder R (1987) The Turner syndrome: cognitive deficits, affective discrimination, and behavior problems. *Child Dev* **58**:464-473.

Michaelis C, Ciosk R and Nasmyth K (1997) Cohesins: chromosomal proteins that prevent premature separation of sister chromatids. *Cell* **91**:35-45.

Miller NL, Wevrick R and Mellon PL (2009) Necdin, a Prader-Willi syndrome candidate gene, regulates gonadotropin-releasing hormone neurons during development. *Human molecular genetics* **18**:248-260.

Mitson M, Kelley LA, Sternberg MJ, Higgs DR and Gibbons RJ (2011) Functional significance of mutations in the Snf2 domain of ATRX. *Human molecular genetics* **20**:2603-2610.

Miyano M, Horike S, Cai S, Oshimura M and Kohwi-Shigematsu T (2008) DLX5 expression is monoallelic and Dlx5 is up-regulated in the Mecp2-null frontal cortex. *Journal of cellular and molecular medicine* **12**:1188-1191.

Morison IM, Ramsay JP and Spencer HG (2005) A census of mammalian imprinting. *Trends in genetics : TIG* **21**:457-465.

Moser SC and Swedlow JR (2011) How to be a mitotic chromosome. *Chromosome* research : an international journal on the molecular, supramolecular and evolutionary aspects of chromosome biology **19**:307-319.

MRC Harwell (2013) MRC Harwell: an international centre for mouse genetics.

Muchardt C and Yaniv M (1999) ATP-dependent chromatin remodelling: SWI/SNF and Co. are on the job. *Journal of molecular biology* **293**:187-198.

Mummert SK, Lobanenkov VA and Feinberg AP (2005) Association of chromosome arm 16q loss with loss of imprinting of insulin-like growth factor-II in Wilms tumor. *Genes, chromosomes & cancer* **43**:155-161.

Muscatelli F, Abrous DN, Massacrier A, Boccaccio I, Le Moal M, Cau P and Cremer H (2000) Disruption of the mouse Necdin gene results in hypothalamic and behavioral alterations reminiscent of the human Prader-Willi syndrome. *Human molecular genetics* **9**:3101-3110.

Nakagawa H, Chadwick RB, Peltomaki P, Plass C, Nakamura Y and de La Chapelle A (2001) Loss of imprinting of the insulin-like growth factor II gene occurs by biallelic methylation in a core region of H19-associated CTCF-binding sites in colorectal cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **98**:591-596.

Nakashima N, Yamagata T, Mori M, Kuwajima M, Suwa K and Momoi MY Expression analysis and mutation detection of DLX5 and DLX6 in autism. *Brain & development* **32**:98-104.

Nan X, Hou J, Maclean A, Nasir J, Lafuente MJ, Shu X, Kriaucionis S and Bird A (2007) Interaction between chromatin proteins MECP2 and ATRX is disrupted by mutations that cause inherited mental retardation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**:2709-2714.

Nativio R, Wendt KS, Ito Y, Huddleston JE, Uribe-Lewis S, Woodfine K, Krueger C, Reik W, Peters JM and Murrell A (2009) Cohesin is required for higher-order chromatin conformation at the imprinted IGF2-H19 locus. *PLoS genetics* **5**:e1000739.

Nguyen DN, Heaphy CM, de Wilde RF, Orr BA, Odia Y, Eberhart CG, Meeker AK and Rodriguez FJ (2013) Molecular and morphologic correlates of the alternative lengthening of telomeres phenotype in high-grade astrocytomas. *Brain Pathol* **23**:237-243.

Oda H, Kume H, Shimizu Y, Inoue T and Ishikawa T (1998) Loss of imprinting of igf2 in renal-cell carcinomas. *International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer* **75**:343-346.

Ohlsson R, Cui H, He L, Pfeifer S, Malmikumpu H, Jiang S, Feinberg AP and Hedborg F (1999) Mosaic allelic insulin-like growth factor 2 expression patterns reveal a link between Wilms' tumorigenesis and epigenetic heterogeneity. *Cancer research* **59**:3889-3892.

Palstra RJ, de Laat W and Grosveld F (2008a) Beta-globin regulation and long-range interactions. *Advances in genetics* **61**:107-142.

Palstra RJ, Simonis M, Klous P, Brasset E, Eijkelkamp B and de Laat W (2008b) Maintenance of long-range DNA interactions after inhibition of ongoing RNA polymerase II transcription. *PloS one* **3**:e1661.

Pederson T (2000) Half a century of "the nuclear matrix". *Molecular biology of the cell* **11**:799-805.

Picker JD, Yang R, Ricceri L and Berger-Sweeney J (2006) An altered neonatal behavioral phenotype in Mecp2 mutant mice. *Neuroreport* **17**:541-544.

Randhawa GS, Cui H, Barletta JA, Strichman-Almashanu LZ, Talpaz M, Kantarjian H, Deisseroth AB, Champlin RC and Feinberg AP (1998) Loss of imprinting in disease progression in chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Blood* **91**:3144-3147.

Remeseiro S and Losada A (2013) Cohesin, a chromatin engagement ring. *Current* opinion in cell biology **25**:63-71.

Ren J, Lee S, Pagliardini S, Gerard M, Stewart CL, Greer JJ and Wevrick R (2003) Absence of Ndn, encoding the Prader-Willi syndrome-deleted gene necdin, results in congenital deficiency of central respiratory drive in neonatal mice. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* **23**:1569-1573. Revenkova E, Focarelli ML, Susani L, Paulis M, Bassi MT, Mannini L, Frattini A, Delia D, Krantz I, Vezzoni P, Jessberger R and Musio A (2009) Cornelia de Lange syndrome mutations in SMC1A or SMC3 affect binding to DNA. *Human molecular genetics* **18**:418-427.

Rippe K, Schrader A, Riede P, Strohner R, Lehmann E and Langst G (2007) DNA sequence- and conformation-directed positioning of nucleosomes by chromatinremodeling complexes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**:15635-15640.

Ritchie K, Seah C, Moulin J, Isaac C, Dick F and Bérubé NG (2008) Loss of ATRX leads to chromosome cohesion and congression defects. *The Journal of cell biology* **180**:315-324.

Rubio ED, Reiss DJ, Welcsh PL, Disteche CM, Filippova GN, Baliga NS, Aebersold R,
Ranish JA and Krumm A (2008) CTCF physically links Cohesin to chromatin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*105:8309-8314.

Samaco RC, Hogart A and LaSalle JM (2005) Epigenetic overlap in autism-spectrum neurodevelopmental disorders: MECP2 deficiency causes reduced expression of UBE3A and GABRB3. *Human molecular genetics* **14**:483-492.

Sandhu KS, Shi C, Sjolinder M, Zhao Z, Gondor A, Liu L, Tiwari VK, Guibert S, Emilsson L, Imreh MP and Ohlsson R (2009) Nonallelic transvection of multiple imprinted loci is organized by the H19 imprinting control region during germline development. *Genes & development* **23**:2598-2603.

Schoenfelder S, Sexton T, Chakalova L, Cope NF, Horton A, Andrews S, Kurukuti S, Mitchell JA, Umlauf D, Dimitrova DS, Eskiw CH, Luo Y, Wei CL, Ruan Y, Bieker JJ and Fraser P (2010) Preferential associations between co-regulated genes reveal a transcriptional interactome in erythroid cells. *Nature genetics* **42**:53-61.

Schule B, Li HH, Fisch-Kohl C, Purmann C and Francke U (2007) DLX5 and DLX6 expression is biallelic and not modulated by MeCP2 deficiency. *American journal of human genetics* **81**:492-506.

Schwartzentruber J, Korshunov A, Liu XY, Jones DT, Pfaff E, Jacob K, Sturm D, Fontebasso AM, Quang DA, Tonjes M, Hovestadt V, Albrecht S, Kool M, Nantel A, Konermann C, Lindroth A, Jager N, Rausch T, Ryzhova M, Korbel JO, Hielscher T, Hauser P, Garami M, Klekner A, Bognar L, Ebinger M, Schuhmann MU, Scheurlen W, Pekrun A, Fruhwald MC, Roggendorf W, Kramm C, Durken M, Atkinson J, Lepage P, Montpetit A, Zakrzewska M, Zakrzewski K, Liberski PP, Dong Z, Siegel P, Kulozik AE, Zapatka M, Guha A, Malkin D, Felsberg J, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Ichimura K, Collins VP, Witt H, Milde T, Witt O, Zhang C, Castelo-Branco P, Lichter P, Faury D, Tabori U, Plass C, Majewski J, Pfister SM and Jabado N (2012) Driver mutations in histone H3.3 and chromatin remodelling genes in paediatric glioblastoma. *Nature* **482**:226-231.

Seah C, Levy MA, Jiang Y, Mokhtarzada S, Higgs DR, Gibbons RJ and Bérubé NG (2008) Neuronal death resulting from targeted disruption of the Snf2 protein ATRX is mediated by p53. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* **28**:12570-12580.

Seifart KH and Sekeris CE (1969) Alpha-amanitin, a specific inhibitor of transcription by mammalian RNA-polymerase. *Zeitschrift fur Naturforschung Teil B: Chemie, Biochemie, Biophysik, Biologie* **24**:1538-1544.

Shahbazian M, Young J, Yuva-Paylor L, Spencer C, Antalffy B, Noebels J, Armstrong D, Paylor R and Zoghbi H (2002) Mice with truncated MeCP2 recapitulate many Rett syndrome features and display hyperacetylation of histone H3. *Neuron* **35**:243-254.

Shahbazian MD and Zoghbi HY (2001) Molecular genetics of Rett syndrome and clinical spectrum of MECP2 mutations. *Current opinion in neurology* **14**:171-176.

Skene PJ, Illingworth RS, Webb S, Kerr AR, James KD, Turner DJ, Andrews R and Bird AP (2010) Neuronal MeCP2 is expressed at near histone-octamer levels and globally alters the chromatin state. *Molecular cell* **37**:457-468.

Skuse DH, James RS, Bishop DV, Coppin B, Dalton P, Aamodt-Leeper G, Bacarese-Hamilton M, Creswell C, McGurk R and Jacobs PA (1997) Evidence from Turner's syndrome of an imprinted X-linked locus affecting cognitive function. *Nature* **387**:705-708.

Spilianakis CG, Lalioti MD, Town T, Lee GR and Flavell RA (2005) Interchromosomal associations between alternatively expressed loci. *Nature* **435**:637-645.

Stadhouders R, van den Heuvel A, Kolovos P, Jorna R, Leslie K, Grosveld F and Soler E (2012) Transcription regulation by distal enhancers: who's in the loop? *Transcription* 3:181-186.

Stephens AD, Haggerty RA, Vasquez PA, Vicci L, Snider CE, Shi F, Quammen C, Mullins C, Haase J, Taylor RM, 2nd, Verdaasdonk JS, Falvo MR, Jin Y, Forest MG and Bloom K (2013) Pericentric chromatin loops function as a nonlinear spring in mitotic force balance. *The Journal of cell biology* **200**:757-772.

Stuhmer T, Anderson SA, Ekker M and Rubenstein JL (2002) Ectopic expression of the Dlx genes induces glutamic acid decarboxylase and Dlx expression. *Development* **129**:245-252.

Szabo P, Tang SH, Rentsendorj A, Pfeifer GP and Mann JR (2000) Maternal-specific footprints at putative CTCF sites in the H19 imprinting control region give evidence for insulator function. *Current biology : CB* **10**:607-610.

Takahashi T, Matsuzaki H, Tomizawa S, Okamura E, Ichiyanagi T, Fukamizu A, Sasaki H and Tanimoto K (2012) Sequences in the H19 ICR that are transcribed as small RNA in oocytes are dispensable for methylation imprinting in YAC transgenic mice. *Gene* **508**:26-34.

Travers AA, Vaillant C, Arneodo A and Muskhelishvili G (2012) DNA structure, nucleosome placement and chromatin remodelling: a perspective. *Biochemical Society transactions* **40**:335-340.

Tropea D, Giacometti E, Wilson NR, Beard C, McCurry C, Fu DD, Flannery R, Jaenisch R and Sur M (2009) Partial reversal of Rett Syndrome-like symptoms in MeCP2 mutant mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**:2029-2034.

Uhlmann F and Nasmyth K (1998) Cohesion between sister chromatids must be established during DNA replication. *Current biology : CB* **8**:1095-1101.

Urdinguio RG, Lopez-Serra L, Lopez-Nieva P, Alaminos M, Diaz-Uriarte R, Fernandez AF and Esteller M (2008) Mecp2-null mice provide new neuronal targets for Rett syndrome. *PloS one* **3**:e3669.

Uribe-Lewis S, Woodfine K, Stojic L and Murrell A (2011) Molecular mechanisms of genomic imprinting and clinical implications for cancer. *Expert reviews in molecular medicine* **13**:e2.

van Vugt JJ, de Jager M, Murawska M, Brehm A, van Noort J and Logie C (2009) Multiple aspects of ATP-dependent nucleosome translocation by RSC and Mi-2 are directed by the underlying DNA sequence. *PloS one* **4**:e6345.

Varrault A, Gueydan C, Delalbre A, Bellmann A, Houssami S, Aknin C, Severac D, Chotard L, Kahli M, Le Digarcher A, Pavlidis P and Journot L (2006) Zac1 regulates an imprinted gene network critically involved in the control of embryonic growth. *Developmental cell* **11**:711-722.

Vernimmen D, De Gobbi M, Sloane-Stanley JA, Wood WG and Higgs DR (2007) Longrange chromosomal interactions regulate the timing of the transition between poised and active gene expression. *The EMBO journal* **26**:2041-2051.

Vernimmen D, Marques-Kranc F, Sharpe JA, Sloane-Stanley JA, Wood WG, Wallace HA, Smith AJ and Higgs DR (2009) Chromosome looping at the human alpha-globin

locus is mediated via the major upstream regulatory element (HS -40). *Blood* **114**:4253-4260.

Wang L, Di LJ, Lv X, Zheng W, Xue Z, Guo ZC, Liu DP and Liang CC (2009) Inter-MAR association contributes to transcriptionally active looping events in human betaglobin gene cluster. *PloS one* **4**:e4629.

Weisbrod AB, Zhang L, Jain M, Barak S, Quezado MM and Kebebew E (2013) Altered PTEN, ATRX, CHGA, CHGB, and TP53 Expression Are Associated with Aggressive VHL-Associated Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Hormones & cancer*.

Weksberg R, Shuman C and Beckwith JB (2010) Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome. *European journal of human genetics : EJHG* **18**:8-14.

Wilkins JF and Ubeda F (2011) Diseases associated with genomic imprinting. *Progress in molecular biology and translational science* **101**:401-445.

Williams A, Spilianakis CG and Flavell RA (2010) Interchromosomal association and gene regulation in trans. *Trends in genetics : TIG* **26**:188-197.

Williams CA, Beaudet AL, Clayton-Smith J, Knoll JH, Kyllerman M, Laan LA, Magenis RE, Moncla A, Schinzel AA, Summers JA and Wagstaff J (2006) Angelman syndrome 2005: updated consensus for diagnostic criteria. *American journal of medical genetics Part A* **140**:413-418.

Wong LH, McGhie JD, Sim M, Anderson MA, Ahn S, Hannan RD, George AJ, Morgan KA, Mann JR and Choo KH (2010) ATRX interacts with H3.3 in maintaining telomere structural integrity in pluripotent embryonic stem cells. *Genome research* **20**:351-360.

Xue Y, Gibbons R, Yan Z, Yang D, McDowell TL, Sechi S, Qin J, Zhou S, Higgs D and Wang W (2003) The ATRX syndrome protein forms a chromatin-remodeling complex with Daxx and localizes in promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **100**:10635-10640.

Yamaguchi Y, Takagi T, Wada T, Yano K, Furuya A, Sugimoto S, Hasegawa J and Handa H (1999) NELF, a multisubunit complex containing RD, cooperates with DSIF to repress RNA polymerase II elongation. *Cell* **97**:41-51.

Yasui D, Miyano M, Cai S, Varga-Weisz P and Kohwi-Shigematsu T (2002) SATB1 targets chromatin remodelling to regulate genes over long distances. *Nature* **419**:641-645.

Yasui DH, Peddada S, Bieda MC, Vallero RO, Hogart A, Nagarajan RP, Thatcher KN, Farnham PJ and Lasalle JM (2007) Integrated epigenomic analyses of neuronal MeCP2 reveal a role for long-range interaction with active genes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**:19416-19421.

Zhao Z, Tavoosidana G, Sjolinder M, Gondor A, Mariano P, Wang S, Kanduri C, Lezcano M, Sandhu KS, Singh U, Pant V, Tiwari V, Kurukuti S and Ohlsson R (2006) Circular chromosome conformation capture (4C) uncovers extensive networks of epigenetically regulated intra- and interchromosomal interactions. *Nature genetics* **38**:1341-1347.

Zhou GL, Xin L, Song W, Di LJ, Liu G, Wu XS, Liu DP and Liang CC (2006) Active chromatin hub of the mouse alpha-globin locus forms in a transcription factory of clustered housekeeping genes. *Molecular and cellular biology* **26**:5096-5105.

## **Appendices**

## Appendix A: Statement of permission for the reproduction of copyrighted material from Expert Review Ltd.

Some material in Chapter 1 was excerpted from a review article published in

Epigenomics: Kernohan KD and Bérubé NG (2010) Genetic and epigenetic dysregulation of imprinted genes in the brain. *Epigenomics* 2: 743-763.

800 Commissioners Rd East, CHRI, 4th floor VRL, London, ON, N5C2V5



#### Permission to use Expert Reviews Ltd copyright material

#### Request from:

- Contact name:
- Publisher/company name:
- Address:
- Telephone/e-mail:

#### Request details:

Request to use the following content: Author - Full Text - Epigenomics, December 2010, Vol. 2, No. 6, Pages 743-763

Kristin Denise Kernohan

University of Western Ontario

- In the following publication: The
- In what media (print/electronic/print & electronic): Print and Electronic
- In the following languages: A

#### We, Expert Reviews Ltd, grant permission to reuse the material specified above within the publication specified above.

#### Notes and conditions:

- 1. This permission is granted free of charge, for one-time use only.
- 2. Expert Reviews Ltd grant the publisher non-exclusive world rights to publish the content in the publication/website specified above.
- Expert Reviews Ltd retains copyright ownership of the content.
   Permission is granted on a one-time basis only. Separate permission is required for any further use or edition.
- 5. The publisher will make due acknowledgement of the original publication wherever they republish the content: citing the author, content title, publication name and Expert Reviews Ltd as the original publisher.
- 6. The publisher will not amend, abridge, or otherwise change the content without authorization from Expert Reviews Ltd.
- 7. Permission does not include any copyrighted material from other sources that may be incorporated within the content.
- 8. Failure to comply with the conditions above will result in immediate revocation of the permission here granted.

Date: 18/12/2012

## Appendix B: Statement of permission for the reproduction of copyrighted material from John Wiley and Sons Ltd.

Figure 1-1 was reproduced with permission from a review in Human Mutation:

Gibbons RJ, Wada T, Fisher CA, Malik N, Mitson MJ, Steensma DP, Fryer A, Goudie DR, Krantz ID and Traeger-Synodinos J (2008) Mutation in the chromatin-associated protein ATRX. *Human mutation* **29**:796-802.

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Mar 04, 2013

This is a License Agreement between Kristin Kernohan ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons, and the payment terms and conditions.

## All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3101981185436
License date	Mar 04, 2013
Licensed content publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed content publication	Human Mutation
Licensed content title	Mutations in the chromatin-associated protein ATRX
Licensed copyright line	© 2008 Wiley-Liss, Inc.
Licensed content author	Richard J. Gibbons, Takahito Wada, Christopher A. Fisher, Nicola Malik, Matthew J. Mitson, David P. Steensma, Alan Fryer, David R. Goudie, Jan D. Krantz, Joanne Traeger-Synodinos
Licensed content date	Apr 11, 2008
Start page	796
End page	802
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	University/Academic
Format	Print and electronic
Portion	Figure/table
Number of figures/tables	1
Number of extracts	
Original Wiley figure/table number(s)	Figure 1
Will you be translating?	No
Order reference number	
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

#### TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a "Wiley Company") or a society for whom a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular journal (collectively WILEY"). By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and

## Appendix C: Statement of permission for the reproduction of copyrighted material from Elsevier

Chapter 2 is reproduced from a manuscript in Developmental Cell:

Kernohan KD, Jiang Y, Tremblay DC, Bonvissuto AC, Eubanks JH, Mann MR and

Bérubé NG (2010) ATRX partners with Cohesin and MeCP2 and contributes to

developmental silencing of imprinted genes in the brain. Developmental cell 18:191-202

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Apr 24, 2013

This is a License Agreement between Kristin Kernohan ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions. All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form. Supplier Elsevier Limited The Boulevard, Langford Lane Kidlington, Oxford, OX5 1GB, UK 1982084 Registered Company Number Customer name Kristin Kernohan Customer address 3135350545227 License number License date Apr 24, 2013 Licensed content publisher Elsevier Licensed content publication Developmental Cell Licensed content title ATRX Partners with Cohesin and MeCP2 and Contributes to Developmental Silencing of Imprinted Genes in the Brain Licensed content author Kristin D. Kernohan, Yan Jiang, Deanna C. Tremblay, Anne C. Bonvissuto, James H. Eubanks, Mellissa R.W. Mann, Nathalie G. Bérubé Licensed content date 16 February 2010 Licensed content volume 18 number Licensed content issue 2 number Number of pages 12 Start Page 191 End Page 202 Type of Use reuse in a thesis/dissertation Portion full article Format both print and electronic Are you the author of this Yes Elsevier article? Will you be translating? No Order reference number
## Appendix D: Preliminary 4C data supporting a role for ATRX and MeCP2 in the control chromatin looping at the *Gtl2/Dlk1* imprinted domain

4C interaction profile of the Gtl2 DMR in neonatal control,  $Atrx^{null}$  and  $MeCP2^{null}$  forebrains demonstrates that the Gtl2 DMR makes many contacts stretching from upstream of Gtl2 to downstream of the microRNA cluster. These interactions are dependent on the presence of ATRX (A) and MeCP2(B).



# Appendix E: Statement of permission for the use of animals for experimental research

All animal experimentation was conducted in compliance with the animal use protocol 2008-041-02 held by Dr. Nathalie Bérubé, principal investigator at the Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry and the department of Paediatrics at the University of Western Ontario in London, Ontario, Canada.

### Kristin D. Kernohan

#### Education

PhD Candidate, Western University (Formerly University of Western Ontario) September 2007-Present

- Thesis title: Regulation of imprinted genes in the brain by the ATRX chromatin remodeling protein
- Supervisor: Dr. Nathalie G. Bérubé

Honours Bachelor of Science, Genetics, *with distinction*, Western University September 2003 - April 2007

- Honours thesis title: Analysis of the endoplasmic reticulum stress response in *Mist1* null mutant during pancreatitis
- Supervisor: Dr. Christopher L. Pin

#### **Academic Awards and Funding**

NSERC Canada Graduate Scholarship (CGS), PhD	2010 - 2013
Drs Madge and Charles Macklin Fellowship for Publication	2010 - 2011
Ontario Graduate Scholarship, PhD (declined)	2010 - 2011
International Rett Syndrome Symposium Graduate Student Award	2010
Western Graduate Thesis Award	2010
Ontario Graduate Scholarship, PhD	2009 - 2010
Curtis Cadman Graduate Studentship	2009 - 2010
NSERC CGS Michael Smith Foreign Study Supplements Program	2009
Western Graduate Thesis Award	2009
NSERC Canada Graduate Scholarship (CGS), MSc	2008 - 2009
Western Graduate Thesis Award	2008 - 2009
Paediatrics Graduate Scholarship, Children's Health Research Institute (CHRI)	2007 - 2008
Western Graduate Research Scholarship	2007 - 2012
Schulich Medicine and Dentistry Research Scholarship	2007 - 2012
CHRI Paediatrics Summer Scholarship	2007
Harvey F. Sullivan Scholarship - London Health Sciences Centre	2004 - 2005

#### **Publications**

Kernohan, KD and Bérubé, NG, Genetic and epigenetic dysregulation of imprinted genes in the brain. *Published Invited Review, Epigenomics* (2010), Volume 2(6), 743–763.

Fazio, EN, DiMattia, GE, Chadi, SA, **Kernohan, KD**, Pin, CL, Constitutive Stanniocalcin 2 expression alters PERK signalling and reduces cellular injury during cerulean induced pancreatitis in mice. *Published, BMC Cell Biol.* (2011), Volume 12(1):17.

**Kernohan, KD,** Jiang, Y, Tremblay, DC, Bonvissuto, A, Eubanks, JH, Mann, MRW, Bérubé, NG, ATRX partners with cohesin and MeCP2 and contributes to developmental silencing of imprinted genes in the brain. *Published, Developmental Cell* (2010), Volume 18, Issue 2, p 191-202.

\*Highlighted in:

- Muers, M, Chromatin on the brain. Nature Reviews Genetics (2010).
- Muers, M, Chromatin on the brain. Nature Reviews Genetics Neuroscience (2010).
- Cunningham, MD. et al., Chromatin modifiers, cognitive disorders and imprinted genes. *Developmental Cell*. (2010), Volume 18, Issue 2, p 169-170.

#### **Published Abstracts**

**Kernohan KD**, Jiang, Y, and Bérubé, NG, ATRX regulates *H19/Igf2* expression through the control of higher order chromatin architecture in the neonatal brain. *Abstract*, Keystone Symposia on Epigenomics and Chromatin Dynamics, Keystone, Colorado, January 17-22, 2012.

**Kernohan KD,** Jiang, Y, and Bérubé, NG, Chromatin architecture at the *H19* imprinted domain. *Abstract*, 1<sup>st</sup> Canadian Conference on Epigenetics, London, Ontario, May 4-7, 2011.

**Kernohan, KD,** Jiang, Y, Tremblay, DC, Bonvissuto, A, Eubanks, JH, Mann, MRW, Bérubé, NG, ATRX partners with cohesin and MeCP2 and contributes to developmental silencing of imprinted genes in the brain. *Abstract*, 11<sup>th</sup> Annual International Rett Syndrome Foundation Symposium, Leesburg, Virginia, June 27-29, 2010. *Awarded best graduate student research*.

**Kernohan, KD**, Tremblay, DC, Jiang, Y, Mann, MRW, Bérubé, NG, The ATRX chromatin regulator interacts with cohesin and confers methylation-independent control of *H19* gene expression in the mouse forebrain. *Abstract*, Keystone Symposia: Epigenetics, Development and Human Disease, Breckenridge, Colorado, January 4-10, 2009.

Close TE, Rose K L, **Kernohan KD**, Bérubé NG, Summers KL, Rieder MJ, Fraser D, Diabetic ketoacidosis in mice elicits a unique cytokine response between serum and brain. *Abstract*, 9th International Congress of Neuroimmunology, Fort Worth, Texas, October 29, 2008.

#### **Invited International Presentations**

Childhood disorders of chromatin dysfunction: Evidence for linked molecular pathways in imprinting control. *Invited Oral Presentation*, Texas A&M University, Developmental Biology Series, March 26, 2010. (Host: Dr. Michael Golding)

#### **Presentations (\*denotes presenter)**

**Kernohan KD**\*, Jiang, Y, and Bérubé, NG, ATRX regulates *H19/Igf2* expression through the control of higher order chromatin architecture in the neonatal brain:

- Oral Presentation: Developmental Biology Research Day, London, Ontario, May 24, 2012.
- Poster presentation: London Health Research Day, London, Ontario, March 20, 2012. Awarded best graduate student poster
- Poster presentation: CHRI Paediatrics Research Day, London, Ontario, May 16, 2012.
- Poster presentation: Keystone Symposia on Epigenomics and Chromatin Dynamics, Keystone, Colorado, January 17-22, 2012.

Kernohan KD\*, Jiang, Y, and Bérubé, NG, Chromatin architecture at the H19 imprinted domain:

- Poster presentation: 1<sup>st</sup> Canadian Conference on Epigenetics, London, Ontario, May 4-7, 2011.
- Oral presentation: CHRI Paediatrics Research Day, London, Ontario, May 26, 2011. Awarded best senior graduate student presentation.

**Kernohan, KD**\*, Jiang, Y, Tremblay, DC, Bonvissuto, A, Eubanks, JH, Mann, MRW, Bérubé, NG, ATRX partners with cohesin and MeCP2 and contributes to developmental silencing of imprinted genes in the brain:

- Oral Presentation: Developmental Biology Research Day, London, Ontario, May 27, 2010.
- Poster Presentation: 11<sup>th</sup> Annual International Rett Syndrome Foundation Symposium, Leesburg, Virginia, June 27-29, 2010. Awarded best graduate student research
- Poster presentation: CHRI Paediatrics Research Day, London, Ontario, May 27, 2010. Awarded best graduate

#### student poster

Poster presentation: Lawson Research Day, London, Ontario, March 26, 2010. Awarded best graduate student poster

**Kernohan, KD**\*, Tremblay, DC, Jiang, Y, and Bérubé, NG, Molecular analysis of imprinted genes in the ATRXdeficient forebrain. Oral Presentation: CHRI Paediatrics Research Day, London, Ontario, June 18, 2009.

**Kernohan, KD**\*, Tremblay, DC, Jiang, Y, Mann, MRW, Bérubé, NG, The ATRX chromatin regulator interacts with cohesin and confers methylation-independent control of *H19* gene expression in the mouse forebrain. Poster presentation: Keystone Symposia: Epigenetics, Development and Human Disease, Breckenridge, Colorado, January 4-10, 2009.

**Kernohan, KD**\*, Tremblay, DC, Jiang, Y, Mann, MRW, Bérubé, NG, Molecular analysis of imprinted genes in the ATRX-deficient forebrain:

- Poster presentation: Margaret Moffatt Research Day, London, Ontario, March 26, 2009.
- Poster presentation: Lawson Research Day, London, Ontario, May 26, 2008.
- Poster presentation: CHRI Paediatrics Research Day, London, Ontario, May 21, 2008.
- Poster presentation: Margaret Moffatt Research Day, London, Ontario, May 20, 2008. Awarded best graduate student poster

#### **Professional Activities and Supervisory Experience**

Studen	nt Representative, Developmental Biology Program Steering Committee	2010 - present
• Ir	nvolved in student admissions, planning program initiatives and directions and organizing socia	l and academic
e	events.	

Supervisor, Undergraduate Honours Projects (3 students)
Assisted with project planning and conducting experiments. Edited research reports and presentations.

Student Representative, Developmental Biology Research Day Organizing Committee2010Involved in event organization and speaker selection.2010